
 
 

v1 2015 

AGENDA   
 

Meeting Police and Crime Committee 

Date Thursday 8 September 2016 

Time 10.00 am 

Place Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 
Walk, London, SE1 2AA 

Copies of the reports and any attachments may be found at  
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/police-and-crime-committee  
 
Most meetings of the London Assembly and its Committees are webcast live at 
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts where you can also view past 
meetings. 
 
Members of the Committee 
Steve O'Connell AM (Chairman) 
Unmesh Desai AM (Deputy Chair) 
Kemi Badenoch AM 
Sian Berry AM 
Andrew Dismore AM 

Len Duvall AM 
Florence Eshalomi AM 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM 
Keith Prince AM 
Peter Whittle AM 

 

A meeting of the Committee has been called by the Chairman of the Committee to deal with the 

business listed below.  

Mark Roberts, Executive Director of Secretariat 
Wednesday 31 August 2016 

 
Further Information 
If you have questions, would like further information about the meeting or require special facilities 
please contact: Joanna Brown or Teresa Young; Telephone: 020 7983 6559;  
Email: joanna.brown@london.gov.uk/teresa.young@london.gov.uk; Minicom: 020 7983 4458 
 
For media enquiries please contact Mary Dolan, External Relations Officer on 020 7983 4603.   
Email: mary.dolan@london.gov.uk.  If you have any questions about individual items please contact 
the author whose details are at the end of the report.  
 
This meeting will be open to the public, except for where exempt information is being discussed as 
noted on the agenda.  A guide for the press and public on attending and reporting meetings of local 
government bodies, including the use of film, photography, social media and other means is available 
at www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf.  
 
There is access for disabled people, and induction loops are available.  There is limited underground 
parking for orange and blue badge holders, which will be allocated on a first-come first-served basis.  
Please contact Facilities Management on 020 7983 4750 in advance if you require a parking space or 
further information. 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/police-and-crime-committee
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts
mailto:mary.dolan@london.gov.uk
http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf


 

 
Certificate Number: FS 80233 

If you, or someone you know, needs a copy of the agenda, minutes or reports 
in large print or Braille, audio, or in another language, then please call us on 
020 7983 4100 or email assembly.translations@london.gov.uk.   
 

 
 

mailto:assembly.translations@london.gov.uk


 

3 
 

Agenda 
Police and Crime Committee 
Thursday 8 September 2016 
 
 

1 Apologies for Absence and Chairman's Announcements  
 
 To receive any apologies for absence and any announcements from the Chairman. 

 
 

2 Declarations of Interests (Pages 1 - 4) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact:  Joanna Brown, joanna.brown@london.gov.uk and Teresa Young, 

teresa.young@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 6559 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 

(a) Note the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, as disclosable pecuniary interests; 

 

(b) Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests 

in specific items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the 

Member(s) regarding withdrawal following such declaration(s); and 

 

(c) Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be 

relevant (including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received 

which are not at the time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register 

of gifts and hospitality, and noting also the advice from the GLA’s 

Monitoring Officer set out at Agenda Item 2) and to note any necessary 

action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s). 
 
 

3 Minutes (Pages 5 - 92) 

 
 The Committee is recommended to confirm the minutes of the meetings of the 

Police and Crime Committee held on 14 July 2016 and 19 July 2016 to be signed by 

the Chairman as correct records. 
 

 The appendices to the minutes set out on pages 9 to 46 and pages 53 to 92 are attached for 

Members and officers only but are available from the following area of the GLA’s website: 

www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/police-and-crime-committee 
 
 

  
 
 

mailto:joanna.brown@london.gov.uk
mailto:teresa.young@london.gov.uk
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/police-and-crime-committee


 

4 
 

4 Summary List of Actions (Pages 93 - 104) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Joanna Brown, Joanna.brown@london.gov.uk and Teresa Young, 

teresa.young@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 6559 

 

The Committee is recommended to note the ongoing and completed actions arising 

from previous meetings of the Committee, as listed in the report. 
 
 

5 Action Taken Under Delegated Authority (Pages 105 - 116) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Joanna Brown, Joanna.brown@london.gov.uk and Teresa Young, 

teresa.young@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 6559 

 

The Committee is recommended to note: 

 

(a) The recent action taken by the Chairman, Steve O’Connell AM, under 

delegated authority, following consultation with the party Group Lead 

Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, namely: 

 

(i) To write to Westminster City Council expressing the Committee’s 

concern at the City Council’s decision to stop monitoring its CCTV 

cameras from September 2016, as set out in the letter attached at 

Appendix 1 to the report and to also note the letter to the 

Commissioner of policing of the Metropolis, attached at Appendix 3 to 

the report; 

 

(ii)  To agree the scope for the Committee’s discussion on Violence Against 

Women and Girls; and 

 

(ii) To agree the arrangements for the Committee’s visit to the 

Metropolitan Police Services’ Specialist Training Centre at Gravesend to 

observe public order training on 16 September 2016. 

 

(b) The responses from Westminster City Council and the Metropolitan Police 

Service to the Chairman’s letters regarding CCTV, attached at Appendices 2 

and 4 respectively to the report. 
 
 

  
 
 

mailto:Joanna.brown@london.gov.uk
mailto:teresa.young@london.gov.uk
mailto:Joanna.brown@london.gov.uk
mailto:teresa.young@london.gov.uk


 

5 
 

6 Response to the Committee's Report, Crime on Public Transport (Pages 

117 - 124) 
 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Joanna Brown, Joanna.brown@london.gov.uk and Teresa Young, 

teresa.young@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 6559 
 

The Committee is recommended to note the response from the Mayor and Transport 

for London (TfL) to its report, Crime on Public Transport. 
 
 

7 Violence Against Women and Girls (Pages 125 - 128) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Janette Roker, janette.roker@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 6562 

 

The Committee is recommended to note the report as background to putting 

questions to invited guests on violence against women and girls, and to note the 

discussion. 
 
 

8 Police and Crime Committee Work Programme (Pages 129 - 132) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Becky Short, becky.short@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 4760 

 

The Committee is recommended to agree its updated work programme, as set out at 

paragraphs 4.2 to 4.4 of the report. 
 
 

9 Date of Next Meeting  
 
 The next meeting of the Committee is scheduled for Thursday 22 September 2016 at 10.00 

am in the Chamber, City Hall. 
 
 

10 Any Other Business the Chairman Considers Urgent  
 
 
 

mailto:Joanna.brown@london.gov.uk
mailto:teresa.young@london.gov.uk
mailto:janette.roker@london.gov.uk
mailto:becky.short@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk  v2/2016 

 

Subject: Declarations of Interests 
 

Report to: Police and Crime Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date:  8 September 2016 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 
 
 
1. Summary  

 
1.1 This report sets out details of offices held by Assembly Members for noting as disclosable pecuniary 

interests and requires additional relevant declarations relating to disclosable pecuniary interests, and 

gifts and hospitality to be made. 

 
 
2. Recommendations  
 

2.1 That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table below, be noted 

as disclosable pecuniary interests1; 

2.2 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests in specific 

items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the Member(s) regarding 

withdrawal following such declaration(s) be noted; and 

2.3 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be relevant 

(including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received which are not at the 

time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register of gifts and hospitality, and 

noting also the advice from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer set out at below) and any 

necessary action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s) be noted. 

 
3. Issues for Consideration  
 
3.1 Relevant offices held by Assembly Members are listed in the table overleaf: 

  

                                                 
1 The Monitoring Officer advises that: Paragraph 10 of the Code of Conduct will only preclude a Member from 
participating in any matter to be considered or being considered at, for example, a meeting of the Assembly, 
where the Member has a direct Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in that particular matter. The effect of this is 
that the ‘matter to be considered, or being considered’ must be about the Member’s interest. So, by way of 
example, if an Assembly Member is also a councillor of London Borough X, that Assembly Member will be 
precluded from participating in an Assembly meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about the 
Member’s role / employment as a councillor of London Borough X; the Member will not be precluded from 
participating in a meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about an activity or decision of London 
Borough X. 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



        

 

Member Interest 

Tony Arbour AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Richmond 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM Committee of the Regions  

Gareth Bacon AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Bexley 

Kemi Badenoch AM  

Shaun Bailey AM  

Sian Berry AM Member, LB Camden 

Andrew Boff AM Congress of Local and Regional Authorities (Council of 
Europe) 

Leonie Cooper AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Wandsworth 

Tom Copley AM  

Unmesh Desai AM Member, LB Newham 

Tony Devenish AM Member, City of Westminster 

Andrew Dismore AM Member, LFEPA 

Len Duvall AM  

Florence Eshalomi AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Lambeth 

Nicky Gavron AM  

David Kurten AM Member, LFEPA 

Joanne McCartney AM Deputy Mayor 

Steve O’Connell AM Member, LB Croydon  

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM  

Keith Prince AM Member, LB Redbridge 

Caroline Russell AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Islington 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM  

Navin Shah AM  

Fiona Twycross AM Chair, LFEPA; Chair of the London Local Resilience Forum 

Peter Whittle AM  
 

[Note: LB - London Borough; LFEPA - London Fire and Emergency Planning Authority.   
The appointments to LFEPA reflected above take effect as from 17 June 2016.] 

 
3.2 Paragraph 10 of the GLA’s Code of Conduct, which reflects the relevant provisions of the Localism 

Act 2011, provides that:  
 

- where an Assembly Member has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be considered 
or being considered or at  

 

(i) a meeting of the Assembly and any of its committees or sub-committees; or  
 

(ii) any formal meeting held by the Mayor in connection with the exercise of the Authority’s 
functions  

 

- they must disclose that interest to the meeting (or, if it is a sensitive interest, disclose the fact 
that they have a sensitive interest to the meeting); and  

 

- must not (i) participate, or participate any further, in any discussion of the matter at the 
meeting; or (ii) participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at the meeting 

 

UNLESS 
 

- they have obtained a dispensation from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer (in accordance with 
section 2 of the Procedure for registration and declarations of interests, gifts and hospitality – 
Appendix 5 to the Code).    

 

3.3 Failure to comply with the above requirements, without reasonable excuse, is a criminal offence; as is 

knowingly or recklessly providing information about your interests that is false or misleading. 

Page 2



        

3.4 In addition, the Monitoring Officer has advised Assembly Members to continue to apply the test that 

was previously applied to help determine whether a pecuniary / prejudicial interest was arising - 

namely, that Members rely on a reasonable estimation of whether a member of the public, with 

knowledge of the relevant facts, could, with justification, regard the matter as so significant that it 

would be likely to prejudice the Member’s judgement of the public interest.  

3.5 Members should then exercise their judgement as to whether or not, in view of their interests and 

the interests of others close to them, they should participate in any given discussions and/or 

decisions business of within and by the GLA. It remains the responsibility of individual Members to 

make further declarations about their actual or apparent interests at formal meetings noting also 

that a Member’s failure to disclose relevant interest(s) has become a potential criminal offence. 

3.6 Members are also required, where considering a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person 

from whom they have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25 within the 

previous three years or from the date of election to the London Assembly, whichever is the later, to 

disclose the existence and nature of that interest at any meeting of the Authority which they attend 

at which that business is considered.  

3.7 The obligation to declare any gift or hospitality at a meeting is discharged, subject to the proviso set 

out below, by registering gifts and hospitality received on the Authority’s on-line database. The on-

line database may be viewed here:  

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/gifts-and-hospitality.  

3.8 If any gift or hospitality received by a Member is not set out on the on-line database at the time of 

the meeting, and under consideration is a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person from 

whom a Member has received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25, Members 

are asked to disclose these at the meeting, either at the declarations of interest agenda item or when 

the interest becomes apparent.  

3.9 It is for Members to decide, in light of the particular circumstances, whether their receipt of a gift or 

hospitality, could, on a reasonable estimation of a member of the public with knowledge of the 

relevant facts, with justification, be regarded as so significant that it would be likely to prejudice the 

Member’s judgement of the public interest. Where receipt of a gift or hospitality could be so 

regarded, the Member must exercise their judgement as to whether or not, they should participate in 

any given discussions and/or decisions business of within and by the GLA. 

 

4. Legal Implications 
 

4.1 The legal implications are as set out in the body of this report. 

 
5. Financial Implications 
 

5.1 There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

Contact Officer: Joanna Brown and Teresa Young, Senior Committee Officers 

Telephone: 020 7983 6559 

E-mail: joanna.brown@london.gov.uk and teresa.young@london.gov.uk  

 

Page 3

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/gifts-and-hospitality
mailto:joanna.brown@london.gov.uk
mailto:teresa.young@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

MINUTES  
 

Meeting: Police and Crime Committee 
Date: Thursday 14 July 2016 
Time: 10.00 am 
Place: Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 

Walk, London, SE1 2AA 
 
Copies of the minutes may be found at:  
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/police-and-crime-committee 

  

 
Present: 
 
Steve O'Connell AM (Chairman) 
Unmesh Desai AM (Deputy Chair) 
Sian Berry AM 
Andrew Dismore AM 
Len Duvall AM 
Florence Eshalomi AM 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM 
Keith Prince AM 
 
 

1   Apologies for Absence and Chairman's Announcements (Item 1) 

 

1.1 Apologies for absence were received from Kemi Badenoch AM and Peter Whittle AM. 

 
 
2   Declarations of Interests (Item 2) 

 

2.1 Resolved: 

 

That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, be noted as disclosable pecuniary interests.  

 
 
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/police-and-crime-committee


Greater London Authority 
Police and Crime Committee 

Thursday 14 July 2016 

 

 
 

 

3   Minutes (Item 3) 

 

3.1 Resolved: 

 

That the minutes of the Police and Crime Committee meeting held on 29 June 2016 

be signed by the Chairman as a correct record. 

 
 
4   Summary List of Actions (Item 4) 

 

4.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

4.2 Resolved: 
 

That the ongoing and completed actions arising from the previous meetings of the 

Committee, as listed in the report, be noted. 

 
 
5   Action Taken Under Delegated Authority (Item 5) 

 

5.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

5.2 Resolved: 
 

That the recent actions taken by the Chairman, Steve O’Connell AM, under 

delegated authority, following consultation with the party Group Lead Members  

and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, namely to agree the scope for the Committee’s 

meeting on 14 July 2016 on serious youth violence, be noted. 

 
 
6   Serious Youth Violence (Item 6) 

 

6.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat, as background to 

putting questions to invited guests on serious youth violence. 

 

6.2 The Chairman welcomed the following guests to the meeting: 

 Commander Duncan Ball, Specialist Crime & Operations – Gangs & Organised Crime, 

Metropolitan Police Service (MPS); 

 Chief Superintendent Dave Stringer, Borough Commander for Sutton, MPS; 

 Graham Robb, Youth Justice and Education Consultant; 

 Matt Watson, Service Manager, Integrated Gangs Unit, City of Westminster; and 

Page 6



Greater London Authority 
Police and Crime Committee 

Thursday 14 July 2016 

 

 
 

 

 John Poyton, Chief Executive, Redthread. 

 

6.3 A transcript of the discussion is attached at Appendix 1. 

 

6.4 During the course of the discussion, Commander Ball (MPS) agreed to provide: 

 Clarification about the number and proportion of females committing serious youth 

violence; 

 A summary of the recent and current operations to tackle serious youth violence and 

how those operations were being evaluated; and 

 The impact of the MPS’s seizure of weapons relating to serious youth violence and 

sanction detection rates. 

 

6.5 During the course of the discussion, Graham Robb (Youth Justice and Education Consultant) 

undertook to provide information about a victim of knife crime who was going through the 

restorative justice process. 

6.6 During the course of the discussion, John Poyton (Chief Executive, Redthread) undertook to 

provide the Committee with an estimate of how much it would cost to rollout Redthread’s 

Accident and Emergency violence intervention programme to all the hospitals in London that 

had an Accident and Emergency department. 

6.7 The Chairman stated that he would write to the guests to seek their views in respect of the 
following: 

 How effective they considered that restorative justice was for more serious types of 

crime and how well that method was used in London; 

 The factors in childhood which might lead some young people to become perpetrators 

of serious youth violence and the reasons why other young people who may have 

experienced similar upbringings would not become involved in violence; and 

 The impact of alcohol on serious youth violence. 

 

6.8 At the end of the discussion, the Chairman thanked the guests for their attendance and very 

helpful contributions. 

 

6.9 Resolved: 

 

(a) That the report and discussion be noted. 

 

(b) That the Chair writes to guests requesting the follow-up information as 

outlined in paragraphs 6.4 to 6.7 above. 
 
 
 

Page 7



Greater London Authority 
Police and Crime Committee 

Thursday 14 July 2016 

 

 
 

 

(c) That authority be delegated to the Chairman, in consultation with party 

Group Lead Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM to agree any output 

arising from the Committee’s discussion on serious youth violence. 

 
 
7   Police and Crime Committee Work Programme (Item 7) 

 

7.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

7.2 Resolved: 

 

(a) That the work programme as set out in the report be noted; and 

 

(b) That authority be delegated to the Chairman, in consultation with the party 

Group Lead Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, to agree the scope for 

the Committee’s meeting on 8 September 2016 on violence against women 

and girls. 

 
 
8   Date of Next Meeting (Item 8) 

 

8.1 The date of the next meeting was scheduled for Tuesday, 19 July 2016 at 10am in the 

Chamber, City Hall. 

 
 
9   Any Other Business the Chairman Considers Urgent (Item 9) 

 

9.1 There was no other business the Chairman considered urgent. 

 
 
10   Close of Meeting  

 

10.1 The meeting ended at 12.30pm. 

 
 
 
 
    

Chairman  Date 
 
Contact Officer: Joanna Brown or Teresa Young; Telephone: 020 7983 6559;  

Email: joanna.brown@london.gov.uk/teresa.young@london.gov.uk;  
Minicom: 020 7983 4458 

 

Page 8



 

 
 

Appendix 1 
 

Police and Crime Committee – 14 July 2016 
 

Transcript of Agenda Item 6 – Serious Youth Violence 

 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  Can I welcome our guests to City Hall?  You have all been here before.  It 

is great to see some old faces and old friends this morning.  I welcome very much Commander Duncan Ball, 

Specialist Crime and Operations and lead on Gangs [Metropolitan Police Service (MPS)], Chief Superintendent 

Dave Stringer, Borough Commander for Sutton,  MPS, Matt Watson, Service Manager, Integrated Gangs Unit, 

City of Westminster, but also works in the tri-boroughs operation, Graham Robb, Youth Justice and Education 

Consultant, and John Poyton, Chief Executive, Redthread. 

 

John, you will be very pleased - and it shows how closely we work with the Mayor - that the Mayor visited 

Redthread yesterday and made some announcements around investment, which we welcome very much; I think 

around £400,000 for gang prevention and serious youth violence prevention, which is good.  He also 

announced a knife crime summit, which is to be held in October 2016, to explore the impact of knife crime and 

the way that young people could be diverted away from youth violence, and we show an interest in that in this 

Committee. 

 

On the same subject, there has been a parliamentary group - a Youth Violence Commission - that has been 

announced with six MPs to explore the root causes of youth violence. One of those members was our very own 

James Cleverly MP [former London Assembly Member and Member of Parliament for Braintree].  There is a lot 

going on in this particular field which I think reflects the importance of the subject. 

 

We are going to split the morning into around above five different sections on the subject.  We will be taking 

questions and answers accordingly around those.  We are going to try to get a better understanding of the 

data and the problem in itself.  We are going to be looking at the drivers of serious youth violence.  We will 

then move to disruption enforcement and diversion and then a section on prevention.  Then at the end we will 

invite comments and suggestions that colleagues would like to see from the new Mayor and from the new 

Police and Crime Plan produced by Mayor’s Office for Policing And Crime (MOPAC), so the move forward and 

then we will track that and work on that.  That is the structure of the morning and, again, thank you very much 

for coming along. 

 

I will start with a question, which is around levels of serious youth violence.  We reflect upon the fact that 

youth violence is increasing, although to have an understanding of it and the figures has been something that 

is a little bit challenging.  We want to explore the data around it and the problem in itself before we move on 

to how we address it.   

 

The data available suggests that serious youth violence is on the rise.  Based on your experience of working 

with young people, how is the scale and nature of serious youth violence in London changing?   

 

John Poyton (Chief Executive, Redthread):  It is really interesting.  It is brilliant.  Thank you very much for 

inviting me to be here.  There has always been an understanding that young people who are victims of violence 

are not always coming to the knowledge of the police.  There are questions over whether they are just coming 

to hospital and slipping through the net, even though the hospitals now are working much more closely to 

ensure we are able to support those young people who we all recognise as particularly vulnerable. 

Page 9



 

 
 

 

I think what started to bring things together in probably a more successful way over the last few years is 

everyone started recognising these young people as safeguarding concerns, rather than just victims or 

perpetrators.  I think we have been seeing a rise in the numbers of young people who are victims of weapon-

related violence, although it is difficult to know whether those statistics are always exactly the same as are 

being seen from the police data.  We are certainly seeing a rise.  We are seeing more weapon-related injuries 

than previously.  I think the levels of assault are probably there but the weapons injuries are probably going up 

within that.  We have around 50 young people being assaulted in general each month at each of the major 

trauma centres, but the percentage of those that are knife-related or weapon-related is probably going up. 

 

The feeling with my youth workers who are embedded within those major trauma centres, along with our 

colleagues at the St Giles Trust at the Royal London [Hospital] is that we are not sure that whether that is all 

distinctly related to gangs, per se, and often we do not choose to talk about the term “gangs” because I think 

an awful lot of those young people are starting to carry knives as a defence.  It feels like they are going to be 

out and [will be] vulnerable.  They feel they need to carry a knife and there are lots of issues around young 

people’s brain development and thinking, and thinking through risks and consequences, that is not there 

properly to support them to think perhaps in the way that we would what the consequences would be.  I think 

we are seeing young people who are being injured in defence and not necessarily entrenched gang members, 

which is difficult. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  That is something we want to explore this morning around the analysis, 

and not to conflate all the serious youth violence and the increasing propensity to use knives, conflating that 

with gangs violence as well.  That was your point, clearly, and it is a question of pursuing the figures.  I know 

colleagues, and Matt, will have something to say about that.  It is about trying to identify the root causes: is it 

gang related?  Is it not?  Your experience with the trauma centres is it is conflated but what you are saying is 

there is an increasing trend of young people to be prepared to carry a knife by way of protection on our 

streets. 

 

John Poyton (Chief Executive, Redthread):  I think so.  The beauty of the model and our joint work with 

Matt [Watson] and his team, is that the young people when they come through the hospital may be victim 

perpetrators who are known to the police or known to other statutory services, or they might be completely 

innocent bystanders or victims caught up in the violence within their neighbourhoods.  When they are in pain 

that is a great catalyst, all of them are able to think probably in a deeper way about what they want to change.  

It is a very solution-focused approach.  Matt has very kindly given great feedback when we have been 

evaluating the service at St Mary’s [Hospital] about how some of the young people, who have perhaps been 

hard to engage, have been engaged after they have been victims of violence. 

 

Matt Watson (Service Manager, Integrated Gangs Unit, City of Westminster):  Yes, I agree with John.  

There is increasing violence around young people.  I suppose it goes along with a decrease around post codes 

and a lighter touch gang idea that we had in 2009/2010/2011.  As we have become better at intervening with 

some groups of people who call themselves gangs, the more serious of those have gone under cover.  They 

have gone much more into business, much more around drugs and around drug distribution.  That means there 

is a lot more money involved and there is a lot more at stake.  Some of those individuals have become much 

more violent, so we have seen a large increase in carrying knives and guns as well.  That means - as John 

pointed out - that other young people may feel it is necessary for them to carry knives. 

 

Of course, we know that if you carry a knife you are far more likely to get stabbed probably with that knife.  

We have certainly had instances of young people being killed with their own knives in Westminster.  That 

Page 10



 

 
 

general level of increase is related to an increase in the seriousness of the business that certain elements of 

those young people are involved with.  Again - and I would back up what John says - that does not mean we 

are casting an aspersion on all young people by any means at all.  In Westminster we have 20,000 young 

people between 10 and 18 and we work from [young people aged] 10 to 25.  Of those there are about 200 on 

the [MPS’s Gangs] Matrix.  Of those there are about 100 probably or less than 100 who are really active, and 

of those there are about 20 that we are very worried about in terms of their propensity towards violence.  The 

impact of that on everybody else is to up the stakes for them, yes.  

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  That is a point well made because you have identified those gang 

nominals - for a better word - who are now prepared to use serious violence because of the nature of their 

action and criminality.  Set against that, are other young people who are aware of that going on, who may not 

be involved in gangs but just sense that feeling of violence around the area and, therefore, feel that they need 

to carry a knife by way of protection, even though they are not associated with a gang.  That is the thing that 

we need to explore.   

 

That is an introduction to the London context but, Graham, you think about these things deeply across the 

country as well nationally.  How do you feel that London compares to other major cities in terms of serious 

youth violence? 

 

Graham Robb (Youth Justice and Education Consultant):  I am mainly working in London now, Chairman, 

so I will mainly reflect on that.  Nationally, for the last 15 years or so, Youth Justice in London has made up 

about quarter of all the Youth Justice patterns nationwide.  That is broadly still the case.  You do have major 

urban areas, obviously Merseyside, Manchester and Birmingham where there is a similar pattern of risk and 

threatened vulnerability as you find in London and then other areas where it is very different.  Can I reflect a 

bit more on the general trends, though? 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  Please do. 

 

Graham Robb (Youth Justice and Education Consultant):  I should have said, first of all, thank you it is a 

pleasure to be here and thank you for the opportunity. 

 

From some of the work I have been doing in different aspects of London, I am very aware of recent spikes in 

knife crime, very aware of that.  I am also aware of the fairly long trend over the last X years - and I do not 

have the data - of a downward trend in this, so I am trying to understand, both at a locality level and  

system-wide what is going on.  There is absolutely no doubt what you have been saying that the changing 

business model is driving violence of various sorts; absolutely no doubt about that. The willingness of children 

to carry weapons.  There is no doubt about that, but the data is hard to read when it comes to what is actually 

happening. 

 

There are areas - like, for example, Lambeth, where I am doing some work at the moment - that last year did 

something of a violence needs assessment.  They said, “You cannot look at violence related to teenagers 

separate from domestic abuse violence and other types of violence”.  I may want to reflect on this later on.  

That is a really helpful approach because, as soon as you do that, you pick up what you were talking about: 

this is not about victims and perpetrators.  This is about young people in families and communities and it is 

about partners getting involved.  Their violence assessment, which is a public document, then very specifically 

said there are specific areas of commissioning that need to be done and there are various system changes that 

need to happen. 

 

Page 11



 

 
 

It is a bit of a long answer, Chairman, apologies, but I am struggling to say, hand on heart, there is a rise in 

knife crime.  I am seeing spikes but there have always been spikes of volatility and my sense is [that it is] not 

quite as clear cut as we might have thought. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  I think that is quite apparent because, unlike some other crimes where it 

is easier to track and to understand, such is the nature of the crime and the complexity around it, it is difficult 

to judge the trends.  Our information is there has been an increase and a rise and a trend up but there are 

some dips.  We have talked to colleagues about one particular significant drop historically, but then it is 

conflating the different aspects to it that I think is a very strong point.  Comparing London to other cities, what 

we are saying is London as a metropolis is comparable to a Manchester and a Liverpool but, because of the 

difficulty with analysis, it is hard to compare. 

 

Graham Robb (Youth Justice and Education Consultant):  Absolutely.  I know the Manchester authorities 

have been doing similar analysis as you are doing to inform their youth justice system going forward.  I think 

they are comparable. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  One trend that I think is undeniable is the increase in the number of 

females involved in serious youth violence.  If we go back in a period of time they may have had a certain role 

with gangs, perhaps carrying weapons or knives.  There seems to be from the figures that we have an increase, 

both as victims and as perpetrators.  It appears to be rising, so again a question going back to Matt and also 

back to you Graham for your analysis: do you agree with that?  Is that your experience and do you have any 

ideas around why that may be the case, gentleman? 

 

Matt Watson (Service Manager, Integrated Gangs Unit, City of Westminster):  Could I just add in one 

last thing from the previous conversation? 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  Please do. 

 

Matt Watson (Service Manager, Integrated Gangs Unit, City of Westminster):  That is to add, I 

suppose, without any criticism at all for my police colleagues, because I know how difficult this is, sanction 

detection of knife crimes are very low in Westminster.  I think that is also contributes to this.  It is incredibly 

difficult.  Witnesses will not come forward, we have no victims and that happens all the time.  The issues that 

we get with our violent young men very often do not come before the courts.  That in itself, I suppose, is a 

message there. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  That is partly because of the domestic violence aspect to it, which is 

notoriously [difficult] sometimes to bring people to justice for those particular reasons, is your point? 

 

Matt Watson (Service Manager, Integrated Gangs Unit, City of Westminster):  Yes.  Also, I suppose, if 

people are intimidated they do not want to talk.  That is the way these groups operate.  There is a lot of fear 

and intimidation around it.  Certainly, I completely agree with Graham that we have to look at the environment 

of violence that some of these people live in. 

 

In terms of young women, we are seeing increasing numbers of young women being involved working with 

drugs and holding knives.  In Westminster, we do not have a lot of young women who involve themselves in 

violent crime.  In terms of our matrix, for example, we only have one young woman in the gangs’ matrix.  From 

our point of view in Westminster, we have a fairly broad definition of gang.  For us, anybody who is involved in 

Page 12



 

 
 

violence as part of a group we want to intervene with, whether that is something that is understood or 

recognised as a gang or not.  I am not too helpful on the young women -- 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  No, that is all right.  Graham, do you have any thoughts? 

 

Graham Robb (Youth Justice and Education Consultant):  [I have] anecdotal evidence from some work in 

some children’s homes and the ending gang and youth violence work that I was involved in.  What we saw 

there in a number of locations was how young women are being recruited into criminality of various sorts, 

particularly by social media and very rapid things like Snapchat and all the rest of it, which are very short-term 

records of activity.  Those are being used by people to target vulnerable young people and recruit them in. 

 

In my simplistic view, this is a bit of a Venn diagram.  The girls we are talking about here - the overlap between 

the youngsters who are exploited by child sexual abuse of various sorts - are often in the looked-after children 

category or somewhere in the missing person’s regime, that police and other colleagues will pick up.  In the 

middle of that are those really complex young people for whom mental health services sometimes are brilliant 

and sometimes are not there, and for whom schools are sometimes brilliant and sometimes not there.  You will 

see where I am going. 

 

It is a system-wide understanding of those youngsters right at that flex. That is true of boys and girls, but my 

perception is that the girls that are at that core are some of the most complex to support.  We are setting up a 

school for young offenders called the Campus, which will have boys and girls.  Our modelling says it will be 

about 15% girls and what you have to do to support girls who are in that sort of environment is really tough, 

because the instrumental use of violence and the tasking through media and all the rest of it and family 

context is long established in their lives from early trauma experience. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  From a victim point of view, we have seen a rise of something like 58% in 

the last four years of young ladies as victims, which I think is quite significant.   

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  I think the rise in women being offenders and victims is genuinely concerning.  From 

some of the things you have said, and I know that statistics are important in terms of victims of grievous bodily 

harm (GBH) as well as other crimes, and I wanted to see if you have any idea of how that entangles with 

domestic violence within relationships between young people because we are obviously seeing more of those 

kinds of assaults reported generally, and whether there is an overlap with that as well and how you think it 

relates? 

 

Matt Watson (Service Manager, Integrated Gangs Unit, City of Westminster):  I think there is an 

increased awareness from young women, which is really good, about reasonable relationships and what they 

can expect from relationships.  Hopefully, that is behind some of those increased rises in people coming 

forward and reporting as victims.  That is certainly an incredibly difficult piece of work.  Lots of the young 

women that we work with will not have any perception of the relationships they are involved with as being 

violent or abusive, so it takes quite a long time to gain trust and have a relationship with those young women. 

We do quite a bit of group work in order for them to start coming forward and identifying the relationships 

they are involved with as being abusive and violent. 

 

Also, just to back up on what Graham said, we have a lot of young men who are using social media to connect 

with vulnerable young women.  We often see the same young men connected with a variety of young women.  

They could be from different areas.  They become particularly vulnerable if they are associated with different 

gang members or different group members.  You could get one young women who floats between two or three 

Page 13



 

 
 

different groups without particularly knowing that they are groups of young men and that they have particular 

antagonisms between them - they may or may not know that - and increasing their vulnerability, so they can 

become unknowingly in danger from those different areas and groups, if that makes sense. 

 

John Poyton (Chief Executive, Redthread):  Certainly, from the Accident and Emergency (A&E) major 

trauma centre point of view, I think we are certainly seeing that fluidity between the groups.  We are seeing 

more young women as victims come through.  That is probably because we have had funding from the Mayor’s 

Office for youth independent domestic violence advocates (IDVA) which has enabled us to start to pick up 

some more of those young women that were otherwise probably slipping through the net, the victims of 

domestic violence within their relationships.  I think that is key for us. 

 

What is great around the panel is for us to move those silos away that otherwise often split up domestic 

violence from sexual exploitation from gang violence to serious youth violence.  I think that is really key 

because I think these young people are very caught up in violence in general.  Our concern is, certainly, that 

the young women create more issue if they are then fluid between antagonising groups, but the youth IDVA is 

a partnership with Solace with our youth workers in A&E departments.  Certainly we are picking up more 

vulnerable young women, and hopefully that means we will be able to look at supporting them. 

 

Matt Watson (Service Manager, Integrated Gangs Unit, City of Westminster):  Just to add to that, I 

suppose there is a real need to constantly have our police colleagues make us aware of where these young 

people are.  When we first started out when there were stops of groups of young people, often it would only 

be the young men who were identified.  The young women would be routinely ignored as not particularly 

important.  That has been shifting and changing over time, which is really good.  We are getting information 

about that.  To back up what John says, where you have a worker who is engaged in that process and is aware 

of what those dangers and difficulties might be, obviously that is massively helpful in order to be able to work 

with those young women and make them aware. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  Chairman, I want to come in and go back to Graham’s point about the holistic approach 

about tackling violence and the issues and streams that may arise.  In your view, in the work that you have 

done - and we may come back to this later on, Chairman, if we may, I would just like to get a quick snapshot - 

what the (MPS needs and we need generally, both for tactics of dealing with it but also prevention, is an  

anti-violence strategy, per se, across the MPS, bringing together its different approaches to different issues, 

and the demographics of the perpetuators who are doing it.  They could be gangs.  They could be out of 

gangs, but the trends are there.  Albeit crime is coming down, but from what we are seeing there is a rise in 

violent crime among young people that is obviously going to go on if it is unchecked.  Also, we are seeing 

particular features of this that is going on through the demographics.  As they get older it is continuing on, is it 

not?  Is that work that you were doing in Lambeth leading to an outcome of saying, “In Lambeth what we 

need is an anti-violent strategy, per se”, amid different elements coming into it for dealing with different 

crimes? 

 

Graham Robb (Youth Justice and Education Consultant):  That is the sort of discussion that the partners 

are having in Lambeth at the moment, but it feeds beautifully into work that I understand the MPS has been 

doing on vulnerability indices.  That seems to me absolutely right.  Your safeguarding point was really well 

made.  This is an issue or risk, harm, threat and vulnerability, and the risk can be in the home, first of all.  It can 

be in the street.  It can be in the school.  If you treat them as separate bits you are missing a trick. 

 

I think the vulnerability approach to this is really helpful, not least because it stops it being just a policing 

issue.  It is a partnership issue and I think that is absolutely critical. 

Page 14



 

 
 

 

Len Duvall AM:  Can I have a very quick question to Commander Ball?  Is it not the case then - and I accept it 

is a wider issue than just enforcement - that the starting point might be with enforcement to bring on the 

other preventative issues that come about? 

 

Commander Duncan Ball (Specialist Crime & Operations - Gangs & Organised Crime, MPS):  To break 

the cycle, yes. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  We can talk about early childhood, childcare issues, reducing violence in that context of 

whatever setting.  What stops the MPS producing a holistic anti-violence strategy instead of [a perception] 

from an outsider’s point of view that the MPS follows trends and risk?  Gangs are in fashion this week, knife 

crime because it is a terrible crime, someone potentially losing their life from it.  What stops the MPS bringing 

all the bits together in what works in terms of their enforcement issue - also you have a prevention role as 

well - to drive this debate?  I think it was this Committee in previous administrations, Chairman, which you may 

not have been part of, that called for that.  You brought up that domestic violence issue because the young 

men involved in a street altercation were more likely to use their fists in a partnership and relationship issue, in 

terms of a family situation and issues like that, so what stops the MPS doing that? 

 

Commander Duncan Ball (Specialist Crime & Operations - Gangs & Organised Crime, MPS):  In 

answering this I would probably just come back to the initial question around serious youth violence and 

understanding obviously what basket of offences we are looking at that makes it serious youth violence.  If you 

look at that, a small proportion of that is down to gang-related violence so round about 5%.  If you look at 

certain crimes - obviously you mentioned knife injuries - so knife injury victims under 25, which is one of our 

main indicators of gang violence that then increases to 25% to 30%.  Then, if you are looking at gun crime 

discharges, which is also captured in the bigger serious issue of violence, that increases further still to beyond a 

third, potentially up to one-half. 

 

There is a whole different range of offences within that.  One thing we have to be careful of is not applying a 

one-size-fits-all to the whole serious youth violence issue.  If I look at my own sphere of interest - and Dave 

[Chief Superintendent Stringer], who is head of community engagement, can perhaps talk about some 

prevention we have done pan-London.  If you look at the gangs [issue], I think there is very much a case for 

joint partnership working.  We are talking at a lower level because there is so much interplay between different 

elements, for example, whether it is missing persons, whether it is exploitation, whether it is sexual 

exploitation, whether it is people that have come to the attention of local authorities for various reasons.  That 

very much needs to be embedded at a local level. 

 

What I do agree with you, in terms of enforcement, is that it does provide an opportunity to give that a kick 

start, and I think enforcement gives an opportunity to have a real impact on the violence in the short term as 

well. 

 

That is something I am quite happy to talk about later, in terms of the work that we have been doing with 

Trident [Gang Crime Command] in terms of the local gangs units.  That is very much focused on those key 

areas of violence. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  With all due respect, I think the answer you have given us just takes us back into silos again.  

Dealing with violence in terms of youth violence, yes, there is a gang element.  There is a relationship but it is 

about men of violence, per se, and about how they go about in society as they grow up and go into it.  We 

could say, “If I am more prone to be violent it might be I will start seeing some of the signs in my school 

Page 15



 

 
 

activity”, so that comes back into the partnership and safeguarding issues around that and the identification of 

that in some of the issues. 

 

It is not saying one-size-fits-all but a strategy that sets out elements that we would expect to make a 

difference to changing outcomes, where you do drive down violence, per se.  That has a role for young people 

in it in developing it.  It has a role for partners but what is the police role?  It seems to me that you are always 

driven back to the gang violence.  We know, and the data says - and I think we should thank 

Stephen Greenhalgh [former Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime in London] for focusing on data in terms of 

MOPAC, because he did - that the gang violence element of this is a small piece.  There is loads of other youth 

violence issues going on, which are just walking down a street on a Friday or Saturday night.  It might well be 

alcohol-driven.  It might be drug-driven.  It is that bit where I think we want to see a holistic approach about it, 

not one cap fits all.  That was not my intention do you know what I mean?  It is about: what is the MPS’s 

policy position on driving down violence because whether it is a Prevent Strategy for violence, as we have a 

Prevent Strategy for counterterrorism, what is our position on it?  We have individual bits on it but, even if we 

talk about domestic violence, we are not making much headway there, are we, if we were honest?  There are 

some great strides forward in understanding, recording and moving it but detecting and bringing people to 

justice very little headway.  That is what I was trying to get at. 

 

Chairman, we might return to this under prevention and other issues. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  Yes, that is helpful.  We are going to turn on to prevention later.  A 

particular figure I was looking at in the briefing, 2015/16, less than half of the serious youth violence was knife 

related.  This shows how complex it is, so we do not necessarily need to be hung up with the fact that more 

young people are taking a knife out with them because we might be going down the wrong alleyway in looking 

at that.  I agree with Len that this is such a large issue that we need not to work in silos.  We need to perhaps 

look at developing something more strategic. 

 

My last question in this particular piece is to Duncan and Dave.  Looking again at the figures, we have seen a 

three-year increase in serious youth violence.  There was a period, between 2011/12 and 2012/13, where the 

victims’ figure dropped sharply for that period.  Then, unfortunately, it continued in the wrong trend.  To help 

us understand some analysis, in your view, Duncan and Dave, what are the reasons in your mind for the drop in 

the number of victims in that specific period that seemed to buck a trend?  Do you have any thoughts around 

that? 

 

Commander Duncan Ball (Specialist Crime & Operations - Gangs & Organised Crime, MPS):  Perhaps 

if I talk from the gang side, which is predominantly the area I am responsible for and Dave can talk from the 

community engagement side. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  Yes. 

 

Commander Duncan Ball (Specialist Crime & Operations - Gangs & Organised Crime, MPS):  If you 

look at the biggest landmark event for London, which was the riots round about 2011, on the back of that 

there was a huge amount of work that was undertaken by the MPS to target those people responsible.  I think 

that also represented a bit of a watershed as well, in terms of how we looked at and how we dealt with gangs.  

We had some quite big changes within Trident, and one of the key things there was making sure that all the 

local gangs units that are within the boroughs are effectively fully staffed, and fully resourced and targeted as 

well.  We also changed our configuration within Trident. 

 

Page 16



 

 
 

By that I mean we developed a capability to move across London, so that when you do get outbreaks of 

violence we are then able to go in and support boroughs to deal with that and suppress it.  Because we know 

that, particularly with gang violence - and the reason I talk about gang violence is because it generally brings 

the most serious violence in terms of stabbings and shootings as well - is the support we then provide to 

boroughs, conscious that there are a number of competing priorities for a number of different issues that local 

boroughs have to deal with.  We can provide that specialist resource. 

 

The point is if we are able to get on and ideally prevent the first stabbing, that is what we want to do.  If we 

cannot prevent the first one, then it is making sure that we have a proper suppression strategy around it to 

prevent that tit for tat that can so often end up with more serious stabbings and more serious shootings. 

 

In terms of the gangs’ picture, that is when we started taking quite a hold on the life injury victim picture.  In 

terms of where that puts us in the five-year trend of knife injury victims under 25, that is down 27% over the 

last five years in that sort of subset, which is obviously mainly looking at our gangs people. 

 

Dave, do you want to cover more broadly on the nature of this? 

 

Chief Superintendent Dave Stringer (Borough Commander for Sutton, MPS):  In terms of the two big 

trends we have seen in the last four to five years, in terms of the overall package of serious youth violence, we 

have seen a huge reduction in personal robbery.  That also goes to the heart of what has changed between the 

male and female victims and offenders.  As a rule, females are far less likely to be victims and/or perpetrators 

of personal robbery.  In terms of the big basket of serious youth violence, because we have seen such a 

decrease in personal robbery over those past five years, and between 2011/12 and 2012/13, the vast majority 

of the fall in serious youth violence in that year was around personal robbery.  Because personal robbery has 

fallen so much, there has been a large drop in serious youth violence.  As we have seen personal robbery has 

fallen the proportion of males committing offences - being victims’ offences - has fallen. 

 

The other large category is GBH and I stress to the panel, I am sure you are aware that GBH can be anything 

from broken bones to a small cut on the hand where the skin is broken.  What that generally brings with it is 

that we are looking at things from a fight in the playground to a really serious assault outside a nightclub, for 

example.  Males are less likely to have that overwhelming predominance of offending as they do with personal 

robbery.  To a degree most of the changes I think we have seen, both in terms of numbers and also 

male/female proportions, has been driven by a decrease in personal robbery and the increase in terms of 

offences resulting in GBH.  We think most of that - and I am sure you have heard at this Committee before - is 

driven by the change in recording practices. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  I was just about to say that because, again, another layer of complexity is 

the change in reporting, which is your point about GBH.  It could well be those two different polar incidents, 

which would then influence the trends which make it more difficult for people - like yourselves and ourselves - 

to analyse how that could be prevented. 

 

Chief Superintendent Dave Stringer (Borough Commander for Sutton, MPS):  Certainly, when we look 

at the incidents that we used to record as crimes, and the incidents that we now record as crimes, the figures 

show in 2012 we were recording about 40% of incidents reported to us as crimes within the violent crime 

category.  Now it is about 90%.  The number of incidents has not changed greatly, but the proportion within 

our crime has changed dramatically over that time period. 

 

Page 17



 

 
 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  Again, it can be that difficulty that we have to address because there is a 

reporting issue but does that mask an increase that, undeniably, there appears to be an increasing willingness 

for young people to carry knives in violent crimes, etc.  Then you have that complexity around reporting, which 

makes it - as I just said a minute ago - more difficult to analyse. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Deputy Chair):  In terms of budgetary pressures and cuts, how has it impacted on your 

ability to deal with this issue in terms of the police service, cuts in police numbers and in terms of council 

services, custody, youth service and so on? 

 

Commander Duncan Ball (Specialist Crime & Operations - Gangs & Organised Crime, MPS):  That is 

obviously a very valid question.  As you know, the MPS has taken out huge amounts of money over the last 

five years.  There is probably no doubt that that does potentially have an impact on how we operate and how 

we, as an organisation, work together.  By that I mean on the local frontline with the specialist resources and 

expertise that units like Trident then bring. 

 

What it has meant is it has brought us into a real sharp focus about the most important bits.  I think it has 

brought us into real sharp focus around where the highest violence is.  If we would then look to prioritise - 

because with a finite amount of resources you have to put your resources in the best places - we have had to 

make sure, which we do, that everything is targeted to where intelligence is.  We are aware that we do have a 

limited amount of resources and crime trends are growing, cyber crime and an increase in reporting of child 

sexual offences as well, so we have to be intelligent about where we put our people and where we put our 

resources.  In some ways it has brought quite a positive stance because, effectively, you are cutting off a lot of 

fat but you are making yourself quite lean in terms of focusing on those really important matters. 

 

The other thing that also affects us with cuts is because we know local authorities have had quite a big hit in 

terms of funding cuts as well, how that then affects the partnership and the diversion work.  One of the key 

messages for me, particularly on the more serious end of the serious violence scale, is, OK, enforcement plays a 

hugely important part but it is not going to solve it in the long term.  Therefore, if we are looking at all the 

drivers, for example, of serious youth violence, a lot of those are only going to be solved in partnership at local 

level.  I think the question for us as well is not just what is the impact upon the MPS but it is what is the impact 

on the partners because that has potential to make those partnerships less effective. 

 

Chief Superintendent Dave Stringer (Borough Commander for Sutton, MPS):  From a prevention point 

of view we have not lost any [Safer] Schools Officers.  We have the same number of [Safer] Schools Officers as 

we had before.  We still have police officers in every single Youth Offending Team in London.  We have 

managed to increase the number of police cadets.  We now have up to 5,000. 

 

What has changed, though, I think, is the provision of the youth services from local authorities and other 

agencies and the voluntary sector.  Whereas, from a policing point of view, the prevention picture has 

remained static - and I would argue we are probably doing more than we used to - it is how that is integrated 

with other services and the ability, particularly of local authorities, to do as much youth prevention and youth 

diversion work as perhaps four to five years ago. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  About the statistics, can I write to you after the meeting maybe because they need clearing 

up. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  Please do, absolutely. 

 

Page 18



 

 
 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  It has been suggested that there is a large proportion of youth violence that 

goes unreported.  I was wondering whether Graham and John perhaps might start with this.  When I visit 

groups like the Ben Kinsella Trust they talk about how there are lots of young people who think it is safe to 

stab someone in their bottom.  It is fleshy.  There are lots of things like that that go on that just does not get 

reported anywhere.  How full a picture do you think we really have of serious youth violence in London and 

what could be done to improve reporting and improve our knowledge on this?  Maybe, John, you could start. 

 

John Poyton (Chief Executive, Redthread):  The classic Venn diagram picture that I have in my 

information, where we only see what we see in the emergency departments, but we do pick up on delayed 

presentations.  Again, that is where that is picked up by the safeguarding route.  If young people thought that 

they could get away without needing to have a doctor treat them and are coming a few days later, that 

perhaps highlights the vulnerability there.  

 

As we have talked about, this is very much about a partnership piece.  It does mean that the Venn diagram is 

changing, in that I think there is more sharing of information, even if it is anonymised, the data sharing with 

the police.  If a young person comes in - speaking on behalf of my medical colleagues rather than the 

voluntary sector - the General Medical Council guidelines a few years ago were very focused on gun violence.  

It now incorporates knives.  Therefore, it is down to the emergency department to share information that a 

young person with a knife injury has attended. 

 

We are very aware that we want to make sure these young people engage because they are very vulnerable.  

We know the teachable moment is really key.  The doctors and nurses that my youth teams are working 

alongside are very keen not to just say, “Right, we have rung the police because we do not want young people 

to think, ‘If I turn up at A&E that is it, I am going to get picked up’”, but we do let the police know that 

someone has attended and that they are very welcome to turn up and see if that young person wants to speak 

to them. 

 

The youth workers work very closely in partnership and advocate on behalf of the young person with the 

police, if they have that conversation.  Certainly, that starts to create a fuller picture and less of that unknown 

quantity in the middle of that Venn diagram.  Hopefully that is improving as the partnership continues to 

improve across the boroughs. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Maybe, Matt, from a borough point of view and then I will come to Graham, in 

terms of there are young people out there who are having injuries but they are not going to A&E, so we are 

not picking them up through, hopefully, every A&E being signed up to sharing data, so how do we get a full 

picture of what is really going on? 

 

Matt Watson (Service Manager, Integrated Gangs Unit, City of Westminster):  It is really difficult, 

Caroline, yes.  We have reports of violence against young people on a daily basis that does not get through to 

the formal processes that will not necessarily end up in hospital.  They try to deal with those things themselves.  

When I went to speak to the Magistrates in the West London Youth Court, they were deeply shocked by the 

picture that I presented because virtually none of those young people are coming before the courts for the 

reasons we talked about earlier.  People are struggling with their wounds, their hurts and their injuries and they 

do not trust people so, yes, it is a very complicated process.  As John has pointed out - and I agree - there is a 

sort of balance and a negotiation here about how you create credible and trusted relationships with youth 

workers, and workers within these teams, and how you share that information in such a way as to give a clearer 

picture obviously without stopping the kind of relationships that are enabling.  You are getting that 

information. 

Page 19



 

 
 

 

Of course, just to bring us back to your point about the impact on resources, I suppose, the less resource you 

have to do that with, the less workers you have to have those conversations with, the less you are going to 

know. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Graham, do you have any thoughts on how we could improve reporting? 

 

Graham Robb (Youth Justice and Education Consultant):  I do not have a simple answer. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  I do not think anything is simple about this subject. 

 

Graham Robb (Youth Justice and Education Consultant):  It seems to me you start from the lived-lives 

with young people now, and there was an experiment a few years ago to see how youngsters would actually 

ask for help and self-report.  There were two or three learning points from that, which have never been 

enacted but might indicate.  One is phone lines for kids; some boys will use that more than some girls, but it is 

not simple.  Online reporting, some boys will use and some girls but it is not simple.  Thirdly, it is where the 

trusted adult is in their life and how you enable that person to refer - if that is what the word should be, 

because I am not sure it should be “refer”.  That is a sense of passing on.  It is support for them.  It is about 

two things.  It is getting the help for them as well as making sure we have better records of what goes on. 

 

This piece of work that was done was about how we could get more victims of crime engaging in the 

restorative justice practice.  I think that some of the learning we then saw - I think it was Barnardos ran a 

gangs’ helpline for a period.  Some of it may be about using technology more intelligently and enabling 

children to report themselves.  Some of it is: who else can be there in school or youth services or elsewhere 

that can help them get the help?  It goes back to the partnership work at that point. 

 

John Poyton (Chief Executive, Redthread):  Caroline, your report into crime last year was very helpful in 

highlighting a way that we should be able to increase the picture between the police and also those young 

people who are perhaps attending the local A&Es.  Currently, it has been really exciting over the last couple of 

years to get more funding to look at this work in major trauma centres.  There are four major trauma centres.  

Last week we had a conference just to pull in the existing programmes - A&E teachable moment programmes - 

and it was exciting for them to have Oasis there who are working in Tommies [St Thomas Hospital], in North 

Middlesex [Hospital], in local A&E departments, as well as the St Giles Trust, at the Royal London [Hospital] 

and Doctors Outreach (DOCS) who work in the A&E department there.  There are an awful lot more of A&E 

departments in London than just those six that were represented.  Certainly, while not complaining about 

having more funding in the last couple of years, I think somehow there needs to be found funding for - and I 

think it is probably - voluntary sector organisations to be in all 28 local A&E departments because, as Duncan 

referred, we want to be able to do earlier intervention.  We want to stop the first stabbing.  I think we need to 

be in the local A&E departments where young people are likely to walk in as a victim of an assault, so that we 

can prevent further violence sort of ramping up there.  I think that is where it is: again, partnership is obviously 

the key word today.  We want to be able to intervene early before it gets worse.  It shows that youth work is 

embedded and local A&Es work very well with their borough colleagues and it really joins up nicely.  Hopefully, 

we can pick those young people up before they then start to get too entrenched, in needing the criminal 

intervention or policing intervention. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Colleagues will know I have pushed the Mayor [Sadiq Khan] twice on this in the 

last month and I am hopeful that following his and his Deputy Mayor’s [Sophie Linden, Deputy Mayor for 

Page 20



 

 
 

Policing and Crime] visit that maybe in his strategy we might see some progress on this.  It is a very important 

area. 

 

Can I just ask the police, because I have not asked you yet, how helpful you think the serious youth violence 

measures are in telling us what is happening in London and is there a better way of measuring it? 

 

Commander Duncan Ball (Specialist Crime & Operations - Gangs & Organised Crime, MPS):  I think I 

will probably come back my earlier answer, in that I think it is a useful indicator, but one thing I think we do 

have to really understand is what we actually mean by it, because obviously we are looking at those people 

who are under 19 as victims and because it is such a different raft of offences.  I completely agree with the 

point that there is the connectivity and the need to join up at that local level around the vulnerability and 

identifying the underlying causes.  How we tackle that could be very different according to different crime 

type.  For example, if we are looking at domestic abuse, we might take a different approach in terms of the 

enforcement of a police solution after the initial partnership work as to how we would then look to deal with 

gangs, because they all have their different nuances. 

 

The main thing is, yes, I do not think it is unhelpful, but what I think is important is we actually understand 

what each of the pillars are within it, dealing with them - cross-cutting, clearly, in terms of the underlying 

causes - but there are different nuances that we do have to recognise in how we are taking it forward.  I think 

that is probably the best answer I can give, really. 

 

Chief Superintendent Dave Stringer (Borough Commander for Sutton, MPS):  I think it is helpful in the 

sense of we do need to know with such a critical group of people what is happening in their lives.  It will only 

be an imperfect understanding.  I suppose the bit I think is slightly missing from the conversation is what 

young people think themselves, so I think I would take this back perhaps to the MOPAC youth survey, so there 

is some really interesting soft data there that tells us what young people think about being victimised, what 

they think about being pressured to join a gang.  I think it is helpful to have the hard data, as imperfect as that 

is, but I think the thing that has really been missing so far is actually getting to the voices of young people 

themselves and what they think about gangs and what they think of victimisation and how much of it is 

happening to them.  Obviously, with adults we have the Crime Survey of England and Wales, which gives you 

that.  We do not have something similar for young people, which from my perspective is quite a gap. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Obviously, you said this survey, but the charities, so the Ben Kinsella Trust have 

anonymised their projection, and it gives you a feel from talking to the young people, and I am sure Redthread 

and others would as well, but maybe that is a bigger piece of work, to get that side. 

 

Commander Duncan Ball (Specialist Crime & Operations - Gangs & Organised Crime, MPS):  I do 

think when we look at the data as well, we should always say it is a starting point for a conversation, whether it 

is in committees like this or as the MPS, for example, how we are looking at our performance and how we are 

then dealing with partnership work or how we are then dealing with enforcements, it is understanding it, 

because I think there are massive dangers in taking top-line figures without going in underneath.  So I always 

say when I chair any meetings it is always a starting point for how we then develop a plan to deal with 

something. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Thank you.   

 

Page 21



 

 
 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  Thank you very much.  That is a very useful group of questions.  I think 

this covers some of the things we are going to ask a little bit later as well, but it is important to spend some 

time looking at the context, of the levels of the problem and trying to understand some of the issues around it. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  I think a lot of the issues have been looked at already this morning about what the 

drivers are, but perhaps we will ask Graham and John [Poyton] what you think the most important drivers are. 

 

Graham Robb (Youth Justice and Education Consultant):  A portion of this is around the drugs market, 

nationally driven, not just a London drugs market, county lines and all of that sort of stuff that we know is 

going on.  That is a portion of it.  A portion of this is the sort of interaction between teenagers that has always 

been there, but suddenly they have got more access to knives and other weapons and therefore there is an 

escalation in the data coming through.  I agree with the comments earlier on; it has moved away from what 

was described as the sort of postcode tensions.  It does not feel to be the same in the bits of London I am most 

familiar with, but what you are now getting obviously with all the population mobility around London of 

families, you are getting different tensions emerging related to local communities and where people are living, 

so it is not the traditional postcodes of, I do not know, Haringey or Lambeth or Croydon, but there are tensions 

between communities in local areas over particular bits of “beef”, the conflict. 

 

But I am also conscious of how quickly the criminal economy is changing and it clearly has been driven by the 

drugs economy, but there has been some anecdotal evidence of a rise in instrumental theft of high-end bikes, 

for instance, or it was mobile phones was the key target, so therefore you see changes in the recording around 

personal robbery and all the other things that were being mentioned earlier on.  So to come back to it, I still 

think it is substantially drugs.  The risk at the moment that I am picking up in different bits of London is that 

where some of the London drug trading was going on to the coastal towns through the county lines, that is 

changing and that is producing some conflict back in London.  So this is an incredibly dynamic bit of landscape 

and we have got to be very careful not to design a solution that is right for 2016 that changes in 2018.  So 

that would be my take on it. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Just picking up that point, the solutions we had two, three years ago, they are out of 

date then?   

 

Graham Robb (Youth Justice and Education Consultant):  Some of them are not, but some of them need 

to be refreshed.  The increase in reporting of domestic violence and domestic abuse is a good thing, because 

people are presumably becoming more confident to report it, with all the weaknesses that there are.  That is 

still a good thing.  Some of the approaches are absolutely the same; some of the tactical responses are not the 

same and will need to change because of the nature of the risk and harm and threat. 

 

John Poyton (Chief Executive, Redthread):  I do not know that I have an awful lot more to offer.  

Certainly, I would reflect that I think there is a real concern: in one sense, it is probably an awful lot of things 

have not changed, but one of those, the technology and the social media element obviously brings a massive 

magnifying glass or a loudspeaker that enables those “beefs”, those issues that have always been there and 

have been there for probably hundreds of years between different groups of young people to be magnified 

massively.  Even if we think back to 2011, not that long ago, everything was done by BlackBerry Messenger.  

Who has a BlackBerry any more, apart from probably an awful lot of people in this building? 

 

Also the high-resolution video, the live streaming that is available now.  I do not think it is necessarily that we 

all have to become experts in these things, but it is happening more so, so it is probably similar behaviours that 

are out there.  I think that is where the girls are probably getting more involved, almost as public relations sort 

Page 22



 

 
 

of gurus, using Snapchat and Periscope and other things.  It is just creating a wider net of vulnerability for 

young people, in the same way we were saying it is not necessarily young offenders that are just carrying 

knives, young people are getting caught up very much in that vulnerability around the social media, which is a 

real concern, because it then creates sort of more of a vicious cycle. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  The impression I am getting from Graham is that this is an adjunct to other criminality.  

Do you agree with that? 

 

John Poyton (Chief Executive, Redthread):  I think the county lines issue is a big one, and again, I think 

that is pulling in an awful lot more vulnerable young people, whether that is looked-after children, young 

children with learning difficulties.  I think again, a little bit like the social media is casting it wider and bringing 

more young people into that vicious circle, I think the county lines work, perhaps moving beyond the postcode 

sort of drug dealing, is pulling in more vulnerable young people, taking them outside of London and I think 

that is a huge concern. 

 

Commander Duncan Ball (Specialist Crime & Operations - Gangs & Organised Crime, MPS):  Sorry, I 

was just going to add a couple of points to that.  I agree, violence can be an adjunct to the drugs market, for 

example.  If you are going to run a drugs market, you need to enforce it, and therefore naturally it is going to 

bring some violence.  I do think things like drugs bring trends in terms of how we see the serious youth 

violence picture or how we see elements of the serious youth violence picture playing out, but I think there is 

another response to the question, really, in terms of what we see as the risk factors that then lead to the 

drivers.  By that we are talking about issues we will probably be talking about in 30 or 40 years’ time, for 

example, around an individual, so have they been victimised before; what is the level of exposure of violence 

within the family; what are the family circumstances like; what is the background they have had in terms of 

parental supervision and discipline and so on and so forth; what is the impact to the community; what is the 

influence of peer groups? 

 

So if you come from a background where a lot of those factors are there, then there is probably a greater 

propensity to undertake violence.  Obviously that is not a one size fits all picture by any stretch of the 

imagination, but I do think - which goes far beyond policing and far beyond us sitting this side of the panel - it 

is what we can bring and what the Committee can bring more broadly in terms of all the underlying factors that 

contribute to that risk.  I accept the crime element is a challenge and we have to really look at that and the 

police have to really look at that, but I think it is all those underlying factors, because whilst all those 

underlying factors exist, I think they still present that breeding ground, effectively, for the additional triggers, 

which could be the drugs market, which could be the criminality. 

 

Matt Watson (Service Manager, Integrated Gangs Unit, City of Westminster):  Could I just add, 

Andrew, I suppose for a lot of our young people, they are heavily involved in youth violence and drugs.  They 

see this as a solution.  This is not a problem, this is not something that they want resolved, this is something 

that they want to continue with.  A lot of our work, we kind of characterise it as long-term relationships,  

short-term interventions.  John [Poyton] talked about the teachable moment, and obviously that happens in 

A&E, it happens outside as well, so when your friend’s door gets kicked in and when all of your drugs are taken 

and your friends are killed and the impact it has on you.  So I think we have got to understand, yes, for a lot of 

these young people, this is not a problem, this is a solution.  They have got, as you pointed out, often very 

deep problems and very deeply ingrained problems. 

 

Yes, there are a lot of vulnerable young people and we are seeing a lot of cuckooing, so vulnerable adults’ 

houses being taken over and used to distribute drugs from, but there is also a lot of sophisticated young 

Page 23



 

 
 

people out there, incredibly well-presented, incredibly able to present themselves differently to different 

people in different venues and they have got all sorts of deeply ingrained issues and problems and a whole 

variety of them, I am sure you can imagine.  So the solution, from our point of view, is to look at a very 

therapeutic kind of intervention, so I think you have to take quite a broad view of it.  There is no kind of one 

size fits all and there is not a sort of deterrent.  We have often said we cannot enforce our way out of it, but I 

suppose we need to then think, “If we cannot do that, what are the resources, what is the impetus, what is the 

amount of commitment that we are willing to give to the more detailed interventions?” 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  If we look at the other side of the coin for a minute, we referred there about all the 

societal factors, domestic violence and so on leading to creating this climate which leads people into youth 

violence, but presumably not everybody in that background ends up involved in violence.  Has any work been 

done on the reasons why people do not get involved? 

 

Matt Watson (Service Manager, Integrated Gangs Unit, City of Westminster):  I could not agree more, 

Andrew. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Because it seems to me we are looking at one end of it, which is where people have 

got involved, but presumably all the people who do not get involved, there is a reason why they have not.  If 

you know some of the reasons why they have not, that might actually help us understand the reason why they 

have. 

 

Matt Watson (Service Manager, Integrated Gangs Unit, City of Westminster):  Yes, I could not agree 

more.  That is vital.  Yes, that is true. 

 

Graham Robb (Youth Justice and Education Consultant):  There is some work that has been done on 

that, which is under the heading “desistance”, and it is about what is it that stops somebody getting involved 

or does not let them get involved in the first place?  There is quite a bit of literature all around that, which 

actually should inform some of the thinking going forward. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  I am just wondering, as I say, you have indicated all these other factors, but the 

majority of kids, I suspect, do not get involved.  Why? 

 

Commander Duncan Ball (Specialist Crime & Operations - Gangs & Organised Crime, MPS):  No, I 

agree, and that is why I was at pains to sort of stress they are potential risk factors and just because those 

factors are present in somebody’s early life does not necessarily mean that is the case. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  But you have got two cohorts of kids, one who ends up being violent and the other 

ones who do not, who have both come from very similar backgrounds, socioeconomic, domestic violence, 

whatever backgrounds.  There must be reasons why the ones who do not get involved do not get involved. 

 

Matt Watson (Service Manager, Integrated Gangs Unit, City of Westminster):  I agree.  I do not have 

the answer to that, but I do think that is one of the problems.  We want to do as much prevention as we can.  

The problem with prevention is - whilst I completely agree with it and want more funding for it; it is a great 

thing to do and I have worked in prevention for a number of years - you throw the net very, very wide.  That is 

obviously very expensive, and then, as you have said, you are not really sure what the key factors are with all 

these people with very, very similar issues and difficulties, what are the ones that are going to tip particular 

individuals over into becoming serious young offenders.  Certainly, we know that being stabbed, being a victim 

of serious crime is often a precursor to that and there are certain sort of key elements, I suppose, that we can 

Page 24



 

 
 

use as a predictive measure for a certain section of the population.  But absolutely, definitely more work needs 

to be done to help us to understand. 

 

Graham Robb (Youth Justice and Education Consultant):  I was just wondering, should I talk a bit more 

about the desistance stuff?  Would that help? 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  That would be helpful, yes. 

 

Graham Robb (Youth Justice and Education Consultant):  Yes, because it starts off from some of the 

family context: how is a child brought up, what are the boundaries, how are they enforced, how do they 

understand problem-solving?  Some of it is around teaching thinking skills.  Your teachable moment is 

absolutely critical here: how do you teach a child to make decisions?  Being an ex-teacher, this is moral 

education, how do you understand the choices and the consequences that you are making?  Some of is about 

understanding the social bonds of a child to the community.  If they are linked in with positive social networks, 

they are less likely to get involved.  If they are not linked in with positive social networks, whatever they are, 

volunteering or whatever, that is a negative indicator, and so it goes on.  There is quite a long literature, 

starting from the family and then looking at the individual. 

 

The question then is how that relates to your broad net point, is it not?  Because you could do an awful lot of 

work and a lot of it would be not as targeted as it needs to be.  I do not have an answer to how you do that, 

but there is quite a lot of good evidence about some of the key things you need to do.  That issue of learning 

your way out of the problems is fundamental here.  There is a national review of youth justice going on, the 

Charlie Taylor report [Review of the Youth Justice System], which is supposed to be published - depending on 

what politics take over - but it is saying that the heart of the prevention of youth offending is giving people 

better education outcomes, because that gives them the social bonds and the learning that there is a different 

way to earn their living than the crime route, real choices.  So there is a whole raft of stuff around there that 

we could explore further. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  If I can go back to the other side for a minute now, knife-carrying: has it significantly 

increased?  What are the drivers for why more kids are carrying knives than there used to be?  Was it always a 

problem or has it got worse and why has that happened? 

 

Matt Watson (Service Manager, Integrated Gangs Unit, City of Westminster):  Just a little point from 

me, I just want to sort of back up what we have heard from our police colleagues.  From ourselves, we know 

that reporting has changed quite dramatically, so we know that the police will arrest, they will charge with the 

highest one possible or arrest with the highest charge possible and then those charges get dropped, so it is 

very difficult to get behind some of those statistics.  But from our point of view in Westminster, I have said it, 

but the schism between groups and the increased focus on the drugs market means that people can split up 

very, very quickly with their former alliances, something changes and so you get battles between two groups 

over territory. 

 

There is something also about the technology.  We were talking about the use of social networking and I just 

want to point out, I suppose, that a lot of these crimes are around what they call burner phones, so you have 

got a big kind of disproportion of very high-tech people using quite key videos to promote their own interests, 

then below that you have got the burner phones, which hold all the numbers for the key clients, the drugs, 

which get passed between each other and obviously there is quite a lot of violence involved sometimes to get 

hold of those. 

 

Page 25



 

 
 

Graham Robb (Youth Justice and Education Consultant):  I cannot give you statistics on “is there more 

knife-carrying going on”, but without doubt, some of the imagery around - are they called Zombie knives? - 

these enormous knives, you get into a sort of vicious circle of a dialogue about what is the latest weapon.  

Years ago, lots of schools were putting in knife arches and doing weapon searches and so on.  Now, because of 

all the prevention work and other things, that has changed, but what is happening now appears to be people 

being able to order these really nasty knives over the internet, there is no prevention of them coming into the 

country and children can get hold of them remarkably easily.  That is a very frightening feature. 

 

We may come back to this later on: I was with a young man on Tuesday who had been arrested by the police 

for carrying a weapon.  He is 14 and he is in all sorts of trouble at school.  His life is probably going to get 

better now because of the interventions that were going on.  “Why did you carry the knife?”  “Because I was 

scared.”  “What were you scared of?”  “I do not know, but I just thought I ought to carry the knife.”  It is that 

sort of thing that then leads to the incidents that you deal with and others have talked about earlier on.  Is 

there a culture where more people think they need to carry knives for safety?  Absolutely there is.  Are they 

getting access to really much more serious weaponry?  Yes, they are.  Yes, that is my perception. 

 

John Poyton (Chief Executive, Redthread):  I think that we have seen some of the images, and Duncan 

and I have seen some of the knives that the police have taken off young people and I do not think that those 

are the sorts of knives that all of the young people are carrying.  I think those create the fear that we all fear 

when we have seen some of the pictures of them.  I think from the A&E point of view, we are concerned about 

the young people as well who are being stabbed by the cheap IKEA kitchen knife or the comb or the 

screwdriver, and I think in that sense the Zombie knives bring a fear factor problem for the community, for the 

young people if those are seen, probably on social media and so on as much as in real life, because they are 

not particularly easy to conceal, are they?  But we need to look at how we continue to encourage young 

people not to go and pick up the paring knife.  We have young people who come through often - the other 

night at King’s [Hospital] - and get stitched up because they were, at 2.00am in the morning, cutting up an 

apple, apparently.  But it is about ensuring that those young people do not feel the need to do that really easy 

access knife as well as buying something else from Amazon or wherever. 

 

Commander Duncan Ball (Specialist Crime & Operations - Gangs & Organised Crime, MPS):  I do 

think you can get a snowball effect as well, so if you do have an increase in violence or an increase in stabbing, 

that then creates that environment of insecurity for the younger person and therefore they are more likely to 

take a knife out and therefore they are more likely to use it and so it goes on.  I think of concern - and I cannot 

answer the question directly in terms of are there more knives in circulation - what I can say is last year we saw 

quite a significant increase in knife injury victims under 25.  That has flattened out over the last year and we 

are now at less levels over the last 12 months than we were previously, but we also recover a huge amount of 

weapons from sweeps that we do in public areas around estates, so these are not all being kept in the home, 

obviously they are being left in local areas where people can pick them up and where they can use them. 

 

Clearly, we have seen the secondary legislation now around the two strikes and you can get six months.  

Obviously the application of that is a different issue, but some of that can potentially have an impact on 

whether people are physically likely to carry them themselves, but the underlying question, I think it is that 

moment when you leave the house.  On the whole, the vast, vast majority of stabbings are by kitchen knives, 

ones that are readily there in the home, not the trophy knives that we see quite often on social media and 

elsewhere.  But it is that decision, what makes you pick up a knife and what makes you pick up a knife from 

somewhere in a recreation ground, so I think that is the sort of question and it is the environment that causes 

people to pick them up. 

 

Page 26



 

 
 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  OK, thank you.  Again, a very good session, particularly on the issue, the 

landscape, the drivers of the problem.  We would like to move now to the next set of questions, which are 

around disruption, enforcement and diversion, how we can actually address the problems.   

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Deputy Chair):  This carries on from where Assembly Member Dismore left off, carrying 

of knives and so on.  I want to ask Commander Ball and Chief Superintendent Stringer very specifically about 

stop and search.  Now, I do not want to go into all the arguments for and against; those arguments have been 

well-rehearsed.  From my experience in east London, operations done properly and so on have a better impact.  

What is your thinking?  Where are we now? 

 

Commander Duncan Ball (Specialist Crime & Operations - Gangs & Organised Crime, MPS):  In terms 

of stop and search? 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Deputy Chair):  Yes. 

 

Commander Duncan Ball (Specialist Crime & Operations - Gangs & Organised Crime, MPS):  

Obviously without going into the information behind it, as you said, we have seen a significant drop-off.  I 

think the most important thing for me in terms of leading a lot of the knife activity around the MPS is making 

sure that we provide the right tools to officers to do stop and search, because clearly we are well aware of the 

impact that it has on communities, we are well aware of the confidence issue and if we are using it unfairly, 

that then makes people less likely to come forward to report crimes and to deal with this stuff and act as 

witnesses and so on and so forth that we discussed earlier. 

 

I think the key point is making sure that we are agile, that we are picking up on intelligence to say where knife 

crime is happening.  We are working with our partners, because we have to realise that not all the data that we 

will have around that comes from police sources so, obviously, it is looking at some of the information-sharing 

agreements as well as working with the health trusts as well to identify where the hotspots are for knife crime.  

I think if you have dynamic data that is accurate you can build your intelligence picture on the back of it.  I 

think stop and search is absolutely critical to the MPS’s enforcement around knife crime and we do know you 

recover a significant amount of weapons through that. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Deputy Chair):  You answered my point.  So you are not going to let political 

correctness hold you back? 

 

Commander Duncan Ball (Specialist Crime & Operations - Gangs & Organised Crime, MPS):  No. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Deputy Chair):  Just a couple more questions then.  Chief Superintendent Stringer, very 

specifically at a borough level, how does your approach to dealing with this issue differ depending whether it is 

gang-related or not?  Is there any specific sort of impact? 

 

Chief Superintendent Dave Stringer (Borough Commander for Sutton, MPS):  If I first give you an idea 

as to my current borough, my current borough would not consider itself to have a gang problem. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Deputy Chair):  Just talking generally, from experience. 

 

Chief Superintendent Dave Stringer (Borough Commander for Sutton, MPS):  Generally, I think we can 

get a bit hung up on whether it is a gang issue or not.  The fact is if there is young people out there looking to 

harm each other, then many of the tools we will use will be the same: we will have after-school patrols to make 

Page 27



 

 
 

sure people are safe after school; we will do stop and search; if need be, we will use search operations.  Every 

borough gets involved in Operation Sceptre, which is around looking at where knife crime happens most during 

the year and we have targeted enforcement activity.  Every borough will do things like test purchase 

operations, so I would caution against us thinking actually if it is gang related or not then there is a particular 

different way of dealing with it.  It might need more resources and a slightly broader partnership, but let me 

assure you, violence involving young people is treated seriously across London, and actually boroughs do not 

deal with it particularly differently depending on whether it is gang-related or not. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Deputy Chair):  Can I just come back to the point, your borough, do you still do test 

purchases or test purchases operations jointly with the council?  Because my understanding is because of cuts, 

most boroughs in London have stopped their teams -- 

 

Chief Superintendent Dave Stringer (Borough Commander for Sutton, MPS):  My understanding is 

that every borough does test purchase operations in London.  Certainly the whole of the MPS did test 

purchase operations during the last Operation Sceptre.  I cannot answer for who exactly they all went along 

with.  What I can say is that every borough did test purchase operations. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Deputy Chair):  If I could ask you, Matt and Graham, what in your opinion is the most 

effective tool to tackle serious youth violence, disruption, enforcement, diversion or a combination of all 

three?  But what would the emphasis be in light of your experiences with the rise over the last two years? 

 

Graham Robb (Youth Justice and Education Consultant):  I might start at top level and then see if we 

can go down.  One of the things that has been really useful in the last few years have been two groups of 

youth offending teams in north-east London and south-east London called the resettlement consortia - they 

were partly funded by MOPAC and partly supported by the Youth Justice Board - because what it recognised is 

that a child does not recognise a borough border, they will move around a lot.  These resettlement consortia 

have collectively invested in some really significant developments, things like trauma-informed practice and 

various other bits.  So I think that is one answer.  There is a three-level response here.  There is what we can do 

London-wise; there is what we can do sub-regionally and there is what happens at local level. 

 

The second thing, I will dive down into some of the detail.  It has got to be that mixture of enforcement, but I 

would say enforcement can stop the behaviour, but it is then what happens afterwards to give the child the 

other routes out of repeating the offending, so to say again, access into education, access into all the support 

is an obvious one.  One thing we have not particularly talked about is restorative practice has a role here, only 

a bit of a role - restorative justice, as it is known  - and that can be the way in which a young person suddenly 

decides they do not want to go down that route any more.  That is what happened to that young boy I was 

talking about the other night, because he suddenly saw the impact of his behaviour on his mother.  That is 

what is called a referral order process through youth offending teams.  I am fairly confident that he is going to 

change his life for the better.  So there are tactics like that that youth offending teams, local authorities, the 

police, the schools use.  It is, as has been said several times, what is the right one for the right child.  That boy 

was very responsive, because in the right context, with his mother and father and supported professionally, he 

could see that he needed to make some changes. 

 

Matt Watson (Service Manager, Integrated Gangs Unit, City of Westminster):  Yes, I could not 

disagree with any of that.  From our point of view within Westminster, it is about getting a very good 

understanding of the local dynamics, so these relationships can ebb and flow and break very, very quickly and 

understanding those is really crucial on a day-to-day basis.  For example, within our team we share information 

on a daily basis about young people who have come to the police’s attention, information that has come 

Page 28



 

 
 

through the community, so that we can quickly know where young people are active.  For example, right now, 

just before I came in the room, we were arranging to do some outreach outside a school where there have been 

reported assaults over the last couple of days.  We are going to be doing five days of outreach exactly around 

there.  So it is quick moments like that where you can identify local problems quickly and respond quickly to 

them, so being flexible and having that sort of relationship. 

 

David Kennedy [Criminologist] from the States [United Stated of America] said it is about organisational 

change if you want to affect communities, so that the police, youth services, social work, criminal behaviour 

order people all need to be working together on this.  For example, we have got a number of criminal 

behaviour orders on young people, but the reason that they are going to be effective is because we know the 

associations they have, we know the places that they frequent and we have got strong relationships in the 

community, so if we hear of those breaches we can enforce on that.  But I would agree that enforcement is 

only a sort of short gap to that.  What we really need is to understand for those young people what is going to 

make a big difference for them.  We have got a young person who is probably our most likely young person to 

be killed or kill somebody about two years ago and now he is working and he is doing really well.  That takes 

quite a lot of sustained support and dedication from gangs workers, from employment coaches and all of those 

being aware of what those difficulties are, so getting them in the right placement, in the right job, which is not 

going to be putting him in further conflict and problems.  So all of those things are quite critical.  I do not 

know if that helps.  

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  Just following on from that in terms of looking at some of the enforcement, I am a 

life-long Brixton resident, growing up slap-bang on one of the key estates.  I think growing up that every other 

year I can remember, one police operation or another, announcements coming out about what the MPS are 

doing to try to deter gangs, whether it is trying to address violent youth crime.  To you, Commander and Chief 

Superintendent, in terms of some of the operations being announced by the police where, as you know, 

Operation Shield was not met with a lot of support in both Lambeth and Haringey.  I think sometimes there is a 

lack of communication between what the police are doing with the communities and sometimes misinformation 

about the goals and outcomes we are seeking to achieve and the fact that with some of these operations, the 

money attached to it is actually quite small in terms of dealing with the challenges, notwithstanding the MPS’s 

issues around budget.  But would you say that looking at the lack of trust between the community and the 

police is a big problem in some of these operations that we see being announced from time to time? 

 

Commander Duncan Ball (Specialist Crime & Operations - Gangs & Organised Crime, MPS):  I think it 

is fundamental.  The question is does a community or do parts of a community have confidence and trust in 

police to be able to do what we do?  That is absolutely integral to making something a success, because as 

part of that - we have said it a couple of times - we are not going to enforce our way out of anything.  Yes, we 

can have a significant impact and we have had a big impact over the last year in terms of our enforcement 

activity across the MPS.  That will not be sustainable and that will not solve the underlying problems, so we 

need to make sure, as an organisation, and with our partners as well, that we do have the full confidence of 

communities, because when we walk away from our operations, it is the community that is there. 

 

Whatever community you are from, it is the community that is going provide guidance for the young people, it 

is the parents, it is the aunties and uncles.  So there is always going to be that sort of guiding hand for young 

people that are more likely to be involved in violence, but I think also with that as well, it is making sure that 

through that increase in trust and confidence that that is where you get your people that are willing to come 

forward and say, “I have got information that such a such person has got a gun or they are dealing drugs” and 

then we are able to work to obviously tackle that.  So I could not agree more, that whole issue of trust and 

confidence is absolutely key to this particular issue. 

Page 29



 

 
 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  Apologies, this may be sensitive information, but before any new operation is 

announced, how involved are those communities in terms of designing that with the police? 

 

Commander Duncan Ball (Specialist Crime & Operations - Gangs & Organised Crime, MPS):  Clearly I 

cannot talk about individual operations, but if I gave you a particular example, so within the last six weeks, we 

have launched Operation Viper, which is to tackle gun crime.  At the moment we are targeting our highest five 

boroughs for the increase in lethal barrel discharges, so naturally that involves some overt police activity there, 

which is a step up in terms of what would happen with day-to-day business.  So Trident would not go into that 

borough without a community impact assessment with the Operation Viper teams, so we work together with 

the borough commander, with the local authority and those key local people that the local borough 

commanders identify in the local authority, because they are the best people in the best position to do that.  

Then we look at that community impact assessment. 

 

In this format, I cannot explain what it is, but there is something that we had planned to do this week that on 

the back of some community engagement we had decided to put out to another time and do it in a slightly 

different way.  So I think that is an example where we are very alive to that matter, we are very conscious of 

the impact, particularly in certain communities as well, that that brings and where we can do that.  Clearly if 

there is a threat to life issue, then we have other obligations to fulfil, but where we can manage that with the 

community, we do always seek to do so. 

 

Chief Superintendent Dave Stringer (Borough Commander for Sutton, MPS):  Certainly having been a 

Borough Commander for five years now on three different boroughs, in terms of how I think we have 

developed, I cannot conceive now of an operation being carried out on a borough without a community impact 

assessment and without me knowing about it and me being fully involved.  I think that has got much, much 

better.  In terms of overall community engagement though, I think one of the things we do struggle with on 

every borough, I think, is getting the right representation in the right places. 

 

I have not been to the Lambeth Independent Advisory Group for years now, but I do not know how much 

representation there is of young people and of young voices on that Independent Advisory Group.  Part of the 

work I was doing in my previous role was trying to get many more young people - because this is the topic that 

we are talking about - on to Safer Neighbourhood Boards, on to fora where those key decisions are being 

made about where to do things and when to do things, actually young people are properly consulted.  I think, 

yes, the police can do that on our own and we do through schools officers and youth engagement officers, but 

it is much better when it is done in that much broader partnership forum. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  I think the only additional thing I would add is about sometimes the need to always 

make sure you have got people on these different boards.  I would say sometimes you do need to look at 

different ways, so massive engagement with the schools and youth clubs, and not always necessarily wanting 

young people to attend your meetings, but making sure you attend their meetings.  So we have a very active 

youth council in Lambeth, which I am sure other boroughs do, and we have a youth mayor scheme.  Our young 

people presented at full council yesterday and the key issue that came up for those young people was mental 

health and racial discrimination, so issues which do have an impact on serious violent youth crime.  So it is 

about looking at different ways to do things, which I am sure you are doing anyway, but always pushing those 

boundaries and not always going to the known community leaders, who do not speak for the majority of those 

young people.  So in essence, I would say in terms of looking at future operations going forward, making sure 

you do get wholehearted support from the community to make sure they are successful. 

 

Page 30



 

 
 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  I will come in on that.  The work that we have done with Safer 

Neighbourhood Boards over the last four years has been difficult, because it has been identifying true leaders, 

people who are not just self-appointed representatives, because to get what we all want - and I do not think 

you are ever going to get wholehearted support - but if you get the nearest you possibly can, you have got to 

be able to work with the right people in a landscape that is shifting all the time, and I think that is always a 

challenge.  I know Lambeth are doing some really good pieces of work on that.   

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Deputy Chair):  Just carrying on, my colleagues referred to the Shield project.  The idea 

behind this was imported from America, and particularly in view of what is going on there right now, but do 

you think it is useful to draw comparisons between our problems here and those in the States, the different 

sort of social issues and so forth, or not different social issues, but different political environment?  Should we 

be taking lessons from a country where the relations between the police and the communities are under even 

more strain than here? 

 

Commander Duncan Ball (Specialist Crime & Operations - Gangs & Organised Crime, MPS):  Last time 

I was here, I think we had quite a lively discussion on it as well.  Matt might want to say something after I have 

spoken, because Matt was at Westminster and obviously involved and I think his experiences were perhaps 

different to how they were at Lambeth and at Haringey.  I think the first thing to say about Shield is the 

underlying principle has got to be 100% right, which is to stop people committing violence and to get them 

out of a violent lifestyle.  In terms of that, I do not think that can really be argued with.  I think the challenge is 

then how you bring over a process within America, where it has potentially different issues than we have here 

in London and how then you move that across.  But I think the key thing is taking the principles rather than 

the detail of how something has operated. 

 

As you are aware, Shield ran for a year and I think there are two key bits of learning for everybody that was 

involved.  Coming back to the point that was just made, I think the first thing is the need to get  the 

community involved right at the outset, so rather than it being a project or an initiative that is imposed on 

other people by the authorities, by the police, by the local authorities in particular.  Every community is 

London is different, so the challenges in Westminster are different to challenges in Haringey and different to 

the challenges in Lambeth.  So it is how you then develop something that is relevant to those communities and 

you can only do that by having those early conversations. 

 

I think the second key bit of learning for me around it that everybody has probably universally picked up on is 

how the messages are communicated around Shield, because some of the terms around it were quite technical, 

they could have been misinterpreted and that is probably down to the communications around it.  Perhaps I 

think in the future if MOPAC were to do something similar, we probably need to look at that to see how that 

would work next time.  But I think on the positive side, there have been good experiences.  In Westminster, 

which Matt can cover, I think there is good learning from it, so I think what we need to do is look at the 

evaluation that then comes out from MOPAC, pick out the areas that could be improved, pick out the good 

points as well and then to look at how different London boroughs in future, if they want to, as a local 

partnership, then take this issue forward.  I know Brent have done some work around this.  So on the whole, I 

think there is some really positive learning from it that can be taken forward.  I know Matt has probably got 

quite a different view than the Haringey and Lambeth experiences. 

 

Matt Watson (Service Manager, Integrated Gangs Unit, City of Westminster):  Yes, so in Westminster 

we were put forward for the Shield pilot.  I suppose the big difference for us was that in 2009, when we had 

25% cuts in services, we had already gone to our local communities, young people, service providers, our staff 

and schools and asked them what they wanted to keep and what they wanted to focus on if we were going to 

Page 31



 

 
 

lose quite a lot of services.  We had been told that they wanted to keep a focus on youth violence and gang 

crime at that point.  So we kind of had a mandate to go forward and put this Integrated Gangs Unit in place, so 

a kind of collocated unit with six different agencies, support, police, enforcement, Child and Adolescent Mental 

Health Services (CAMHS), mental health all in one space.  When Shield came along, it was an opportunity for 

us to look at something slightly differently.  There were some real challenges along the way.  I will not go into 

all of them, but one of the key ones was exactly what you pointed out, that the model was specific to America 

and there are now very particular ways of dealing with crime, and I take the point that is not always 

successfully, when I look at some of the stats there and think, “Why are we using a model from America?” 

 

But one of the things that was really helpful was to, yes, get us all focused on the right message, so our 

disparate bits of the community with different solutions.  I suppose one of the things that Shield did was to 

say, “We may have different solutions and we may have different ideas, but we have got the ask, which is let’s 

stop the violence”.  That was incredibly powerful.  To get members of the community - we had Lorraine Jones 

from Lambeth, we had Elroy [Palmer] from the St Giles Trust and we have got our St Giles work within the 

team, local youth workers, mums and dads, and indeed, Jess Riddell, a superintendent in the MPS - and to get 

all of them giving that very, very same message, very personal, very heartfelt messages about their experiences 

of young people dying, of the impact on families and how professionals deal with that was incredibly powerful 

and you could feel it in the room.  Young people left the room because it was very, very emotional and 

obviously they were supported outside of that. 

 

So it also, I think, helped us see that whilst you can try to help young people extricate themselves from a 

group, which is an incredibly difficult thing to do if you are born and brought up there and you have got loads 

of friends there, you can also look at that whole group and ask them to be policing themselves.  One of the 

key principles - I think I mentioned it earlier - was even if you have got a group of young people who are 

involved in low-level crime or high-level crime, a very small minority of those are willing to go out and do the 

stabbing deed.  Most young people, a lot of those young people, even closely associated, would not want to 

be part of that.  It is an ask for them to check themselves as they are going about their business.  For us, it was 

really helpful and really productive but there were hurdles over the way.  As I say, it started off early.  We have 

been doing quite a lot of community liaison from a very early stage anyway so it is part and parcel of what we 

were doing within Westminster.   

 

Sian Berry AM:  Assembly Member Eshalomi also highlighted that we have a number of different operations 

going on at once, we have trials here and pilots here.  My question is related to what Len [Duvall AM] was say 

earlier on. Can someone outline what different operations there are going on about youth violence in London 

at the moment, just as a summary, and also outline how the effectiveness is being evaluated? 

 

Getting feedback from communities that are doing Shield is a really important thing in terms of the Shield 

evaluation but also getting feedback from communities who were not involved, as a control.  Is that ever 

done?  I know that when you responded to my colleague, Jenny Jones [former Assembly Member], in February 

2016, the response on the evaluation of Shield was in terms of, “So far we have made this many arrests”.  Is 

evaluation done in terms of estimates of the number of people diverted, for example, when you are talking 

about diversion? 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  If I can just leap in, that is a really good question.  On some of that you 

may wish to write to us because I sense a lot of detail underneath there because of the depth of the question.   

 

Sian Berry AM:  My point is that if it is not possible to outline it in a couple of paragraphs of speech, then 

there maybe are too many things going on and it is not possible to evaluate how effective each one is.   

Page 32



 

 
 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  Give us some headline comments and thoughts around that, and then 

comment whether you want to write to us in detail.   

 

Commander Duncan Ball (Specialist Crime & Operations - Gangs & Organised Crime, MPS):  Probably 

if I just jump in, if that is OK, on the Shield part, the whole initiative and project was led by MOPAC, you will 

be aware, and the evaluation is being conducted by the Evidence and Insight Team in MOPAC.  They are 

probably better to answer that question directly and clearly, as part of that evaluation that they will link into 

the local partnerships with the three boroughs.   

 

Sian Berry AM:  As I understand it, there are many other things occurring.  One is called Operation 

Makepeace, where firearms officers are able to go into schools.  The organisation of that seems to be fairly 

ad hoc.  Schools invite them in and they come in.  Is that being evaluated as an effective thing? Could it be 

rolled out?  

 

Is an assessment being done of positive versus negative messages? There is a photograph in our briefing of a 

poster that has been designed by police cadets.  It is of a bloody knife.  Is that an appropriate thing to put on a 

poster that people see? I know your interventions are hard-hitting, Matt, but they are in a controlled 

environment.  Like you said, people get support when they are triggered.  People with stress and  

post-traumatic stress, do they want to see pictures that are that graphic?  How is it being evaluated and tested 

within the police? That is my question. 

 

Chief Superintendent Dave Stringer (Borough Commander for Sutton, MPS):  Broadly, there are many 

things that are consistent across London.  There is a consistent schools programme.  The Safer Schools 

Partnership was evaluated a long time ago.  It was very successful on all kinds of measures.  However, as I am 

sure you will appreciate, we cannot tell schools which elements of that programme they will take.  It has to be 

a partnership between the school, students and the police as to what they feel they need and what we will 

deliver.  Pretty much anything that a school asks for, we will deliver.   

 

The programme as a whole has been evaluated.  Specifically around gangs and associated youth violence, there 

is a specific Trident programme that is run across schools.  That has been evaluated.  The students who have 

received that said their perception of the dangers, their perception of the risks and their perception of the 

police wanting to do something for them has improved.  That is really good.  As I say, it has to be a completely 

willing partnership between the school and the police in terms of what we deliver.  As I say, the programmes 

are consistent but there has to be that partnership as to what the schools invite us in to do. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  I am conscious some of these questions are also in the next session’s 

Prevent piece, particularly that poster.  It may be useful for you to write to us around some detail about the 

historic operations, because we do not want to necessarily have full details about what you are undertaking 

currently, and also about the evaluation, which is a fair point, around effectiveness.   

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Deputy Chairman):  This is for the police officers.  Where issues arise and you have a 

misunderstanding between the police and young people - I have an example before me that I am not going to 

read out, a secondary school student being detained and so on before the misunderstanding, of course, 

eventually cleared up - what procedures are in place? It is not an isolated example.  There are many such 

examples, people not being aware of their rights and so on.   

 

Page 33



 

 
 

Where you have it wrong or you have the wrong person, what is the follow-up procedure? Does the education 

liaison in schools make young people aware of their rights, being able to take down the police officer’s 

number, for instance, and so on? What sort of thinking, going into the future, are you going to devote to this 

particular area? 

 

Chief Superintendent Dave Stringer (Borough Commander for Sutton, MPS):  As I say, we have a 

comprehensive school programme.  We have about 300 officers whose job is solely to engage with young 

people.  We cover over 500 schools in London.  That is the majority of mainstream secondary schools.  Every 

school in London two years ago was asked if they wanted to have a police officer working with them.   

 

In terms of what we talk to young people about, stop and search would probably be the main area that I would 

guess there would be misunderstandings or complaints about.  That is definitely one of the core areas that we 

talk to young people about.  The vast majority of young people in London should have had a presentation - 

provided obviously that their school is happy for that to happen - in school around stop and search.  Part of 

that is explaining to them exactly what their rights are.  Many young people also get the opportunity to take 

part in a stop and search scenario whereby the police officer plays the young person and the young person 

plays the police officer.  That has been ongoing for quite some time now.   

 

Len Duvall AM:  If I can come back, a question to Commander Ball.  You said earlier - and I am a great 

believer in that - that things work differently in different parts of London depending on the issues.  There is a 

degree of consistency.  If I go into Sutton, I would expect to have the same treatment if I was in Greenwich or 

Lewisham, to a degree, or an understanding of the processes.  The Commissioner [Sir Bernard Hogan-Howe 

QPM, Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis] has said that you think some enforcement and diversion could 

be done in a much more consistent way across the city.  What in particular needs to be done, from your point 

of view, around the policing of London and particularly this area of violent crime among young people? Where 

do you want to achieve greater consistency? What is the conversation going on in the MPS about that? 

 

Commander Duncan Ball (Specialist Crime & Operations - Gangs & Organised Crime, MPS):  We 

talked about the prevention and the work in schools but going forward it is on the enforcement side, 

particularly around gangs, knives and guns.  That is something that I have been driving forward for the last 

year.  If you look back to June last year, effectively we had a 22% increase of knife injury victims under 25.  I 

was not entirely convinced that the join-up was as good as it could be between the local gangs units that are 

based in local boroughs, and Trident.  We have done a number of things.  Part of that is taking very much a 

pan-London view.   

 

We run what we call the Gangs Operating Model.  It is a police document so it is not for public dissemination 

but that effectively provides the local gangs unit with a number of areas that it needs to focus on so we have 

consistency, for example in the approach to partnership meetings.  Clearly everyone will be different according 

to whichever local authority it is.  It will have an approach in terms of how we manage our most dangerous 

nominals around the matrix.  It will have a number of ways and suggestions as to how we then manage our 

operations, based on previous learning.  That is a key thing for having that consistency.   

 

The second part is every three weeks I chair a gang and crime fighter’s meeting with all of the gangs boroughs 

across the MPS, Trident and all the specialist resources.  At that, we look at what all the issues are that are 

happening across the MPS and we look at good practice.  There is plenty of good practice going on in certain 

boroughs that might not be picked up elsewhere.  We are able to use that and we are able to then disseminate 

that as well.   

 

Page 34



 

 
 

The third part in terms of that consistency is we have 24/7 scanning in terms of gang violence across the MPS.  

If, for example, there were a stabbing in Lambeth we would look at what the likely impact of that is, not only in 

terms of dealing with the investigation and the immediate safeguarding of that juvenile but also to see how we 

can bring other resources in the MPS in to make sure that we have an effective suppression approach.  By 

scanning that across the MPS, live time, we are then able to make sure that we have dedicated resources.  That 

has been the whole principle behind [Operation] Teal.  In terms of the proof in the pudding, that 22% increase 

is now a 2% decrease.  It has had quite a big impact over the last 12 months.   

 

Len Duvall AM:  On Operations Teal and Sceptre, you have been successful in taking hundreds of weapons 

off London’s streets and making over 9,000 arrests.  What has been the impact of the seizure of the weapons 

and the scale on serious youth violence? Can you relate that - I know it is not the only one but it is the 

traditional one - to sanction detections? Are they going up or are they going down around serious youth 

violence? What is the impact in terms of these operations?  

 

Can I just say - it is a strange thing - in our briefing, we have that you are planning a future operation? That is 

for February of next year on one of those issues.  I am not saying it is a seasonal crime but as Game of Thrones 

says, “Winter is coming”, the fear for the police is that summer is coming, is it not? Shouldn’t those operations 

be timed around those periods rather than in February when, depending on rain and winter, there will be lots 

of people not on the streets but doing their plotting elsewhere? Is that not the case? There is a lot there, I 

know. 

 

Commander Duncan Ball (Specialist Crime & Operations - Gangs & Organised Crime, MPS):  There 

are probably three questions there that you have raised.  I will deal with them in reverse order.   

 

On the question about the operation in February 2017, I have not obviously seen that particular brief.  What I 

can say is that there will be an operation in February, I have no doubt, but what we done is we have looked at 

where our seasonal peaks are in terms of knife crime.  If you look, the summer is an area of concern for us.  

Notting Hill [Carnival] potentially is an issue.  Half-terms are an issue as well.  What we do is we plot those 

areas where there are potentially increases in knife crime - that will be through to the February half-term as 

well - and then we would run an Operation Sceptre.   

 

What that looks like is that is not just gang-related, it is knife crime-related.  It would include all 32 boroughs 

across the MPS.  We put out fairly consistent tactics that we expect boroughs to operate for the whole seven 

days.  That will include things like weapon sweeps, targeting your most prolific knife crime offenders and 

making sure that nobody is committing offences on bail if they are a knife crime offender.  We do tend to 

dictate essentially the raft of tactics that will be used for that. 

 

To answer your question, yes, there will be one in February 2017, but there will be others throughout the year.  

We have run five of those and in each of those five weeks that we have run so far we have seen some quite 

significant drops, in some weeks up to 40% or 50% in terms of knife crime.  That is bringing all the MPS’s 

resources and dedicated focus for a week’s period.  That hopefully answers that question. 

 

On the second part around the sanction detection rates, I could write to you if that is OK, Chair, just around 

the sanction detection rates.  One of the points to make is that with our young people that are involved in 

gangs we do not have a huge amount of co-operation in terms of prosecution.  We have to do a lot of 

confidence-building because gangs bring that extra dynamic around retribution and people potentially having 

to go back into communities.  We do work with conflict management and local authorities to see whether 

young people can be removed from their community.  It is not just a police lead on that but we work as part of 

Page 35



 

 
 

that partnership.  It is a challenge in terms of people who are willing effectively to sign a statement and go to 

court.  Sometimes well over half are unwilling to assist any prosecution.   

 

My third point, which was your first point, is around the potential impact of all the work over the last year.  The 

indicators that we look at in terms of the MPS with knife crime around the cohort that we are targeting for 

gangs is the knife injury victims under 25.  I mentioned we were sitting on a 22% increase for the previous 

12 months.  We have now stopped that increase and it is now heading on a slight decline.  It is minus 2% at 

the moment.  In terms of the 22% being turned around over a 12-month period, I would argue that is a quite 

significant impact for all that enforcement activity that has happened across the MPS. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  Thank you. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  We will move on now to prevention.  We have gone through the 

landscape, causes, disruption and heard about some operations around enforcement, but clearly one of the 

aims of the criminal justice system should be around prevention first.   

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  We have touched on some of these points going back to some of the campaigns.  I 

just wanted to pick up the “Choose your life, not a knife” campaign, which was launched only this year in May.  

Have you seen any impact on the back of that, or is it too early? 

 

Chief Superintendent Dave Stringer (Borough Commander for Sutton, MPS):  It is far too early to say.  

One of the important things about that is that it is a campaign that was generated by young people for other 

young people.  That kind of campaign is much longer-term about changing the willingness of young people to 

get involved in gangs and get involved in carrying knives.  I would not expect that to have an immediate 

impact.  What I expect of that and ad campaigns like that is to have an impact locally over the much longer 

term in terms of people’s willingness to carry knives. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  Again, we touched earlier on the whole use of social media.  What resources do the 

MPS have in terms of monitoring some of those? You do see some gangs openly advertising what they are 

doing.  About a year and a half ago, there were so many videos posted up on YouTube.  There was an 

incident - I am trying to remember, it may have been in London - where a young boy was stabbed and the 

other young people there were recording it.  What resources do the MPS have to tackle some issues on social 

media? 

 

Commander Duncan Ball (Specialist Crime & Operations - Gangs & Organised Crime, MPS):  

Obviously, we recognise social media is a huge issue.  One of the challenges is the dynamic nature of it as well.  

There are certain platforms that are used, certain platforms that are not used.  John [Poyton] mentioned 

Periscope as well.  We are seeing increases in that recently.  We do undertake some scanning around that, 

particularly with gang violence.  What we try to do to the best of our ability is to look where violence is 

happening and whether, if we are scanning what has been reported to police and we are able to look at some 

social media as well, we can overlay the two.   

 

The most important thing is that it can be used as a proactive way to try to suppress further violence.  If from a 

social media picture it is clear that there is going to be some revenge or another attack that gives us an 

opportunity to suppress it.  The other aspect is we can also use that evidentially as part of the reaction 

investigation.   

 

Page 36



 

 
 

The real challenge is that I cannot sit here and say to you, “We know what is happening completely on social 

media”.  It is just too big.  It is a process that we are working through.  It is one that we are putting more 

resources into.  Really, the challenge in terms of dealing with that social media aspect is being able to pick up 

on what those incidents are in the first place.  Again, with communities, if we have that confidence, coming 

back to the point we raised earlier, there are lots of people on social media.  Are people seeing those things? 

Do they have the confidence to report back to local police? If they do, then we can obviously act on that.   

 

We do know that gang videos can precipitate gang violence and we do a lot of work around that.  We have had 

a case where we have had an individual who has waved a gun in a gang video and has been prosecuted.  We 

actively look at that.  We are well aware of the implications for further violence and obviously we do take 

action where we can, but I do not underestimate the challenge of finding it on social media in the first place. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  The other side of that - you touched on it briefly - is around using social media as a 

tool in terms of anti-violence campaigns.  To what extent do you see the MPS developing that a bit more? 

 

Commander Duncan Ball (Specialist Crime & Operations - Gangs & Organised Crime, MPS):  We are 

doing some work at the moment trying to find the best messages and the best format clearly to do that.  We 

know not everybody is going to log on to the MPS Twitter website and look at prevention messages.  It is 

getting into the right areas where young people are going to go, it is getting the right pop-ups, it is getting 

the right means by which people are then going to listen to the message and from people that they are going 

to listen to.  Some people might listen to me and other people will not have an interest in terms of what comes 

out of my mouth but there are other people who are influential in communities, for example people in the 

music industry.  It is how we tap into that.  I have met quite a few people recently on that and we do have 

some thoughts about how we could develop it.  If we can get the right people to give the right messages, that 

is a critical part.   

 

Florence Eshalomi AM:  That is helpful. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  If I can go back, I would like to hear from the non-police panel members, if that is OK, on my 

question earlier about the positive versus negative messages and how effective each might be in terms of 

intervention.   

 

Matt Watson (Service Manager, Integrated Gangs Unit, City of Westminster):  We do not routinely use 

shock and awe.  We tend to use more positive messages with our young people.  Let us put it that way.  Yes, 

we will talk about consequences.  Very often these are not consequences that you need to lay out to the 

young people that we work with because they are consequences that they have seen a lot for themselves 

anyway.  They will have seen people stabbed, they will have had their doors come through and the police will 

have done warrants on their addresses.  They will know people who have gone into custody and they will know 

people who have been seriously injured or killed.  We do not find it necessary, particularly with our client 

group, to give lots of messages around that stuff.  When we go into schools and do more early intervention 

and prevention campaigns, again it is more about some of the risks and causes.  That image is quite worrying.   

 

Having said all of that, I suppose young people are routinely watching violence on television and seeing 

violence in other images so I am not sure how massive an effect that is going to have, given the amount of 

violence that people are exposed to anyway.  Our messages will be how to extricate yourself from that but we 

do use similar things around, “Any part on the body can kill you”, those sorts of messages around the stab map 

of the body and those things.   

 

Page 37



 

 
 

John Poyton (Chief Executive, Redthread):  Certainly, for the young people that we are working with in 

crisis, in that teachable moment what seems to be very effective, involving and motivating for young people is 

not for the youth workers to focus on all of the problems and all of the gore.  There are plenty of people 

focusing on the problem, i.e. the doctors or nurses who are fixing the hole or the laceration that they have 

come in with.  It is great for them to focus on that.   

 

For the young people it is about looking to the future, not us spending a whole heap of time talking to them 

about why they are here, how they got here and all of the problems.  We work in partnership with social care, 

perhaps, and with the police to support that young person but for the young person, they are motivated to 

work towards the solutions and the positive, preferred future they want to have, not that they have perhaps 

been caught up in.  That is the really effective message.   

 

I agree with Matt certainly that if we are talking about early intervention and education messages; the gory 

images are not the best ones to use.  We do not want to traumatise young people.  We are aware that with the 

adverse childhood experiences that those young people might have had and the trauma that they might have 

experienced, that could certainly be counterintuitive or just go over their head because they are so involved.   

 

If we go into schools and the young people happen to see pictures with a normal clinical environment, not with 

any of the patients or the blood or anything like that, just thinking about their health and something so stark 

and strange - it is very alien to look at a resuscitation bay, for example - starts to come home with young 

people who maybe have not experienced that.  They start to think a little bit.  “That is very different.  I do not 

want to understand that”.  That is where the health messages come in and are really good at engaging young 

people, not just talking about the knife but needing to think about the whole holistic being, from mental 

health all the way through.  It is a really positive message. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Graham, earlier on you said the reason someone said they were carrying a knife was because 

they were frightened.  The negative messages may just reinforce that.   

 

Graham Robb (Youth Justice and Education Consultant):  Absolutely.  It is forward-looking.  You have to 

give children a view of a future that is better than the past that they have just come through.  That is 

absolutely key.   

 

The other thing to say is what agencies and schools know that they could do that would help in this. There is a 

lot of stuff that is out there.  Project Oracle, which the GLA supported, and various other programmes told us 

not to use something called Scared Straight because it actually has the opposite effect.  How do we get people 

who commission services, to use that word, to know what to do with young people in crisis? It is not that we 

need to do more of that, we just need to share it around so that people make better decisions. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Just on the points we were making earlier on violence more generally, focusing on the knife 

and the worst-case scenario, I am a child of the 1980s.  I grew up with “Just say no”, which is quite, “You will 

die if you take drugs”.  Possibly to try to change the culture we need to work with violence in a more holistic 

way. 

 

Graham Robb (Youth Justice and Education Consultant):  Absolutely.  Just to go back to that little story 

of the young man again, what made the difference to him was the relationship to his mother.  It is the social 

bond bit.  That was what was going to change his life because suddenly he sees the impact of what he might 

go down and do.  It was not so much what might happen with the knife, it is the social networks that he would 

have impacted and the harm he caused to his mother as well.   

Page 38



 

 
 

 

John Poyton (Chief Executive, Redthread):  Certainly, I agree.  The growing trill of the “Just say no” issue 

is not very helpful for young people.  In the same way for the knives, if we make a big deal about it; there was 

an awful lot of media around 2008 around knife-carrying.  It probably got out to media, rather than just the 

news.  That meant it was much more prolific on the television and more young people probably saw those 

messages.  I have a concern that that meant more young people saw all this as a problem and were probably 

more scared and probably more likely to want to defend themselves.   

 

That is anecdotal and subjective but yes, it has to be how we talk to young people about how they choose the 

decisions they make and why they decide to go to the drawer to pick out a knife before they go out, rather 

than just, “Do not carry knives” or, “Do not do drugs”.   

 

Sian Berry AM:  Thank you.  I have some questions here about the care of victims, essentially.  Do we focus 

enough in London on victims when we are dealing with serious youth violence, do you think? 

 

Graham Robb (Youth Justice and Education Consultant):  Absolutely not.  There are all sorts of victim 

strategies and victim commissioners and so on but we are still not getting particularly to young people who 

have been victims of harm to help them understand what services are available to help them.  I know work is 

going on about that.  That is very welcome.   

 

The danger of a criminal justice system is that it inevitably tends to focus on the perpetrator because we are 

protecting the law, but the victim role in this is absolutely key.  Perhaps I will send it as an email, but there is a 

document about somebody who was a victim of knife crime going through a restorative justice  process and 

talking about the benefits to him of that.   

 

I just want to go back to the point about young people who are not picked up as victims and dealt with.  We 

have to find ways of enabling them to have better access to support, otherwise they are the ones experiencing 

the trauma with the consequential effect on their psychology and development and the risks that they put 

themselves in.  Victim work is key. 

 

Matt Watson (Service Manager, Integrated Gangs Unit, City of Westminster):  I would just say all of 

the young people we work with are victims.  The majority of the young people we describe as ‘violent and 

vulnerable’.  They may start off as being vulnerable and then end up - it is not every victim of crime who does 

that - but every single one of our clients has been stabbed or otherwise hurt.  It is sometimes recognising that, 

not seeing them simply as the perpetrator but recognising other aspects as well and helping them work 

through that. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Is there a link between being a victim and going on to becoming an offender? 

 

Matt Watson (Service Manager, Integrated Gangs Unit, City of Westminster):  Yes.  Not an immediate 

consequence, not just cause and effect, but among the young people that we are working with, yes, we have 

young people who have been stabbed nine or 10 times on separate occasions of multiple stabbings. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  I want to ask some questions of John about your work with victims.  Do you often see repeat 

victimisation or offending within your centres? 

 

John Poyton (Chief Executive, Redthread):  We certainly do.  We are very aware that evidence seems to 

point to the fact that if a young person becomes a victim of a weapon-related injury, they are very likely to 

Page 39



 

 
 

continue to be revictimised.  Obviously, our ultimate aim is to prevent the next attendance.  Again, we are 

really pleased to work with Matt’s team, for example, when we have that opportunity to continue to work with 

a young person who has been stabbed on numerous occasions and thankfully is still there to be worked with.   

 

It is why we are really keen to work sooner, not just pick up the kids who are most seriously injured and have 

just become victims of major trauma from a medical point of view, because we know we want it to be sooner 

upstream and hopefully prevent the worsening of that cycle of injury.  All the young people who come to us, 

we are working with as victims.  We recognise that there is a link with young people who are victimised and, if 

we do not manage to support them and stop that victimisation, they may become perpetrators of violence.   

 

On the commissioning point, there has been some innovative commissioning over the last couple of years.  The 

MOPAC commissioning with the Ministry of Justice Victims Fund was a case in point of looking at starting to 

not just use victims’ funding just to treat work with pure victims but recognising the perpetrators, young 

people who are caught up in perhaps risky behaviour or offending behaviour are also victims and I think, for us, 

and like Matt said, totally agree, we are working with all of these young people from that point of view.  We 

may not use the word “victim” when we are sitting by their bedside and talking to them because, for a young 

man, that might be somewhat emasculating, but it is that solution-focused approach and recognising that 

young people will engage with that rather than just being seen as, “You are here, it is your fault that you are 

here”. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Does your work involve the preventative side, involve engaging with some of the young 

people who are around the victims that you see, can you reach out in that way? 

 

John Poyton (Chief Executive, Redthread):  It certainly does in that these young people will often have 

their friends, obviously want to come and be at the hospital and I cannot say that we have the resource to be 

able to then do that as effectively as I would like to, because Redthread’s approach, I think the work in 

particular is about not duplicating any other services, it is about relationally referring and linking those young 

people up to the services that are already commissioned in those young people’s communities and on those 

young people’s doorsteps, Westminster young people, to link them in with the Integrated Gangs Unit is really 

key for example.  We would love to do more work with the peers.  I think, again, taking a solution-focused 

approach, one of the key things that needs to be improved on is probably working with the wider group.  

When we talk about the networks that work with the young person, we are often just talking about 

professional networks, and we look at all the services that know those young people, actually we need to look 

at young person who may be a victim and look and include the family, the non-professional network of 

support, and the peers are key to that.  We can create much more sustainable support for a young person and 

reduce the likelihood of them coming back through in crisis again if we work with the peers to support each 

other. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  All of that, what you just said, was largely things that local authorities do.  Is there enough 

follow-up work done, following on from an intervention? 

 

Matt Watson (Service Manager, Integrated Gangs Unit, City of Westminster):  I cannot talk generally 

for local authorities, however lots of the work that we do is around mediation, therefore, yes, with all the 

information that we have and all the data collection and everything else, what you really need are a credible 

trusted workforce who are able to engage with young people, who are able to build a relationship, who know 

the other young people out there, who know those groups of young people, so are then very helpful.  With 

Redthread we have very strong relationships and we can be aware of the groups of young people who are 

coming in.  We can be aware of the tensions between those different groups.  We held a mediation session 

Page 40



 

 
 

yesterday.  That is the kind of work that we do as a matter of course.  Also, because we know some of the key 

players, the more influential parties, we may be often able to get messages down from somebody who may be 

in a position to be basically ordering certain people to be victimised and stop it from that place as well. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  We have a question that I think it might be useful to write to us about 

because I am conscious we have one more question we want to explore, the new Mayor and MOPAC and what 

sort of action [they should take], so I think we need to spend some time on that.  The last question, which was 

around restorative justice, which is quite a broad subject, and I might ask colleagues to write to us with their 

thoughts around that.   

 

Len Duvall AM:  It is remarkable that we have got this far into the session and we have not talked about 

alcohol and its role in terms of violence issues.  Very quickly, do you think we have got the prevention side of 

that bit right, the violence piece on alcohol, and is there more we can do?  I am happy to take that in writing. 

 

Secondly, I think some of the work with offenders is resensitising them to the hurt and pain they cause, 

therefore what desensitises people?  If we are told, on some sex-related crimes - and particularly about young 

people - that pornography can be a factor, I am not saying it is the cause of it, however in terms of working 

someone up to cause offending behaviour, what role do violent games [play], violence pieces that almost say 

that you can hurt someone but really there is not an impact from the hurt caused?  Is that sort of the 

desensitising?  That is what makes people hurt other people.  The situation, we have heard about some of the 

issues around gangs and territories and understanding what you need to do to protect your trade, if that is as 

simple as that, but what about the cause of hurt around that?  What is the work that is being done about that 

that desensitises someone, that someone says, “I would rather use, in terms of anger, rather than defuse the 

situation and walk away, I am going to hurt somebody”, or, “I am going to take a weapon and hurt somebody 

to cause a maximum amount of harm”.  It might be that I want to, because I might not think of what the 

consequences are, I might not set out that I want to take you out, but I definitely want to hurt you in some 

way because that is what it is about.  What role do we think that plays in terms of some of the people that you 

work with and is there some preventative work?  Of course parents worry about these issues, however we live 

in a society, I am not a prude, however there is an issue about do we need to take this into account when 

trying to look at some of the issues of prevention around some of these issues of young men - because it is 

predominantly young men - who are becoming violent.  It is a small minority; it is not all our young men; 

however they are having an adverse impact on our communities. 

 

John Poyton (Chief Executive, Redthread):  Empathy, the understanding for a young person about how to 

empathise, or the ability to empathise, is probably one of the key concerns, if we are talking about young 

people who are growing up with a number of adverse childhood experiences and are traumatised young 

people, the likelihood is that they often do not have the ability to empathise and they are often in a very 

heightened state of that fright or fight and live very much in that anxiety state and do not get that 

opportunity - as we do perhaps - of an evening to sit back and reflect.  If they do not have that ability to 

reflect or to empathise or to think about what the cause and effect is of their actions, then we obviously have a 

real issue there, because they do not have that ability to think about what they are doing to someone else and 

how that would make them feel. 

 

I think that the reason that I am so pleased to do the work we do and to work in partnership with all of the 

partners around the table is that teachable moment when a young person suddenly, after perhaps years of not 

empathising and not stopping being anxious and heightened, is stuck in a hospital bed and that is often - for 

the first time perhaps in a long time - a moment for them to reflect, to empathise with themselves to begin 

with, because pain is a catalyst to think about things differently.  Graham, I think you probably have -- 

Page 41



 

 
 

 

Graham Robb (Youth Justice and Education Consultant):  I think that is brilliant.  The other factor in 

here, which is a more immediate one, is the pressure of others on a child to carry a knife for whatever purpose 

and proving status and all of those sorts of things.  However it is empathy and it is helping children find a 

language and develop the language skills to express emotions in ways they have not before.  You do this in 

your work, some of the stuff that I am involved in does the same thing, suddenly you have a different way to 

express the emotion and taking the time for reflection is key. 

 

John Poyton (Chief Executive, Redthread):  Yesterday we were just talking about this with the Deputy 

Mayor for Policing and Crime, with a number of other organisations, about knife crime.  It is about partnership 

with organisations that are doing the earlier work with schools and the fact that this is not just about tackling it 

here, as I think we have all probably referenced, it is about looking at early intervention much further down the 

line with much younger children and hopefully being able to do some of that trauma-informed work much 

earlier on. 

 

Matt Watson (Service Manager, Integrated Gangs Unit, City of Westminster):  I think that is right.  

Also there are sometimes things that can just tip people over into that.  I know a number of our young people 

who have come out of nowhere, they were perfectly all right, and then they are 17 or 18 years old and a couple 

of cases I can think of recently, dads died, and that has just been the point where things have just got to that 

point where they cannot contain that anymore and, yes, they lose that empathy, they lose that ability to be 

able to negotiate their feelings, and maybe they burst out a little bit.  However, you are right, the basic sort of 

groundwork laid in early childhood is really important as well, but there are other key events that can trigger 

and can impact.  That is why it is really important that I suppose those kinds of interventions are based around 

therapeutic intervention so that workers are not constantly forced into very programmatic ways of dealing with 

young people, very kind of, “Take you through a programme, we’re going to do X, Y, Z”.  They have to be able 

to be able to listen to young people, they have to pay particular attention to the words that they are using and 

have an opportunity to discuss that with supervisors and clinical supervision and that gives you the best 

opportunity to be able to do something meaningful for somebody with those sorts of issues. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  Chairman, we might follow up with some more written questions about some of that earlier-

years, before we forget some of that. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  Yes, I think you are right, I think there have probably been many 

thoughtful papers written just on this subject alone, probably by Graham, several papers no doubt.  Perhaps 

you would like colleagues to write to us on that and I think Len’s point was good around alcohol because we 

are in danger of going down a route to think that knife crime, drugs trade, etc, etc, where I noted earlier that 

less than half was knife crimes.  There is other violence going on with young people and what is the dynamic 

around that. 

 

This is an important part of the morning, or afternoon now, which is the expectations of the new Mayor and 

MOPAC.  This is very timely of course that we have a new Mayor who had a manifesto pledge recognising the 

seriousness of serious youth violence.  Yesterday, was very timely making a commitment to investment of 

£400,000, which I think is good.  As I said earlier, declaring the fact that he is going to have a summit in 

October 2016, which is always a good thing.  It is high on the political agenda. 

 

During the course of the year there will be a new Police and Crime Plan.  This Committee has an input, very 

much so, into it, as you do you.  What we want to do is to garner your thoughts around what your expectation 

Page 42



 

 
 

would be of the Mayor and of MOPAC going forward in this subject.  We will want to capture that and then 

translate that into the work that we are doing later. 

 

So, colleagues, what would you like to see from the new Mayor, other than more money for John probably, 

which is good.  What would you like to see the new Mayor and MOPAC introducing and carrying forward in the 

next four years? 

 

Commander Duncan Ball (Specialist Crime & Operations - Gangs & Organised Crime, MPS):  I think 

just from my perspective obviously I welcome anything that puts the whole debate in the public agenda as 

well, because I think for me there are probably two key bits going forward.  I think this is something that we 

are collectively getting better at, the first bit, but it is just recognising this link between vulnerability and 

violence as well, particularly when we come to the serious end with gangs as well.  We have the right approach 

that links the best within the local partnerships that links up the very first points we were talking about in 

terms of the missing people, child sexual exploitation, all the factors that may have links into violence, into the 

serious youth violence picture.  It is making sure that all of those agencies and organisations across London - 

not just your traditional ones - are seen as having part of the solution. 

 

I think the second bit for me is, from a police perspective, we very much rely on the goodwill of our partners, 

some relationships are absolutely fantastic and there is a clear shared way to go forward.  I think just picking 

up [the point], Graham mentioned earlier, for example, there might be some schools that are very much in the 

area of, “Yes, we want to co-operate and deal with this”, others perhaps less so.  There is a variation; there will 

always be a variation across London, however I do think where the Mayor and MOPAC can bring that 

additional influence - that we as individuals cannot - I think that has to be a positive thing in terms of how we 

tackle the violence coming up. 

 

Matt Watson (Service Manager, Integrated Gangs Unit, City of Westminster):  Echoed, as we have 

talked about partnership for the whole meeting, I think that really needs to be emphasised that there needs to 

be a direction for people.  There is not one agency that is going to resolve these issues, these problems, it 

needs a concerted effort.  We need to be able to share information safely, wisely, but we do need to be able to 

share it to understand the problems we are dealing with. 

 

The other bit for me is about sustainability I suppose.  We have talked about the credible trusted workers who 

understand the environment.  That is not something that you can write a quick job description for and 

somebody pops up; that is not the way it works.  We are really concerned about the impact of funding changes 

across London in local authorities and MOPAC because we are going to lose people that we will not be able to 

replace quickly; that would be our one. 

 

Also I suppose more of a recognition that, again, regardless of all the data we pull out, it is the engagement 

process, therefore less emphasis upon massive case management ideas and oversight and strategies, and more 

recognition that, unless you have people who are able to engage, who are able to sustain those relationships, 

you will not have anything to analyse or discuss in the other meetings. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  I anticipated a plea around funding for local authorities because we 

pointed out earlier, with the partnership work, you have been losing resource over a period of years.  We have 

a change in Prime Minister, perhaps a change in direction around austerity; you never know your luck.   

 

Graham Robb (Youth Justice and Education Consultant):  I will not repeat things that have already been 

said, but just to finesse a couple of those points.  In the schools engagement, we must not forget that some of 

Page 43



 

 
 

the most vulnerable youngsters are in pupil referral units or in alternative provision and they are often the ones 

that do not engage there as well and are most vulnerable; therefore I think that is a key point. 

 

The vulnerability issue we have mentioned already.  I think this issue of community capacity to manage 

conflicts and work with partners is key and we should explore that more perhaps another time, and into that 

goes the families’ ability to respond and manage conflict.  I would say restorative justice has a role in this, a 

specific role for victims, and has a reoffending function as well. 

 

I really welcome the focus in the last few years on violence against women and girls.  I wonder whether there is 

something else that we need to be doing about violence involving young men and boys, because a lot of it is 

known, but have we really focused on young men and boys sufficiently?  I do not know the answer; it is just a 

hypothesis. 

 

Then just do not forget public environments, because that is where most of these incidents happen, the public 

environments with risk can be managed in different ways, part of that is policing, part of it is community 

safety, part of it is community. 

 

John Poyton (Chief Executive, Redthread):  As you said, it has been brilliantly timely to have been able to 

host the Mayor and the Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime yesterday with my colleagues at Imperial [College 

London] and great to see the commitment there already.  I am certainly very supportive and, as we mentioned, 

Caroline’s [Pidgeon MBE AM] brilliant report into knife crime and one of her top 10 recommendations was to 

roll out our model to all 28 A&E departments across London which I think would go a long way to supporting 

young victims of violence. 

 

I am also really keen to see the inclusion of my health colleagues within this wider conversation and I think 

that, when we are talking about the earlier years and the earlier interventions, my GP colleagues, for example, 

are working with families from day one, when those children arrive on the scene, and with those families.  I 

think there is a wealth of knowledge for those who need support in our communities from our primary care 

colleagues. 

 

Certainly, our Well Centre model in Streatham works very well and Matt and colleagues in Westminster and 

across the northwest and I have been looking at what is there and what works brilliantly and what is missing 

between, for example, our work at St Mary’s [Hospital] and in the community and where could we get GPs and 

CAMHS and others involved.  That public health approach to violence is really key to bring in a number of 

other partners, but also potentially a number of other commissioners to the table, and I think that is a really 

good future for London’s young people. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  That is very helpful.   

 

Keith Prince AM:  Just a very quick question, and it is to John.  It is about your A&E intervention programme 

that you just referred to.  What do you think it would cost to roll that out across London? 

 

John Poyton (Chief Executive, Redthread):  A very good question, I will probably have to write to you with 

my sums. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  A ballpark [figure] today, I will not hold you to it. 

 

Page 44



 

 
 

John Poyton (Chief Executive, Redthread):  I think it is very much about looking at the data, the numbers 

of young people coming in and what do we want to be doing.  In one sense, it is not about the youth workers 

in the A&E department doing all of that work and becoming the long-term key workers.  I totally agree with 

Matt that these young people need a long-term piece of work.  It is about a relationship with these young 

people, it is about building rapport and supporting them in the long term, not with just very short 

interventions.  I think putting youth workers in the A&E departments to be that short-term teachable moment 

intervention is key.  It would be great to see one youth worker per hospital or to do hub and spoke from the 

major trauma centres to outreach to the local A&E departments.  I do not have a figure for all 28; however it 

would be reasonably easy to roll that out with how much it costs to employ a youth worker. 

 

The key to making sure that worked would be to ensure that there is then a really good relationship with the 

teams working in those A&Es to their local borough partners, as there is with Matt’s team and the team at 

St Mary’s [Hospital].  So that does not really answer your question about how much it would cost. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  You would have a good job as a Mayor then I think; he is very good at not answering 

questions as well!  Perhaps we could meet and discuss it. 

 

John Poyton (Chief Executive, Redthread):  Yes. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  Thank you very much, a very useful morning.  There are actions to be 

continued.  This Committee will continue looking at this work.  I would like to thank you very much for 

attending today. 

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

MINUTES 
 

Meeting: Police and Crime Committee 
Date: Tuesday 19 July 2016 
Time: 10.00 am 
Place: Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 

Walk, London, SE1 2AA 
 
Copies of the minutes may be found at:  
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/police-and-crime-committee 

  

 
Present: 
 
Steve O'Connell AM (Chairman) 
Unmesh Desai AM (Deputy Chair) 
Jennette Arnold OBE AM 
Kemi Badenoch AM 
Sian Berry AM 
Andrew Dismore AM 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM 
Keith Prince AM 
Peter Whittle AM 
 
 

1   Apologies for Absence and Chairman's Announcements (Item 1) 

 

1.1 Apologies for absence were received on behalf of Len Duvall AM, and Florence Eshalomi AM, 

for whom Jennette Arnold OBE AM attended as a substitute. 

 
 
2   Declarations of Interests (Item 2) 

 

2.1 During the discussion at item 4 on the agenda (Question and Answer Session with the 

Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime and the Metropolitan Police Service), Jennette Arnold 

OBE AM declared a non-pecuniary interest as a patron of the UK Association of Forensic 

Nurses (UKAFN). 

 

 

Page 47

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/police-and-crime-committee


Greater London Authority 
Police and Crime Committee 

Tuesday 19 July 2016 

 

 
 

 

2.2 Resolved: 

 

(a) That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, be noted as disclosable pecuniary interests.  

 

(b) That Jennette Arnold OBE AM’s non-pecuniary interest as a patron of the 

UKAFN, be noted. 

 
 
3   Summary List of Actions (Item 3) 

 

3.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

3.2 Resolved: 
 

That the ongoing and completed actions arising from the previous meetings of the 

Committee, as listed in the report, be noted. 

 
 
4   Question and Answer Session with the Mayor's Office for Policing and 

Crime and the Metropolitan Police Service (Item 4) 

 

4.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat as background to 

the question and answer session with the Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime (MOPAC) 

and the Metropolitan Police Service (MPS). 

 

4.2 The Chairman welcomed the following guests to the meeting: 

 Sophie Linden, Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime; and 

 Craig Mackey QPM, Deputy Commissioner, MPS. 

 

4.3 A transcript of the discussion is attached at Appendix 1. 

 

4.4 During the course of the discussion the Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime undertook to: 

 Provide the number of hate crimes in London reported to the British Transport Police 

and City of London Police since the European Union (EU) referendum; and 

 Notify the Committee of the outcome of MOPAC’s meetings regarding the closure of 

HMP Holloway. 

 

4.5 During the course of the discussion the Deputy Commissioner, MPS, undertook to: 

 Provide a breakdown of the types of hate crime offences committed since the EU 

referendum, including: 

Page 48



Greater London Authority 
Police and Crime Committee 

Tuesday 19 July 2016 

 

 
 

 

o By hate crime type; 

o A further breakdown of the broad racist and religious hate crime type if possible; 

and  

o By the number of offences taking place online or offline;  

 Provide data on what was known about alleged offenders of hate crime, for example 

age; 

 Confirm whether any profiling on perpetrators or alleged offenders had been 

undertaken by the MPS; 

 Provide a breakdown of from where the 500 supervisory posts within the MPS were 

being lost; 

 Confirm how much the MPS received of the £34 million in national funding for 

firearms officers; 

 Provide a summary of the types of claims against the MPS and whether they had 

increased, and confirm the MPS budget for claims; 

 Provide the current workforce target for custody nurses and confirm whether that had 

changed since 2013; 

 Inform the Committee as to whether the Civil Aviation Authority’s guidelines to the 

MPS for helicopter flights over London were published; 

 Inform the Committee when a risk assessment was last undertaken for the MPS’s 

bomb disposal vehicles and the age of the vehicles; and 

 Provide an update on the number of police officers who had been trained in using 

unmanned aerial vehicles (drones). 

 

4.6 In addition, the Deputy Commissioner, MPS, undertook to consider: 

 Whether Safer Neighbourhood Officers could do more to engage with elders and 

representatives of Black, Asian and Minority ethnic communities to make it clear that 

the MPS had arrested 400 people since 24 June 2016 and to encourage anyone in their 

communities who experienced hate crime to report it to an elder, community 

representative, trusted adult or the police; and   

 Whether the grade for the post of custody nurse was appropriate or whether it needed 

regrading in order to attract nurses with the skills that were required. 

 

4.7 At the end of the discussion the Chairman thanked the guests for their attendance and 

helpful contributions. 

 

4.8 The Chairman also took the opportunity to thank Helen Bailey, MOPAC’s Chief Operating 

Officer, on behalf of the Committee, for her contributions to the Committee’s work during 

her time at MOPAC, as this would be her last meeting of the Committee.   

Page 49



Greater London Authority 
Police and Crime Committee 

Tuesday 19 July 2016 

 

 
 

 

 

4.9 Resolved: 

 

(a) That the monthly report from the Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime, 

attached at Appendix 1 of the report, be noted. 

 

(b) That the report and answers given by the Deputy Mayor for Policing and 

Crime and the MPS to the questions asked by Members be noted and that 

the Chairman write to the guests with the follow up action. 

 
 
5   Police and Crime Committee Work Programme (Item 5) 

 

5.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

5.2 Resolved: 

 

(a) That the work programme as set out in the report be noted. 

 

(b) That authority be delegated to the Chairman, in consultation with party 

Group Lead Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM to agree arrangements 

for a site visit in September 2016 to the Metropolitan Police Service’s 

Specialist Training Centre at Gravesend to observe training on public order 

training. 
 

(c) That, in relation to urgent matters only, a general delegation of authority in 

respect of the Committee’s powers and functions (apart from those that 

cannot under the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 be 

delegated) to the Chairman of the Committee, in consultation with party 

Group Lead Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, from the close of the 

meeting until the next meeting of the Committee, scheduled for 

8 September 2016, be agreed. 

 
 
6   Date of Next Meeting (Item 6) 

 

6.1 The date of the next meeting was scheduled for Thursday, 8 September 2016 at 10am in the 

Chamber, City Hall. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 50



Greater London Authority 
Police and Crime Committee 

Tuesday 19 July 2016 

 

 
 

 

7   Any Other Business the Chairman Considers Urgent (Item 7) 

 

7.1 There was no other business the Chairman considered urgent. 

 
 
8   Close of Meeting  

 

8.1 The meeting ended at 12.05 pm. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
    

Chairman  Date 
 
Contact Officer: Joanna Brown or Teresa Young; Telephone: 020 7983 6559;  

Email: joanna.brown@london.gov.uk/teresa.young@london.gov.uk;  
Minicom: 020 7983 4458 

 

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Appendix 1 
 

Police and Crime Committee – 19 July 2016 
 

Transcript of Agenda Item 4 – Question and Answer Session with the Mayor’s Office 
for Policing and Crime and the Metropolitan Police Service 

 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  Now we will move into the main part of the morning, which is the 

question-and-answer (Q&A) session with the Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime (MOPAC) and the 

Metropolitan Police Service (MPS).  Again, welcome, Sophie [Linden, Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime] 

and Craig [Mackey QPM, Deputy Commissioner, MPS].  We appreciate your time in coming here this morning.  

You have had the submission of questions. 

 

The first question and subject matter is very timely, which is around hate crime.  We touched upon this at the 

last Q&A, but we wanted to invest it more fully this morning.  Clearly, there is the context of the recent rise in 

incidents of hate crime following the United Kingdom’s (UK) decision to leave the European Union (EU), but 

also the context of something like a 70% increase over three or four years in all hate crime.  It is a complicated 

subject.  Regrettably, there are many examples and definitions of different kinds of hate crime and this 

morning it would be useful to explore those. 

 

We are pleased that Mayor Khan has already announced initiatives around this to tackle hate crime, particularly 

around schools and on the transport network.  In fairness, MOPAC had addressed hate crime over previous 

years and in December 2014 MOPAC published London’s first Hate Crime Reduction Strategy, but we are in a 

new place now and there is this worrying trend.  We are conscious of the increase and we need to explore that 

with the questions that we will lead on. 

 

First of all, to you, Deputy Commissioner, can you provide an update on the level of hate crime in London in 

the last month? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Yes, of course, Chairman.  

Thank you. 

 

We have seen an increase in both reporting of incidents and hate crime.  To give you an idea of what that 

looks like, prior to 24 June 2016 and the referendum, we were running at about 25 to 50 offences per day as 

background reporting across London.  Since that date, we have seen that rise to a range of 57 to 78 per day.  

Since the referendum, it is up about 10% in terms of those incidents. 

 

In terms of proactive activity that has gone on, since 21 June 2016 we have made 400 arrests in relation to 

these offences and so we have seen a background rise.  That has slowed again over the last couple of days.  

We monitor it on a daily basis.  As you said, actually hidden beneath it is quite a complex picture of different 

types of crime that are moving.  There are overall hate crime rises, some rises in both anti-Semitic and  

anti-Islamic hate crime.  All of these are intolerable acts.  It does appear that post the referendum it unleashed 

something in people and they felt able to do things that - let us be really clear - are illegal and we will take 

action when they do it.  When those incidents and those crimes occur, we will deal with them.  With a figure 

approaching 400 arrests since 24 June 2016, it shows how seriously we are taking this because it goes to the 

heart of the community cohesion in London that we all value and support and is part of what makes London 

the great place that it is. 

 

Page 53



 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  Four hundred arrests is a significant amount, but in isolation what is the 

context of 400?  Is that significantly higher than what you would expect to see over a month? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Because we have seen a 

higher level of reporting, we have seen those arrests rise as well with that.  We have seen a higher level of 

incidents across the piece and a higher level of crime. 

 

As you say, there are some quite complex - and I am sure we will get into them - definitional issues around 

this, around incidents, crimes and then some of those offences where we talk about religiously or racially 

aggravated offences.  The law is quite clear on some of those things and so I am happy to explore those. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  Around increasing enforcement of incidents, what additional actions are 

you taking and are you asking the local Borough Commanders to take?  What additional actions are they doing 

that they perhaps may not have been doing one or two months ago? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  It is much more around 

focus.  The important thing with this - and you touched on it with the work done on previous strategies and 

those sorts of things - is that if you just start looking at this when it becomes a problem, you do not have any 

of the established mechanisms to be able to understand it, support it and investigate it.  As a number of 

colleagues will know, we have about 900 dedicated officers in our Community Safety Units across the London 

boroughs who do hate crime investigation.  Put Brexit to one side and go back to 2012, 2011, 2010, 2013 and 

2014.  That is just what they would do as part of their role.  They would do these sorts of investigations when 

they get passed to them and when they get reported.  That is absolutely what they do. 

 

What we have done post this is to put in place all of our networks from independent advisory groups, from our 

own internal staff associations, from our internal networks, everyone from the Association of Muslim Police to 

the National Black Police Association.  We have a huge network of people both within the organisation and 

externally whom we can tap into to say, “What is happening?  What is going on?  Please tell us things”. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  On Sunday night [17 July 2016] I was at an Eid event and one of my 

boroughs had an officer specifically with the title of Interfaith Co-ordinator -- 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Yes. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  -- which I thought was really interesting.  I had not heard of that before.  

Is that something that you are encouraging in the boroughs? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Absolutely, and boroughs 

will do particular initiatives and that is the great thing about the richness of London.  It is very hard at the 

centre in New Scotland Yard to say, “You must do this model”.  Communities vary across London and people 

will work with different communities.  You will know of some of the established working we do with the Jewish 

communities in parts of London and other established working with the Somali community.  It will be different 

depending on the boroughs’ needs.  The flexibility and encouragement is there for Borough Commanders to be 

able to do that. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  In pursuing the point on communities, you have mentioned a couple of 

communities.  Are there other specific communities?  Tell us about the sorts of communities that you are 

actively talking to at the moment. 

 

Page 54



 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  It covers the whole range of 

London communities.  If you look at everything from the Polish community to Eastern European communities 

and new entrants, we are talking to everybody who feels remotely affected by this to try to establish what the 

true scale of it is and to encourage people to tell us when things happen, be that at an incident level, a crime 

level, all the way through. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  Could I just add to that?  It is not just a role for 

the police to be talking to the communities, important though that is.  It is also a role for us as politicians and 

leaders in communities to be reaching out to communities.  The Mayor and I have written to schools, we have 

written to businesses and we have written to the voluntary sector. 

 

I have also been talking to London Citizens and the Migrant and Refugee Forum that meets here at the Greater 

London Authority in City Hall to make sure that they understand and know what the routes are for reporting 

and the importance of reaching out to communities to give them confidence to report and to show that 

harassment on the streets and hate crime is absolutely intolerable and they should have the confidence to 

come forward.  The police can give that message, but everybody needs to give that message.  We have been 

working with the British Transport Police (BTP) and Transport for London (TfL) to do that as well. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  I have a couple of questions on the statistics, just following on from what you said, 

Sophie, about working with the BTP and so forth.  Craig has given us the figure of 400 arrests and also the 

number of offences reported to the MPS.  Do we have the numbers for the BTP?  Are they including those or 

are they separate and to be added on? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  That is a good question.  I do 

not know the answer to that. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  They are separate.  The BTP’s are separate and I 

have asked for the BTP figures and I do have them.  They are much smaller than the MPS’s figures.  I just do 

not have them to hand. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  We would expect them to be smaller, but if we are going to get a true picture of what 

is going on in London we need to know what is happening in the BTP and also for that matter in the City [of 

London Police], where I presume again there are probably fewer offences.  We do need to have a 

comprehensive figure both for offences and for arrests. 

 

I presume it is too early to look at sanction detection rates sanction detection rates yet, but it would also be 

helpful to have some sanction detection rates in due course. 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Yes, you are absolutely right 

and we will need to follow sanction detection rates and real outcomes for people because this is a thing where 

courts and prosecutors have certain additional powers and you would want to be reassured, as we do, that 

those are being used where it is appropriate. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Sophie, you mentioned writing to schools and so forth.  They are about to go or have 

just gone on holiday.  Is that going to be repeated at the start of the autumn term? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  We are certainly going to get back into contact 

with schools at the start of the autumn term, not just on hate crime but also on other issues about keeping 

Page 55



 

 

young people safe, absolutely.  The letter went out before they went on holiday, although we were obviously 

very aware that they were about to break up and it was a busy time for them. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  It was very close to it, yes.  You have given us the numbers, Craig.  When something 

kicks off in the Middle East, we see a spike in anti-Semitism and often Islamophobia.  Do you have a 

breakdown of the sorts of offences since Brexit and in particular the communities that are being particularly 

targeted or is that not possible to say? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  I can do some of that.  The 

challenge is that it is quite general.  What I can do is I can talk about a pure rise in racist and religious hate 

crime, a pure rise in Islamophobia and a rise in anti-Semitism.  A large proportion of these are in terms of verbal 

and criminal damage, but there are some at the high end.  We have seen some assaults that amount to 

grievous bodily harm (GBH) -- 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Yes, but what I am particularly concerned about is whether as a result of this spike 

post Brexit we are seeing a particular impact on Eastern Europeans making the numbers go up or whether, as 

seems to be the evidence coming out certainly on social media, we are seeing a generic increase in race hate 

crime towards Asians or people from black and minority ethnic (BAME) communities more generally. 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Our data, whilst not 

empirically perfect - and we have to remember that ours is only reported data - supports your latter point.  It is 

towards Asians and people from BAME populations across London. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  It is a really good point to explore because part of the narrative is post 

the Brexit vote, which is understandable, but tragically there are several international terrorist events at the 

moment and they in themselves may provoke hate crime incidents.  We need to get underneath that dynamic 

as well. 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Yes.  The last spike we saw 

was in November 2015 post the Paris attack.  We watch these.  How it works in the MPS is that that data is 

available daily and is on a dashboard on our intranet that we can go into and interrogate.  As I said, it is not a 

perfect science in terms of crimes and incidents, but we can see trends that are much more indicative and then 

we can plot on it events.  People will remember the attack on the Jewish Museum in Brussels at the tail end of 

last year, the attack in Paris and then the attacks in Brussels.  We can plot all of these and can see an increased 

level of reporting and an increased level of real crime. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  We have focused on the prospective period.  In the week or two coming up to the 

referendum, were we seeing an increase then as well? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  There has been a steady 

increase rolling over a year, but we -- 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  The spike was post the referendum? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  The spike that we have seen 

is post 24 June 2016 and the referendum.  We have to be really careful with this dataset.  It is an incomplete 

dataset.  We can plot incidents and crimes that come through to the police.  I am aware that if we go and talk 

to many of the third-party agencies and local authorities across London, there is a much wider picture to this. 

 

Page 56



 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  If you look at the figures, before the referendum 

there were about 38 race hate reported incidents a day.  After the referendum, there are on average 64 a day.  

You can just see a clear shift, absolutely. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  I was just wanting to see if it was building up with the referendum or if it had 

suddenly gone up as a result. 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  The average has gone up 

quite dramatically. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  The average shows you that.  It does fluctuate a 

bit.  I have the figures here and they can be shared.  It does fluctuate a bit, but basically on average it has 

absolutely increased post the referendum. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  We will all take a very keen interest in tracking the figures as they go 

forward and try, if we can, to split out those that may be a direct result of June 2016 combined with other 

factors.   

 

Peter Whittle AM:  Good morning.  I have just a couple of factual things.  You mentioned that with the 

reported hate crime the majority of it was verbal.  Could you tell me how and what that includes in the sense of 

how much of it was oral or how much was written - presumably; I do not know - on social media?  What is the 

breakdown? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  I do not have it to that level 

of detail.  By all means, I can do.  I will get you something on how much of it is face-to-face and how much of 

it is done through electronic means.  I am sure that we have that data. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  That was something that I was going to ask about.  You talked about 

between 57 and 78 a day.  What would be interesting to investigate is the nature of the reporting because 

then we can send the message out to Londoners generally about how to report hate crime. 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Yes.  The vast majority of the 

stuff we are seeing reported is verbal abuse, public order and harassment-type offences.  I do not like the 

phrase “low-level” because none of this is low-level if you are a victim of it, but there are some high-end 

assaults.  They are a much, much smaller number.  I can absolutely get you how much of that is taking place in 

what I would call the public realm and how much is taking place in the electronic space.  I do not have that 

figure but I can get that breakdown for you. 

 

Peter Whittle AM:  Thank you.  My second question is - and perhaps it is not something you would do - 

about whether you collect any data or profile or whatever on the people who are doing these crimes.  We are 

talking about the victims of the crimes, but I just wondered.  Do you have - in terms of age, in terms of 

whatever - who is responsible for most of them or is that something that you just cannot say? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  We do have that data; we do 

not regularly publish it.  For those not familiar with the custody process, for every person who gets arrested 

who arrives at a custody unit, we know where they live in London, if they live in London, or we certainly know 

where they live or are resident.  We know their age.  We will probably know their occupation.  I do not have 

that broken down with me today, but certainly that sort of work is available. 

 

Page 57



 

 

We know the key night of the week, predominantly, is Saturday night.  We know the key nights of the week 

that these occur and we can profile.  Crimes and incidents have a temporal footprint and we can do the time of 

day and the predominant area of a borough or a town centre where they occur.  We can profile all of this and 

we do that as part of our targeting of it. 

 

I am not aware whether we have done work on profiling perpetrators or alleged offenders but I will have a look 

for you. 

 

Peter Whittle AM:  I would have thought that if one is going to try to tackle this, it is crucial, in a way.  We 

would do it with knife crime or with any other area, but this is a strange thing.  It seems that no one ever talks 

about who is doing it. 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  I do not disagree.  I suspect 

that there is probably not one profile for this, but that might be based more on gut instinct than on evidence 

and so I will check. 

 

Peter Whittle AM:  Thank you. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  This is both to the Deputy Commissioner and to the Deputy Mayor.  My colleague 

Andrew Boff AM did some work under #ReportHate and that showed that about 16% of hate crime was being 

reported.  I was just wondering whether we are doing any better than that now.  What do you both think we 

can do to encourage more people to report crime? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  We do not have a new estimate in terms of the 

figures for what I always call the iceberg underneath, but I am certainly really aware that - as with domestic 

violence - once people have got to the point that they are reporting, you still have a huge iceberg underneath.  

It is those people who are victims of hate crime and who are not reporting that we really need to get through 

to and give them confidence to report. 

 

It is about the messages that are coming out from the police, but also the messages coming out from trusted 

people that communities and individual families will listen to.  That will be headteachers in schools, community 

leaders, faith leaders, where people work, businesses.  Hate crime can be within a business premises.  We are 

spending quite a lot of time trying to reach out and communicate and talk to everybody who can give 

confidence to people to come forward and report hate crime. 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  As the Deputy Mayor said, I 

have not seen any new data.  I suspect that we might be 1% or 2% better.  I do not know.  The other question 

is whether the iceberg is bigger in terms of those sorts of things. 

 

What can we do about it?  I know that some colleagues will be aware of the Westminster and Hackney 

Community Alliance to Combat Hate (CATCH) project, which gets a number of groups together: the 

Community Security Trust, the GALOP (Gay London Police Monitoring Group), Tell MAMA (Measuring Anti-

Muslim Attacks), the monitoring group, Choice in Hackney, Wandsworth & Westminster Mind.  It brings people 

together to say, “What is out there?  What are we missing?  How, as the Deputy Mayor said, do we provide 

routes in?” 

 

It is like so many of these things.  To say that the only way to get this recognised is always to tell the police, 

whilst absolutely a laudable goal and something I would support, is not wholly realistic.  We have to have ways 

that people can come in through respected people and through people they trust and to build up the 

Page 58



 

 

confidence to come and talk to us and then pass that stuff on, even if it is passed on only in terms of that 

intelligence to build a picture of what is actually going on rather than people wanting us to investigate it. 

 

There is the CATCH project and the No Place for Hate Forum in Tower Hamlets.  There are some really good 

examples across London where people are trying to pull this in and understand how we get beyond 16%, 12%, 

18% or whatever the figure now is.  How do we get beyond that to understand it so that the correct priority 

can be given to this area of crime? 

 

Keith Prince AM:  What work are we doing online?  I understand that there was some talk about launching a 

national online hate crime unit.  I wondered where we were with that. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  We already have a hate crime reporting app and 

that is out there and is being used.  We are in the process of beginning work on online hate crime and I hope 

that we will be able to make some announcements on that shortly. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Do we have some timescales at all? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  Shortly.  Soon. 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  The MOPAC hate crime app 

was quite revolutionary when it was created and I would encourage people to use it. 

 

The other thing to do is to report it to service providers.  Many people will use their applications and the 

software is on there.  Report it.  Most of them now have a way of saying, “This conduct is unacceptable”, 

pressing a button, linking it or doing something.  The good providers will report it in if it is a crime and/or take 

the person off that particular thing.  Just because you are in cyberspace does not give you the right to break 

the law. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Deputy Mayor, have you met with any social media companies yet? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  No, I have not, but we are in contact with 

companies to talk to them about not just hate crime but online security, safety and safeguarding, absolutely. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Thank you. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  We have talked about the changing ways in which people are reporting.  

Perhaps, Deputy Commissioner, you can just remind us and the listeners out there how we may be able to 

report hate crime if we experience it.  Just run through the possibilities. 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  By all means.  First of all, it is 

a crime in action that is happening and there is a threat: 999.  Pick up the phone and call 999.  You have 101.  

You have Crimestoppers.  You have various groups who offer third-party reporting from your local authority or 

Citizens Advice Bureaux.  Most places will take a report and will pass it through to us.  I would urge people to 

use all of those.  Use a trusted person in your community, someone that you look up to, maybe a 

schoolteacher or someone like that.  There are a number of ways to get this in.  The MOPAC app is there.  

Virtually all of the websites of the organisations represented in this room will take a report.  Please use them 

and tell us. 

 

Page 59



 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  Before we move on, is there anything else that either the Deputy Mayor 

or the Deputy Commissioner can do or recommend to encourage more reporting?  Are there any gaps in the 

system that we can try to pursue to encourage more reporting at all or anything more that could be done? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  It is repeating the message all the time that hate 

crime is absolutely intolerable and nobody should have to put up with any type of abuse, harassment or even 

violence.  It is repeating that message and making sure that the message also comes across that the police are 

taking an absolutely zero-tolerance attitude to this.  The 400 arrests should, I hope, if that message gets out, 

give people the confidence that if they report it, it will be taken seriously and the police will take action. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  That is actually the key.  One of the messages out from today is that 

there have been 400 arrests and so, please, do report it with the confidence that it will be acted upon.   

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  One of the things I raised at the Plenary [London Assembly Plenary meeting, 6 July 

2016] was perhaps a tendency of elders from the BAME community to say, “We had all of this in the 1960s 

and 1970s.  It is the same old thing.  Do not bother reporting it”.  Is one thing that could be done for Safer 

Neighbourhood officers to go around elder groups from minority communities and emphasise the position to 

them? 

 

The other thing I raised at the Plenary was young people’s propensity to tell each other about things on social 

media but not necessary to tell you.  In fact, I sent a file of about 70 incidents to the Commissioner  

[Sir Bernard Hogan-Howe QPM, Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis] on the back of that.  Are we 

monitoring social media more effectively?  Secondly, is there a way that we could get the message out to 

young people, “Do not just text each other or Facebook each other.  Facebook us as well”, being the police? 

 

The last question: have we any idea of the scale of under-reporting? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  I wish I could answer the last 

question.  From the premise in the report done by one of your colleagues, the under-reporting is probably 

somewhere in the region of 80%.  It is a large level of under-reporting. 

 

On your one about monitoring social media, it is a whole different space and debate.  It is about how far 

communities want us to go in terms of monitoring and also about what we have powers to do.  Some of that 

routine monitoring of social media we cannot do.  We have no authority to do that.  If you would like to extend 

the legislation, although that might be a slightly more challenging debate, we could do some of that. 

 

Your question is a really good one and it does highlight some of the challenges we face in policing.  A lot of 

work and a lot of people’s lives and activities now take place in cyberspace.  We have concerns about the role 

of the state in that space.  Someone needs to square that circle and it is probably not for us in the police 

service to do that.  There is a right and proper debate about how much we can do in that space to be able to 

do it. 

 

Absolutely, the ability of individuals to tell each other is well recognised and I would urge those people just 

simply to tell an elder, tell a parent or tell someone else so that they can pass it on. 

 

On your idea about Safer Neighbourhoods and elder communities, yes, I will have a look at that.  It is a good 

idea. 

 

Page 60



 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  Can I just pick up on that?  Absolutely, a Safer 

Neighbourhood Team, or the dedicated ward officer going out and talking to the community and talking to the 

elders in the community whom they already know will help.  However, this is a long-term process and we really 

have to get to grips with this. 

 

In order to do that, it is coming back to real neighbourhood policing and increasing trust and confidence in the 

police.  We know that although trust and confidence in the police is about 67% or 68%, within that there are 

significant differences amongst different communities and different age groups.  In order to really tackle that, 

we need to have dedicated neighbourhood policing where they are building up those relationships.  It takes 

time to build relationships, especially when trying to break down some of the deep-rooted lack of trust in the 

police that some people have in the community.  In order to do that, we do need real neighbourhood policing.  

That will take time but I hope that as we carry on we will be able to make progress on that. 

 

Online there are the issues that the Deputy Commissioner highlights, but we are about to begin work on online 

hate crime, identifying and resourcing the ability of the MPS to really make some progress on that.  As we 

know, the online space is not just difficult in hate crime; it is also incredibly difficult for women with sexual 

harassment online and there are some very good campaigns ongoing on that.  We really do need to look at 

how we safeguard everyone online. 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  You asked, if I may, 

Chairman, a really important question: what more can we do?  The Deputy Mayor touched on it.  It is actually 

the role of all of us. 

 

If you look at some of the strength, only going on the stuff you have seen that usually comes up on social 

media and is reported back, when members of the community confront it when it happens, it has a really 

positive effect.  It sends a message that collectively we will not put up with this and it also then gives us, in 

practical terms, more witnesses and more people who come forward to say, “What I saw was wrong and should 

not happen in my name or in my community”.  It is about getting everybody to say, “No, that is not 

acceptable.  You cannot use language like that.  You cannot address that person in that way, whatever the 

issue is”.  We all just have to step up a bit on this. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  The party that is missing today will be the local authorities.  Later today I 

am attending Croydon’s Stronger Community Board and I am sure that many other Members are part of those 

partnership boards.  They will be playing an enormously important role in this.  Perhaps when we investigate 

this subject later at another time, it may well be that we will want to involve those.   

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Deputy Chair):  Good morning, Deputy Mayor. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  Good morning. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Deputy Chair):  Good morning, Deputy Commissioner.  Deputy Commissioner, you gave 

a very positive message there, but I have to say this.  I worked for a racial harassment monitoring group in the 

early 1980s in the East End and the message then was, “Report, report, report”, and 40 years on we are still 

having that. 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  I know. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Deputy Chair):  I am not taking anything away from your efforts, but that is why it is so 

important to publicise this figure of 400 arrests.  There is a direct correlation between people hesitating to 

Page 61



 

 

report or not reporting because they feel that nothing is going to be done or whatever.  We have moved a long 

way over the last 40 years in terms of building confidence and trust and so on, but in fact - what you just said 

- things are happening; things can be done and are being done.  There was a recent by-election last week in 

Forest Gate and a political canvasser was assaulted.  The police were very quick to arrive on the scene in 

Stratford and I think a couple of people have been arrested. 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Yes. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Deputy Chair):  On the role of councils, Deputy Mayor, last week, in your [monthly] 

work report, you met with London Councils and Councillor Lib Peck [Leader, Lambeth Council].  Again, 

councils are at the front line and there are a lot of powers that they have around housing, tenancy agreements 

and so on to deal with people who are convicted and certainly in terms of using their networks to spread the 

message around. 

 

If I can just move on, this is really a question to both of you and perhaps if I could start off with you, Deputy 

Mayor, what do you see as the main successes of the current Hate Crime Strategy?  Also, what areas do you 

believe require more attention in the future? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  The Hate Crime Strategy that was implemented 

under the previous administration has brought together many of the organisations that needed to come 

together and, of the recommendations, a lot of them have been implemented.  We would not have been in 

such a good place as we are now to activate the support mechanisms of getting the message out without that 

Hate Crime Strategy.  There is more to be done, such as online and some further development around third-

party reporting, but it is certainly something that we are building on. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Deputy Chair):  Any observations? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  I would support that.  We 

have spoken this morning about the MOPAC app and the work that is going on to look at how we do some 

online hate reporting.  It absolutely has to be the way forward.  Then I touched on the work with the CATCH 

project and things like that.  Those are real things that have happened.  We have to make sure that that is a 

consistent thing across London.  It is absolutely the way to do it.  It is supporting everyone.  There is a Hate 

Crime Awareness Week later in October 2016.  It is just pushing this consistently as a theme.  

 

You raised an interesting challenge - and it is at the heart of this - that 40 years ago you were having these 

same debates.  I am reassured that it has got better, from your own analysis, but it just highlights that this is 

absolutely something that we just cannot let up on.  We have to keep the momentum going all the time 

around it. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Deputy Chair):  Let me just come back to you, Deputy Mayor.  What can we expect to 

see in the forthcoming Police and Crime Plan in terms of hate crime prevention, reporting and enforcement? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  Hate crime will be a priority within the Police and 

Crime Plan and it was set out early on that it is going to be a priority, as I said last time, not just because of the 

referendum result and what has happened since then but because over the course of the last couple of years 

hate crime has been rising and has been a concern.  That concern has been really heightened post-referendum.  

In terms of the Police and Crime Plan, it will be about how we intensify the efforts to ensure that there are 

appropriate reporting mechanisms, that the partnerships are there and that we can really look at how we 

ensure that every part of the criminal justice system - from the police, the Crown Prosecution Service and the 

Page 62



 

 

courts to the prisons and places of custody - is playing its part in ensuring that hate crime is properly dealt with 

and that those who perpetrate hate crime understand the issues that they are creating. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM (Deputy Chair):  Thank you. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  Thank you for that.  It was worth taking time out to explore this very 

important subject.  Clearly, the Committee will continue to take a keen interest in that, partly, as you say, in 

examining the emerging Police and Crime Plan. 

 

The next set of questions is around, again, another very important subject, which is the policing budget.  We 

will be aware that last year the Government postponed plans to review the funding formula and there is an 

issue particularly around that.  Also, we need to be thinking about the budgetary pressures that you continue 

to be under with savings required of around £400 million, which could have been considerably more 

notwithstanding the change in the Chancellor’s direction last year.   

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Can we start off by asking Craig, probably, and Sophie where the Home Office has got 

to with the reform of the overall formula, which was postponed last year?  Do you know? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  As far as we are aware, there has been no further 

progress on looking at the funding formula.  If it were to be looked at again, we would expect to get some 

feedback on that and the beginning of that process in the autumn, but we have a new Home Secretary 

[Rt Hon. Amber Rudd MP] and we have a whole new ministerial team.  I do not know how much time they are 

going to have to look at this in terms of getting anything in place for the next financial year.  I cannot see that 

happening. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Presumably, you are working on the basis of things as they are rather than as they 

might be, unless or until -- 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  The Deputy Mayor is right.  

It is a new team almost completely in the Home Office that has gone in this week.  I am sure that there is quite 

a lot in the in-tray.  Police funding formulas are notoriously difficult, as those of you who have worked with 

local authorities around local authority funding formulas will know.  The Deputy Mayor is absolutely right. 

 

Our professional estimate is that, if you started now, you could do this only for 2018/19.  You could not do it 

for 2017/18.  Just physically, here we are in July 2016.  If you are going to consult on something, even on 

statutory guidelines, you would really struggle to get this done in time for a statement and an announcement 

for - let me get my years right - the 2017/18 year.  My suspicion would be that it has to be the 2018/19 

financial year at the earliest. 

 

Also, if we remember how it unravelled last time, it was some basic stuff in relation to the formula and the 

numbers.  It sounds basic.  There are only a dozen or 15 people in the country who actually understand just 

how complex these formulas are.  That is not a criticism of anyone involved.  It is incredibly complex when you 

start moving an indicator that is a bar of something or other one way or the other to understand what it does 

when you pull the handle on the end number.  A lot more people will be involved this time.  There will be a 

huge range of views.  The inequity of police funding certainly for all of my service has been a challenge.  I have 

worked in four police forces and on arrival they all said, “We are the ones who suffer as a result of the funding 

formula”.  It is a common thing across the piece but it is a really hard one to unpick and do in a very quick 

period of time.  Therefore, the earliest they will be able to do it is 2018/19. 

 

Page 63



 

 

Therefore, that raises issues about what 2017/18 looks like and colleagues - those who follow the funding 

announcements closely - will remember that there is a pot of money that gets divided up between policing in 

England and Wales and there is then a top-slice element.  That top-slice element, which is for transformation, 

gets bigger as the Comprehensive Spending Review (CSR) programme goes out.  We will get somewhere in the 

region of £700 million that sits in that top-slice space as we get towards the end of the CSR.  The debate that 

we will be having and certainly the debate that we have started is about how in the absence of a funding 

formula review that will be administered going forward. 

 

I spend quite a lot of time - as do colleagues - around with colleagues at the Home Office talking to them 

about the challenges with this and also, perhaps more importantly, saying, “Come on.  How can we roll our 

sleeves up with you and help around this?”  It is a complex area.  We have some of the skills and experience 

and we are happy to contribute. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Presumably, the same goes for the National and International Capital City grant 

(NICC) or would we have to rebid for it? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Yes.  We will have to rebid 

for it, but -- 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  You are not expecting to have the half that you do not get made up? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  I am always an optimist on 

these sorts of things, but -- 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  There is a triumph of experience over hope? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  We will have to rebid for the 

NICC money.  At the moment, I do not see in the way that the funding is divided at a macro level where the 

headroom is for the Home Office around that, but that is clearly the debate as we go forward.  Colleagues will 

be aware that we secure about half of what we actually spend to support the fact that London is a national and 

international capital city. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  One of the biggest issues, just to place it on the 

table, the funding formula aside - and, as Craig says, it is incredibly complicated and there is no indication yet 

of the timetable for the review or anything and we have new Ministers - is that London and the MPS are in a 

really challenging situation when it comes to budgets.  We just have to be really clear about that.  We can look 

at the individual elements like the NICC budget and how we were short-changed last time when we asked for 

£280 million and we got £173 million.  Even that was retrospective - we had already spent the money - 

because it was looking back.  Then there is the way that the grant has anyway been top-sliced for innovation 

and transformation. 

 

As far as I am concerned and the Mayor is concerned - and the Deputy Commissioner and the Commissioner - 

we are engaging and really trying to make the case for London to get its fair share.  Funding formula or not, 

we need our fair share of NICC.  We need our fair share of the innovation and transformation funding.  We 

need to make sure that that flows in the appropriate way and that London gets what it needs in order to 

provide a safe community and also to ensure that it has the funding to step up to the challenges it has as a 

capital city with a threat from counterterrorism and all of the other instances where policing is needed because 

we are the capital city. 

 

Page 64



 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Just following on from that, at the moment, if you are working on the new Police and 

Crime Plan and at the same time Craig is working on the budget, presumably you are working on the budget, 

too, and so you have two different tensions: all of the things you want to do to implement the Mayor’s policies 

and all of the things you have to do to make the books balance.  What areas are you looking at to try to 

protect in all of this and in what areas are you looking to try to make savings?  What is up for discussion? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  As you know, we have to look to - as the 

Commissioner the last time he was in front of the Assembly [London Assembly Plenary meeting, 6 July 2016] 

said - £390 million worth of savings.  That figure does fluctuate a little depending on how much the 

Government comes out with more efficiency savings and so there are some risks in that.  That is a large amount 

of money to come out of the budget on top of the £600 million that has already been taken out in the last 

four years. 

 

Of the police budget, 70% is staff.  It is policing and police staff.  For me, it is about, yes, making sure that 

there is transformation of services to ensure the savings flow, but it is about prioritisation within the staff and 

the policing that we have at the moment.  It is not a case of Craig and the Commissioner working on the 

budget and me working on the Police and Crime Plan.  These two things absolutely come together because, 

without them coming together, we can set our priorities but we will not have the organisation and the function 

to deliver them.  That is how it is working at the moment.  It is not ideal, but that is the way we are just 

because of the timings of elections and the timing for the Police and Crime Plan. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  I will come in, Andrew, because I know it is your subject but it is a really 

important point to think about.  There is a new mayoralty.  There are manifesto pledges.  You have talked 

about things like “real neighbourhood policing”, whatever that may or may not mean.  That intrinsically will put 

- which is Andrew’s point - a strain on the budget, but it is an unknowable because there has not been any 

clarity about what that particularly means.  Craig and you are both trying to balance a budget that has 

unknowables around it.  Would you like to comment on that? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  There will be no decisions on the budget or on 

the Police and Crime Plan based on unknowables.  The issue at the moment is working through the priorities 

that the Mayor and I have, the priorities, the threat level, the change in crime and the change in risk.  We have 

been talking about online crime and online hate crime.  That is a new risk that the police and communities 

have to face. 

 

In terms of setting a budget, it is not setting a budget on unknowables.  It is setting down clear priorities and 

working through how they can be prioritised and how we can balance the budget.  It is difficult and it is 

challenging.  I am confident that we will be able to do it, but there is no pretence that this is not a huge 

challenge for the MPS.  It is a big organisation and it has to get large savings out of it, but these things can 

work and they will work and we are moving towards that. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  You are committing extra police - I do not want to put words in your 

mouth, of course - or you are committing to change the function of, perhaps, local neighbourhoods and other 

parts of the MPS, which would have a budgetary pressure, without a shadow of a doubt, and so you would 

need to bring that budgetary pressure to your joint table as soon as possible.  Otherwise, you will not be able 

to work on the budget, will you? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  The conversations and the discussions that we 

are having at the moment are around prioritisation.  As I said, 70% of the police budget is on staff and policing 

and so the question is how we reprioritise that with real neighbourhood policing and how we do that 

Page 65



 

 

reprioritisation to ensure that the other aspects of crime and the other aspects of the work of the MPS is able 

not just to continue but also to improve.  Those are the questions and the discussions that we are having at 

the moment. 

 

There is no getting away from it.  It is a huge challenge.  To get £390 million out of a budget is a massive 

challenge.  I am confident that we are going to be able to do that. 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  I would just emphasise what 

the Deputy Mayor said.  Please, these are not two things going in parallel; they are absolutely joined.  You 

cannot do one without the other.  To give you some reassurance, I sat here four-odd years ago when we were 

saying, “It is £600 million”, and everyone said - not quite - “Last one out, turn the lights off”.  We have 

actually got better in many ways and have taken some money out and there are things we can do going 

forward. 

 

However, as the Deputy Mayor highlighted, it gets more difficult the further down we go through these 

processes.  In that range of £390 million to £400 million, we only need a change in the Autumn Statement that 

says that the projection is slightly different and all of a sudden 10% goes on that.  However, we are used to it, 

sadly.  That has happened quite a lot over the last few years and we build in these things at the end of the day 

that are choices.  I would love to say it is mine but it is not my budget.  We prepare this for the Mayor on 

behalf of London and we highlight the choices he can make.  There are always choices in there.  As we have 

discussed before, the further we go down a funnel of reducing funding, as many of you have faced with local 

authorities and those sorts of things, the choices just get more difficult. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Just going back to where I was, I want to come back to Safer Neighbourhood policing 

in a minute but, on the macro position, looking at the £400 million in round terms that you have to save, are 

you looking to frontload or backload it?  How are you going to phase trying to save that money? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Would you like me to answer 

that? 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  OK. 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  I can give you some ideas at 

the moment, but they are that; they have to go through approval.  We have always talked about our financial 

strategy being about trying to get our back-office costs to 15% of our gross revenue expenditure.  We have 

moved a long way on that, but we think that there is further we can go.  If we can do that, there is somewhere 

in the region of £250 million to £290 million, depending on what you include in that, that we could seek to 

target to find. 

 

In terms of how it falls out, to some extent that is dictated by the way the settlement comes.  A number of 

things with the settlement mean that 2018/19 is a particularly challenging year as we look forward.  There is 

about £200 million and something in the back office and then there is about £100 million of work that we are 

doing on what we call accelerated service reviews, which are looking at where we have money and where things 

are out of kilter with benchmarking and we can go to chase savings around them. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  I want to come on to the cost of the firearms officers now.  I sent Sophie an email last 

week that I had had from Camden.  We were originally told when Stephen Greenhalgh was Deputy Mayor for 

Policing and Crime that the firearms officers were being funded and that it would not have an impact on Safer 

Neighbourhood policing. 

Page 66



 

 

 

However, the email that I have had from Camden suggests rather differently.  Camden has to lose, apparently, 

one inspector and five sergeants, which are being taken from the Neighbourhood Policing budget, which 

means that they are now splitting one of the existing Safer Neighbourhood clusters into two and splitting it 

between the two, making three into two.  In Barnet, it is four into two.  It seems to me that that is having an 

impact on Safer Neighbourhood policing rather than not having an impact, which is what we were previously 

told. 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  You will remember that post 

the events in Paris we did a very quick piece of work that said that we needed to uplift our firearms capability 

and capacity.  I do not think anyone realistically thought we should do anything other than that when you 

looked at those terrible events and the need to do it.  We had to find 500 posts to be able to do that.  We had 

some money from central Government and we had money around a lot of the things that are non-recurring 

costs and some of the training costs.  You will see that quite clearly in our budget.  We had already identified 

supervisor posts across the organisation - supervisors, not frontline constables - that we were going to take 

out.  Yes, that is where they have fallen in Camden. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Also in Barnet, presumably.  We are losing 500 inspectors and sergeants across the 

piece? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Yes, 500 supervisors across 

the MPS. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  I am saying across the MPS, yes.  OK.  Do we know how many of each? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  I have the figures 

somewhere.  I can get them for you so that you have them on where they have come from. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  How much is that going to save? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  It will save the posts that get 

converted into constables and you save the difference between a constable and an inspector post.  That is a 

saving that you can put into the budget.  The important thing is, if you build a model of an organisation based 

on 32,000, that is what you have.  If you reprioritise demand, you have to say where it comes from. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Of the £34 million in national funding for firearms officers, how much did we actually 

get? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  I do not think I have the 

figure here.  We have previously given it.  Let me just have a look for you.  I do not have that figure.  I can get 

it very quickly for you.  I will get you that. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Going back to the 500 inspectors and sergeants, previously I have - and others have, 

too - asked you about whether or not we are going to be losing a rank or ranks out of the rank structure.  Is 

this a precursor of that? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  No.  If you remember, in the 

first round of looking for efficiencies and different ways of working, we took - and I will not get the figure 

exactly right - somewhere in the region of £50 million to £60 million out of management on-costs with fewer 

Page 67



 

 

chief officers, fewer people wearing the ranks I wear, right across the organisation, fewer chief 

superintendents.  The precursor work around removing the ranks is actually a national piece of work because 

we need some legislative change and so colleagues at the College of Policing are leading that piece of work.  

We think that there is the opportunity to do it.  I have to emphasise, though, that that would not be universally 

supported by everyone across the country but, certainly in the MPS, we think that we have too many ranks. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Going on to the supervision ratio of sergeants to constables, that is something that I 

have also asked about quite a lot.  I asked it as either a Plenary or a Mayor’s Question Time (MQT) written 

question and I had a very vague - to put it politely - answer about that.  I have had an email from the Barnet 

Chief Inspector that says: 

 

“There is an organisational intent to move towards a 1:10 supervision ratio as a general position.” 

 

Is that right? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  I can tell you exactly where 

we are.  Let me just find you the number.  I can do that.  I think Territorial Policing (TP) on average has 1:8 at 

the moment.  I cannot find it quickly enough for you. 

 

No, in terms of overall where we want to go, yes, we do want to push to 1:10 if we can in some places where 

that will be entirely appropriate, but in some areas it will not be.  To take a really good example, you will not 

see high supervision ratios in a custody environment because you have a regulated environment with one 

custody sergeant often to two or three people.  However, with highly effective teams, with people who are well 

trained and well briefed, 1:10 ought to be achievable.  It will not be in all parts of the organisation. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  I understand that.  Custody sergeants are statutory and have fewer people to 

supervise? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Yes. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Safer Neighbourhood Teams.  Are there going to be any occasions when sergeants are 

going to be supervising more than 10 constables? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  There will always be the odd 

one and sometimes on things like aid and other things, you cannot say, “If I go to 11, I stop working”.  It is 

about averages.  We can only look at it in levels of averages across the organisation.  In the same way, we are 

trying to look at one-to-one relationships - a chief superintendent is direct to a superintendent and some of 

those sorts of things - where we are saying, “Look, you can stretch these spans of command”.  It is perfectly 

doable if you have the right level of devolvement and leadership in place, if you train people in the right way 

and also if you have the right technology. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Then I have here that a sergeant will be allocated three wards; this is in Barnet.  The 

other thing they are going to do is take away initial investigations from the Safer Neighbourhood Teams and 

give them to the emergency response teams.  Is that going to be generic across the piece or is that a local 

thing? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  No.  I have spoken 

previously here about the work we are doing and piloting in Southwark around my investigation where we have 

moved to a different model.  One of the critiques that you and a number of colleagues have made is that if the 

Page 68



 

 

Safer Neighbourhood Teams are carrying - I do not know - 10 or 12 beat crimes each, they are not generally 

dedicated to a ward.  However, if we ring-fence them, we have to get to a point where that is manageable to 

do that and we can still do all the other work.  In an ideal world, that is where we will end up with more 

investigation-type work, but we have to pilot it and we have to make sure that people have the right training. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  This is a pilot, is it? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  I am not aware that they 

were doing it in Barnet, but certainly the pilot would be in Southwark. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Following on from that, the obvious question is whether the emergency response 

teams are going to be able to do the initial investigations and do the emergency response at the same time. 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Yes, but you get into all of 

the debates that are for the future for the Police and Crime Plan about how we free up the demand to do that. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  The last set of questions from me is about the budget.  Last week the Budget 

Monitoring Sub-Committee [ 12 July 2016] here heard that there has been an increase in claims against the 

police. 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Yes. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  What sort of claims and what sort of budget? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  I do not have the exact 

figures for you and I know that there was an action to do and a piece of work coming back to the Budget 

Monitoring Sub-Committee on the back of that.  There are some of the historic ones that have been well 

publicised in terms of the settlement of claims, but I do not have the exact numbers for you.  We will get those. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  You are setting an actual budget for it? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  We always have done. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  That is not new? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  We have always had a 

budget for claims, yes. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  How much are you budgeting for this time? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  I do not know the exact 

figure.  In our “legal services” budget line, there has always been a budget for claims, certainly as long as I 

have been here. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  There are different types of claims.  There are claims by police against the MPS when 

somebody falls over or whatever on a broken step, but these are claims by the public against the police? 

 

Page 69



 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Yes, there have always been 

those claims in the MPS budget.  There have always been employer liability claims in the MPS budget.  They 

have always been there. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  In relation to claims against the police from the public, has there been an increase in 

the number in the last year or two? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  I am not aware of an increase 

in number.  There are some big claims, but I have to be really careful for obvious reasons. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Yes.  I am more concerned about the -- 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Quantum? 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  -- quantum of the number of cases rather than the quantum of the actual claim.  If 

there is one serious case, it may cost you millions.  I am more concerned about whether we are seeing an 

upsurge in claims against the police for harassment or whatever due to having a higher proportion of less-

experienced officers on the beat? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  No, it is certainly not the 

latter. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  Certainly, there are some questions there that you will do some written 

answers to for Andrew -- 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Yes, of course. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  -- which is perfectly sensible.  The narrative around complaints, their 

nature and increases is something that this Committee can also take an interest in, almost separate from the 

budgetary aspect. 

 

Before we move on to the next section, there was a question.  We have been concerned about a particular 

borough cutting back on its closed-circuit television (CCTV).  I am writing a letter to [the City of] Westminster  

about that and we debated that the last time around.  Are there any other areas, Deputy Commissioner 

particularly, where you see that councils are facing budgetary pressures and will have to make cuts and savings 

that may also have some knock-on effects for the operations of your people in those boroughs? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Not at the moment.  The one 

other one that we have reported is around the London Borough of Bexley.  It closed its CCTV control room.  

We are also seeing that some boroughs - Hammersmith & Fulham, Kensington & Chelsea, Barnet and Enfield - 

are looking at joint resources, as many of you will know, around that and are looking at some quite innovative 

ways with CCTV. 

 

The reality is that as our colleagues in local authorities work through this - and we do have to remember here 

that proportionately it is a much larger cut taken by their core budgets than policing has taken - we will have 

to look at some of those areas that come up.  I am confident that our relationships with both London Councils 

and with particular officers at a borough level are such that when issues arise we can sit down and try to talk 

through a sensible way of doing this. 

 

Page 70



 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  Thank you.  On the subject of boroughs - and this is for the Deputy 

Mayor - as you will be aware, the London Crime Reduction Fund is the mechanism for funding for boroughs’ 

safety and they are entering the last year of a four-year settlement.  MOPAC is the conduit, shall we say, for 

that funding.  They need to be planning.  My boroughs have already spoken to me about the concern about 

uncertainty because they have to be thinking about their commissioning for the next financial year and we will 

be soon into the autumn.  Could you give us some details around where you are in your thinking about that 

fund? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  The London Crime Prevention Fund?  Absolutely.  

I completely understand that boroughs have always been worried about the uncertainty around the funding, 

certainly coming from where I have come from.  I hope and I intend to come out much earlier than the previous 

administration in terms of letting boroughs know what the parameters are with the funding and what the 

themes are for bidding for it. 

 

I am also looking at ensuring that it is not, as it was previously, just an annual bidding event with it coming up 

quite late and boroughs having to work very speedily in order to put the bids together, and ensuring that we 

can come out as early as possible and with a longer timeframe for the funding.  I do not know how far we can 

push that but I am really trying to do that because I am very aware that, especially with crime prevention 

funding, it takes time to get up and running and we need sustainable programmes and projects out there in 

the community. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  I get that completely.  In fairness to the previous administration, they did 

go out quite late but there was a long-term deal around it.  It was three or four years with annual reviews.  We 

will be looking at that very closely because, as I said, it is the commissioning partners of the boroughs talking 

to the boroughs and there is all of that uncertainty.  I will be looking forward to that.  

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  Before you move on from the budget, in terms of 

some of the questions that Andrew [Dismore AM] has been asking and in terms of some of the questions that 

are probably in all of your minds about budget setting, budget monitoring, progress on the budget, spends and 

overspends and all of those issues, it is important to point out that we are working from MOPAC and me and 

the MPS.  We are putting in and have already put in process much better mechanisms, working with the 

[MOPAC] Audit Panel around the [MOPAC-MPS] Oversight Board, to ensure that issues such as the claims and 

where there are pressures on the budget are picked up quickly - and they were, to be fair, last year around 

overtime - and that, where it can be, pressure can be brought on those elements of the budget that are 

overspending or are looking as if they are under pressure to make sure that they can be brought back under 

control.  Those mechanisms are in place.  I have regular meetings with the Deputy Commissioner and the 

Commissioner and we now have an Oversight Board doing that with the Audit Panel as well. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Sorry, I have just a couple of questions around outsourcing.  If I could ask first of all the 

Deputy Commissioner, how much do you think that outsourcing has contributed to the MPS achieving its 

savings? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  I do not think that any one 

thing has done it.  This has been part of the challenge with the transformation.  It has been a whole range of 

things.  One of the challenges that we face in London on the figures that we looked at is that the cost of 

people doing things in London as opposed to elsewhere is about 10% to 20%.  Like all of these things, there 

are choices.  We can probably save 10% on a budget line just by moving an activity.  You cannot move core 

policing and no one is seriously suggesting that, but we do have choices with other things.  It goes back to 

those earlier debates.  If we do not do that, we have to make other choices.  It is all, at the end of the day, 

Page 71



 

 

around choices.  That noting of competition has a place but it would be wrong for me and misleading if I said 

that it is the one solution.  The reality is that what drives cost efficiency is the ability to benchmark costs, look 

at where costs are out of kilter and then have some options to do something about it. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  If I could ask the Deputy Mayor, please, in the Mayor’s manifesto he says that he proposes 

to consider the impact and effectiveness of outsourcing.  What impact do you think that that may have on the 

MPS’s budget? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  Any contract that is outsourced has to have its 

effectiveness considered and its value for money considered.  Certainly, it is something that I have already 

done in terms of the work that I have already undertaken since taking up this post.  We need to look at that 

and make sure that any contract that has been outsourced has value for money, is bottom-line delivering what 

it said it will deliver and is not overspending or causing issues for the budget.  That is what we will continue to 

do. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Would all of those tests not have been made before the contracts were awarded? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  They should have been made and I am sure that 

they will have been made, but with contracts we need to always monitor them and ensure that what has been 

promised is being delivered.  In terms of any savings that are coming out, you would expect us, as any good 

local authority procurement would do, to look and make sure on a regular basis that what is meant to being 

delivered is being delivered and the value for money is being maintained. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Can I assume from that, then, that you are not ruling out outsourcing or further 

outsourcing for the MPS going forward? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  For me, what is important is that we ensure that 

we get value for money in everything we do.  Outsourcing will always be an option, but it is not necessarily the 

only route that we can go down.  The question will be who can do it better, who can maintain terms and 

conditions and who can get value for money. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Thank you. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  Thank you for that.  It is a subject, again, that we will be examining with 

the emerging Police and Crime Plan. 

 

The next subject we want to turn to is the closure of HMP Holloway.  In November 2015 the Government 

announced a new prison reform programme and part of that was the closure of Holloway, which has not been 

without some controversy.   

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  Deputy Commissioner, let me start with you.  Can you just share with us any 

concerns that the service had when this announcement was made about the closure of Holloway Prison? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Thank you.  For us, it offers 

an opportunity for London to reduce the number of women in prison but as long as the organisations 

delivering the services to women offenders are supported and developed.  We have been quite strong and we 

have spoken to a number of people in terms of saying that there do need to be services and provision for 

women in London.  The thrust of moving that away from a prison environment of course we support in terms 

Page 72



 

 

of the disproportionate impact of what happens.  However, from our point of view, there has to be the support 

and organisations available to offer that support back in. 

 

We have also been involved in quite a detailed debate about whether it is possible for any of that remaining 

site, given the geography in northeast London, and about whether we could retain the Holloway Visitors’ 

Centre as one of those areas to be a hub for providing services.  That is our level of involvement with it. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  I was building up to that but now that you have brought it up, the Prison Reform 

Trust - a good and great body - has received cross-party support and pan-London support.  Certainly, from 

discussions on what they are planning, they have my support and local councillors’ support and that of the 

Leader of Islington, I know, and they have spoken to the [Police] Commissioner.  Is what you have just said the 

feedback that you have given: that you would be supportive -- 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Yes.  We would be 

supportive, yes. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  -- of some sort of rehab centre or a -- 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Certainly, somewhere that 

is -- 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  -- women’s space where there could be therapeutic approaches given to the 

women?  Why did you say that?  Why do you support that? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  They have to be able to 

access services.  It is an absolute given that, as the approach across the prison estate changes, there have to be 

services there.  You will all know that Holloway as it currently exists not only provides services for people in 

prison but has other ways of providing services.  If we are serious about the rehabilitation of people, 

absolutely, we have to have the service to be able to do that.  We support that. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  A prison offering that sort of rehabilitation service based in London, you believe, 

then links in with the rehabilitation of offenders and therefore maybe reduced reoffending.  Is that what you 

are saying? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Yes.  I am not expert enough 

to know whether it should be the Prison Service offering those services.  It is an area of expertise that is not 

mine.  What I do know is that it needs services and it needs support.  Certainly, with that location and 

geography, it seems logical that we try to keep the centre that is there and support it. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  Can I, Jennette -- 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  In a minute, if you do not mind, Deputy Mayor, because I have some specific 

questions for you.  Let me just stay with the Deputy Commissioner for a while. 

 

Deputy Commissioner, it is just to be clear about the relationship between policing specifically and the criminal 

justice system.  We have had Holloway there now for 150 years.  Have you done any modelling in terms of how 

that closure is going to impact on, if you like, local borough policing? 

 

Page 73



 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  In fairness, with the 

exception of some very high-level specialisms, the prison does not cause particular borough challenges directly.  

There is some specialist work we do around prisons that we do in all prisons across London and the estate and, 

yes, there are some specialist posts in there.  The notion of rehabilitation and fewer women in custody, as we 

said to the Prison Reform Trust and others, is something that we would support.  The only thing that we would 

say in that space - and we have said it to the Prison Reform Trust and I will say it again here - is that there do 

need to be services that help to provide that for people.  It is not to close everything, move away and problem 

solved.  There have to be services that sit behind it.  As I said, it is not our level of expertise.  We work with 

colleagues in HMP Prison Service, the Community Rehabilitation Trust and the National Probation Service.  We 

work with colleagues at that end, but how those services are structured and what they look like is really an area 

of expertise for them. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  On a basic day-to-day level - and I do not have any clue about the answer here 

and I may be wrong - when someone has received their sentence, do your officers then take them to the prison 

or do prison officers come and get them? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  It is a contracted service that 

is provided.  If they are sentenced at a court, then it is a contracted service that is done.  We stopped doing 

that service probably about 15 years ago.  You will often see them coming out of Westminster Magistrates or 

elsewhere with their vans that then go to the prisons.  That transporting is done by people other than us. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  Great.  That brings that up to date because many people watching this might be, 

like me, 15 years behind the times. 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  I was not suggesting that.  

You know me well enough! 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  Yes.  You would think if you did not know that that maybe there would be more 

police time to taking the sentenced to prison further away than Holloway.  Thank you for that. 

 

Deputy Mayor, let me ask you some questions.  From your old world as head of police and crime in Hackney, 

did you get a sense that the rehabilitation work that was being done in Holloway impacted on your borough?  

If you like, we could look at that as a microcosm of how it impacted on the wider London piece. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  I would not be able to with any detail tell you 

how the rehabilitation work of Holloway Prison and the offenders who possibly went from Hackney to 

Holloway did impact on Hackney. 

 

But can I just say, in terms of what has happened at Holloway Prison, it is really important to put on record 

that -- 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  No, I just want some answers to some questions and so can I come back to you? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  I just wanted to answer in terms of the Prison 

Reform Trust -- 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  No, you will get a chance to tell me about that, but what I want to do is to just 

get some answers to some specific questions.  There is a feeling that the closure of Holloway is somehow going 

to impact on boroughs and I was just wanting to get a sense.  You were just a borough away from Holloway, 

Page 74



 

 

which has been called “London’s prison for London women”.  I just wanted to get a sense of whether in your 

past role you were aware of the work in rehabilitation and resettlement that was taking place in Holloway. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  Yes. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  You are saying no? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  No, what I am saying is that at the moment I do 

not have the detail of how the closure of Holloway is impacting on the Borough of Hackney. 

 

What I do know is that I think the closure of Holloway has been handled in such a quick way that it will have an 

impact on reoffending and rehabilitation because now the women who were going to Holloway - I know 

London is a big place but at least they were closer to home - are now being housed in three prisons in Surrey, 

which we know is not a good thing for women because they are going to be further away from their families.  

We also know from having spoken to staff at Holloway Prison - who are now out of jobs and are looking for 

work - that the rehabilitation services they were delivering are not easily delivered in Surrey because of the 

nature of the contracts that are happening.  The different types of commissioners do not have the contracts 

that then go to Surrey.  There is a whole world of complexity that means that the women who are being moved 

to Surrey are not going to be able to get the rehabilitative services and therapeutic services that they had 

previously. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  That is the question that I was going to say.  In terms of moving the prisoners 

from A to B, it is about the support system that currently exists. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  Yes, absolutely. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  You have just answered the question that I was going to put you: are you aware 

of any challenges in terms of this move that will impact on women and their families? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  Absolutely. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  Thank you for answering that question.  Can I put it to you as well that, again, 

the Prison Reform Trust is looking for support for there to be a Holloway women’s centre?  It is not historical, 

but now that there are developers onsite there is the opportunity to think about some sort of gain from that 

site.  Have you heard about that proposal and, if not, do you need more information about that? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  I certainly do know of the proposal from the 

Prison Reform Trust and it is something that we absolutely do support.  However, that is just one element of 

what needs to happen in terms of the services that women need in London and with the closure of Holloway.  

We need to be looking much further and wider in terms of what will come out of the closure of Holloway 

Prison.  A women’s centre such as the one that the Prison Reform Trust has proposed we support, but it is a 

much wider question: what else is needed and how else can we reinvest the probably considerable capital gains 

that are going to come from the sale of Holloway Prison? 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  If you had a proposal about a specific ask, which would be then part of the 

bigger whole, would you be prepared to look at it? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  I have already said that we do support it.  For me 

in the discussion that I wanted to have with the Ministers in the Ministry of Justice (MoJ) - but it was 

Page 75



 

 

cancelled yesterday because of the reshuffle - yes, it was about what else can happen on the site at Holloway 

but what else should be happening.  In terms of really what should be happening to women, 78% of women 

who were going to Holloway and who have prison sentences will have prison sentences of less than 12 months.  

They should be being dealt with in different ways such as women’s centres.  We need to be having and we are 

having those discussions in terms of devolving some of that responsibility down to MOPAC to ensure that 

much better services are there for women, especially those women who have sentences of less than three 

months. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  All right.  I was looking for the name of the new Parliamentary Under Secretary 

of State for Prisons, Probation, Rehabilitation and Sentencing.  It is not out there. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  I cannot remember. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  Do you have a name? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  I do not, sorry. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  No, I looked it up this morning.  They have not 

announced it.  I was talking about the Home Office. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  No, they have not.  From what I hear from you, as soon as that person is in post, 

you will be taking a number of issues to that meeting and central to that would be the issue of the 

rehabilitation of all prisoners or women prisoners in London. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  I did have a meeting in the diary with 

Caroline Dinenage MP [former Parliamentary Under-Secretary of State for Justice and Minister for Women, 

Equalities and Family Justice] yesterday to talk to her about the rehabilitation and the treatment of women 

offenders, and in particular the treatment of women offenders who have sentences of less than three months, 

and what can happen post-Holloway.  That was cancelled.  As soon as the new Minister is in post, I will 

absolutely be getting engaged with them.  That does not stop the discussions between officials from MOPAC 

and officials from the Ministry of Justice.  We are continuing to do that and that has happened over the last 

couple of months and the last couple of weeks, reshuffle or no reshuffle.   

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  Also linked to that will be those very vulnerable women with mental health 

illness, devoid of a home, because for the reoffenders Holloway will be their home.  There is a whole basket of 

things to cover, is there not?   

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  Yes. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  It is good to hear that you are waiting for a date to pursue these questions.  

Thank you. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  Thank you very much.  The Committee clearly would be interested in 

those meetings that you have, particularly around the care of women and women reoffending.  Previously 

MOPAC and the Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime took a keen interest in reoffending generally and in 

women in the penal system.  We will be very interested in how you take that forward and we will have that as a 

subject in the future. 

 

Page 76



 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  Chairman, can I just come back and say, on that note, MOPAC’s work on 

reoffending has focused on young people?  I have tried to find one initiative that focused on women in the last 

four years of MOPAC spend and I have not been able to find one.  That is just for the record.   

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  For the record, MOPAC is investing £500,000 in 

services for women and in women’s centres.  We are doing that.  I do not know why that is not visible.  We will 

certainly make sure it is visible.  The previous administration and the previous Deputy Mayor for Policing 

[Stephen Greenhalgh] and Crime had also started the process of having discussions about women offenders 

and devolving the responsibility down to MOPAC.  It is a question of visibility rather than it not happening. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  OK.  Thank you.  We should look at that. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  For the record, certainly the Deputy Mayor previously and MOPAC did 

take a keen interest in this subject.  As to whether there were any launched initiatives, we can look at that and 

come back.  It is a point well made.   

 

Moving on, the next subject, which is connected, is around healthcare of detainees in custody.  We have had a 

lot of work on this previously.  Caroline has led on this.  The MPS’s arrangements for custody have been a 

matter of concern in the last few years.  It has been a concern to this Committee.  We have some questions 

around it.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  This is something we have raised many times. 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  It has been discussed quite a 

few times. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Deputy Commissioner, could I start with you?  Could you give us an update on 

the number of custody nurses currently in the MPS?  Last we heard in March 2016, there was about a 70% 

vacancy rate.   

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  There are 41, which equates 

to 31 fulltime equivalents.  There are 10 new members of staff who have passed and are just going through 

vetting at the moment and there is another recruitment campaign underway that aims to finish for September 

2016. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  How many do you need to fully run the service? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Let me just find out.  I have 

it written down somewhere.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  We have here 198. 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  No, it is now less than that.  

The workforce level is 61 nurses.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Back in 2013 when we did a big report on this, it was 198 nurses. 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  The workforce target is for 

780 dedicated detention officers (DDOs) and 61 nurses.  Would it help if I shared this note with you? 

Page 77



 

 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Yes.  We need to get to the bottom of that because it sounds significantly 

lower than what it was previously. 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  We are trying to get the 

nurses into our 11 busiest suites providing 24/7 cover.  That will then allow us to do some work with the 

medical examiners.  You remember there is also a link with medical examiners and the twinning.  That is 

certainly the brief I have.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Are you still finding recruiting and retaining nurses to be a challenge, 

particularly with that three-year rule? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Yes, that was a challenge.  

We also had, you remember, the National Health Service (NHS) commissioning debate, which we have all lived 

through collectively, which started in about 2011 and was finally resolved in December 2015 when the Home 

Secretary made a decision not to transfer.  That created an atmosphere where, quite rightly, professionals 

would look and say, “I am not going there because I do not know where the job is going to be”.  The 

indications from the brief I have is that we have seen some more improvement in those numbers coming 

through but it is still a challenge.   

 

What has not gone away is the challenge that we have discussed many times.  In terms of nursing professionals 

this is quite a narrow field of specialism. It is trying to make sure people keep their accreditation and other 

things that allow their continuing professional development.  Some of the things that are being looked at at 

the moment are whether there is an opportunity for a wider pool of health professionals, including paramedics, 

and how, with our forensic healthcare services, we provide an integrated service that works with the 

community psychiatric nurses (CPNs) in the busiest suite through to the forensic medical examiners (FMEs) in 

other suites.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  You are looking at all of that to make sure you have the right cover? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  To make sure we have it 

right for the medium to long term.  That commissioning debate, in the nicest way, has probably taken two 

years of time from everyone involved, including colleagues in the NHS.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  I want to come on in more detail to that commissioning debate and where we 

go from there.  In custody you have centralised, have you not, rather than having local management? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Yes. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Has that had an impact on the medical services that are being provided? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  I do not think it has had an 

impact on the medical services.  What we have now are 32 custody suites that are 24/7 and nine overflow 

suites.  For obvious reasons, we look at placing the CPNs, the dedicated resource, in what we call our 11 

busiest suites across the MPS.  You can imagine where they are.   

 

What the centralising of that resource does is allow us to flex in terms of demand and manage some of those 

difficult things where, for example, - I will make it up - a custody sergeant goes off sick.  Do you take a 

sergeant off the response team, do you take a sergeant off the neighbourhood team or do you close the 

Page 78



 

 

custody unit because the neighbouring one is only a mile away and empty?  What centralisation allows you to 

do is to manage it as a central resource.   

 

If you remember, one of the reasons we moved to this was the inconsistency of standards.  What it has been 

able to do, hopefully, is to bring more consistency of standards around it.  It gives, in the seven geographic 

areas that it is split into, a chief inspector so that we can align policy.  That has been progress.   

 

One of the areas where we have had challenges over the last 12 months around custody has been around DDO 

numbers.  Being a DDO was also a way into becoming a police officer so we saw a pull-through of those.  We 

are out again recruiting for DDOs at the moment because we should have 780 and we have 626 across the 

estate.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  I really want to focus on the healthcare aspect of centralising custody.  Are you 

telling me that not all custody suites always have health provision? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  They will not have it sitting 

there waiting to go, no.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  It is there and if someone comes in, they would have to move from another 

suite over? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Ultimately, all the services 

still have it outside the door and so, if it is an absolute crisis, they are straight in the back of an ambulance and 

off to hospital. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Of course. 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  That is there.  All suites have 

FME cover.  On those numbers, they will not have a nurse there 24 hours a day covering them. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  The nurses are at the busiest centres all the time? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  At the busiest 11 centres, 

yes. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  OK.  What further improvements do you think need to be made in the 

healthcare provision? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Increasing the number of 

nurses.  We are doing the work around the CPNs.  One of the challenges that we have discussed before and 

you will be aware of is when we end up with shortages in the FME cover and the medical examiner has to 

effectively twin and cover two boroughs.  That is a challenge.  It happens about 6% of the time.  I do not know 

the exact figure.  That is one of the challenges in terms of getting that level of FME cover right.  That might 

involve more money. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Yes, OK.  When we spoke before, this was amber on the risk register or 

amber/red.  Where are you now?  Is it still amber?   

 

Page 79



 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  It is still amber on the risk 

register.  It is a real risk.  If you look over the last two or three years - this is from memory so it might not be 

exactly right - we have had two deaths in custody.  That is against a huge throughput of people.  We do not 

tend to deal with people unless they are in some sort of crisis and often the situations in which people come 

into a custody unit are also associated with violence or the use of violence.  We are dealing with high-risk 

people.  I would be surprised if custody and detention ever dropped off our radar.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  It is still a big concern for you? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Absolutely.  I think you are 

aware that we run a standing ‘learning the lessons’ group, a Gold Group as we would call it, around custody.  

Certainly from talking to colleagues in other places, it is clear that we have learnt a lot from that.  When 

something goes wrong, what do we do?  How do we improve that custody environment?  You will remember 

the work we did around CCTV in vans because the issue often was that point before people arrived in custody.  

It is getting that complete picture.  First, it allows you to make an assessment.  It also allows a health 

professional to look at it as well and say, “No, I see what you mean.  That person does not need to be here.  

They need to be at a hospital”.   

 

Sian Berry AM:  I know we have, in the wider NHS and nursing profession more generally, a crisis.  You have 

mentioned that the kinds of nurses you need in custody suites are quite specialised.  The Government is 

phasing out its training bursaries and converting them to loans and these are often used by people who already 

have a degree and already have a student loan.  That is the reasoning for the bursary in the first place, the 

reluctance of people to take on further loans.  Has the MPS considered specifically funding some training 

bursaries for these specialist nurses? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  We have not.  We could look 

at options.  I would be a bit unsure about us becoming a health trainer as well as provider, given - as your 

question indicates - the health market is very competitive at the moment.  I can only use personal experience, 

working with colleagues in the London Ambulance Service.  When you look at some of the challenges around 

creating internal markets, it is an area I would say is quite high-risk for us to tread into.  I absolutely accept 

your premise behind the question.  How do we increase the supply of professionals into the industry? 

 

Sian Berry AM:  What I was suggesting was more like a scholarship scheme than a training scheme. 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Yes, but the reality for us is 

we would probably put a lot of money upfront and lose them very quickly.  You could say there is a greater 

good argument and I absolutely get that, but this is quite a specialised space.  People generally are with us for 

an absolute maximum of 24 hours.  There is other health provision.  I would not want us to become a 

quasi-health service.   

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  Sorry about this, I should have done this earlier.  Before I ask my question, I 

declare that I am a patron of the UK Association of Forensic Nurses.   

 

Can I just come back to you, Deputy Commissioner, and challenge you on a statement you have made that one 

of the problems is this is an area of narrow specialism?  I can think of hundreds of areas of narrow specialism.  

That is not the issue.  The issue is whether the service will pay the appropriate grade for the skills that are 

needed.  From our work over the years, what we have been told time and time again in investigations is that 

the commissioning of the MPS or whoever is commissioning for you is not prepared because you do not have 

the money in the budget, to pay the substantial amount of money needed.  It is an issue because what we 

Page 80



 

 

would be talking about is needing grade G and F nurses rather than grade E, which is where your CPN grade 

comes in.  If you are not paying the appropriate rate, you are not going to attract high-quality nurses into this 

area.  Therefore, you are always going to be stuck with the short-term employment concerns that you have. 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  The narrow piece, if you 

remember - and last time we debated this we spoke about this in some detail - is that these colleagues step 

out of the health service system.  They are seen by the health service as distant.  I absolutely was not saying 

that they are narrow in terms of no one else having these specialisms.   

 

You remember one of the things last time was talking about continuing professional development.  It is exactly 

the same in the police service.  We talk about continuing professional development and we tend to see the 

police service.  If someone does something outside of the health service, the challenge and the feedback we 

had last time was that people were struggling to see how coming into this role could help their continuing 

professional development.   

 

On the grade of the post, I do not have a brief.  I bow to your expertise on that.  It is beyond my level of 

expertise.  I am happy to take that away if that is a constant thing, the grade of the post. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  Just a quick follow-up.  Are you aware that FMEs now because of the stretch 

they are experiencing - it is more than one FME per borough, as I have been told by one of the spokespeople 

from FMEs - sometimes find there are only two or three of them across London?  Because of that, they are 

then really in need of the appropriate level of nursing to be able to deliver adequate services.   

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  There are 86 FMEs working 

actively across London.  There are five currently going through their training with the College of Policing 

forensic physicians course and there are another 15 awaiting a further course that starts in November 2016.  

We have 95 on contract but 86 are actively working.   

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  Your team, if it were full, would be 95? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  There are 95 but 86 of them 

are active. 

 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM:  You have 95 vacancies? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  No, sorry.  There are 95 

people on our books, of which 86 are actively doing shifts, working and turning up.  We have another five 

because it is another area where we need to keep that throughput of physicians.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Let us move on to going forward.  You touched on the commissioning issue and 

how we all thought this was going to be transferred to the NHS, which seemed to me to be very logical.  It was 

what happened with the prison service.  Then suddenly the Home Secretary put a stop to this. 

 

What is happening now?  Perhaps I could ask the Deputy Mayor.  What is happening now for MOPAC going 

forward, in terms of a co-commissioning model for the custody suites?  What is the next step? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  In terms of co-commissioning, we absolutely 

think that is the right way forward and we want that to happen regardless of the decision by the Home 

Secretary.  That is where we are.  We will be working with colleagues and MOPAC will be working to ensure 

Page 81



 

 

that does happen.  It is through co-commissioning that we may to be able to get over some of the issues 

around integration, career progression possibly, and retention and recruitment as well.  That is where we are 

progressing towards and I hope we will be able to do that as quickly as we can. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  What is the timescale?  All this work has been going on, as the Deputy 

Commissioner has said, several years.  It was due to all take place in April this year.  Time is passing by.  We still 

have issues in terms of cover, getting the right nurses and the right level of nurse, as 

Jennette [Arnold OBE AM] has pointed out - it is a very good point - into the service.  We need this to happen 

quickly.  What sort of timescale are you working to? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  As quickly as we can to make sure we have this 

commissioning.  I cannot sit here and tell you it will be done by the next financial year.  We are doing it as 

quickly as we can.  We need to work together to do that co-commissioning.  It is complicated because the 

co-commissioning is complicated.  We will do that as fast as we can. 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  In the meantime, as I 

touched on, there are a number of short and medium-term plans.  When I talk about medium-term, in police 

terms that is six months.  You might say that is short but, in our language, it is medium-term.   

 

You remember one of the big potential advantages of the co-commissioning was access to medical records.  

We are looking at how we can do some of that information technology (IT) work ahead of any service provided 

by whomsoever, looking at those sorts of things.  Continuing the recruitment of both the custody nurses and 

the FMEs so that we have a service level there that can be offered to detainees in London.  I would not want to 

commit to a timescale because I know I would probably be guessing and co-commissioning is quite an art to 

get right.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  To be honest, I am not very happy with these answers.  This has been going on 

for so long.  This is something that has carried on from the previous administration, a commitment to look at 

how we can take this area forward.  It is on your risk register.  What decisions have been made so far in where 

you are going with this?  There must be some decision-making that has been actioned. 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  I have talked about all the 

stuff we are doing in the short term. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Yes, the IT and recruiting. 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  As the Deputy Mayor has 

indicated, the medium to long-term intention is to go to co-commissioning.  There is a paper with Territorial 

Policing’s [TP] Chief Officer Group next week that talks about the resources we would need to get to a 

position where we can do co-commissioning.  Then we can be far clearer about how quickly we can get an 

enhanced healthcare service in place.  We ought to be able to do that during the coming calendar year but I am 

not going to commit to a date before I have seen the detail behind it. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  You have that report and it is going through your internal processes.  Does it 

suggest potential providers or partners you could work with? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  It talks about the potential 

for co-commissioning.  It talks about how we commission this service with other people. 

 

Page 82



 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Do you think it could be ready for the next financial year? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Realistically, when we are in 

July now, that would be very tight.  In an ideal world, you could do it but I would not make that sort of 

promise.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  At the moment it is going to this TP Chief Officer Group.  It then from there 

would go -- 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  It would go to management 

board.  It has to be signed off because of the value of this.  It is a big project. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  MOPAC would sign off. 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  It would go to the Deputy 

Mayor for sign-off and then it is out.  Then it depends on how we approach the market. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Yes.  Are there different options in this paper? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  It will have a number of 

different options.  The reality is, as you know from other things we have discussed before, the size of anything 

we do in London means that almost certainly it is something that has to be competitive and very open.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Do you have anything else to add on this, Deputy Mayor? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  Before the Home Secretary took that decision 

not to change the way this is being commissioned, the timetable was to go out to procurement and to have it 

in place within the next financial year, 2017.  The question for me that I need to interrogate is whether 

co-commissioning, which is complicated, can happen in that timeframe.  I understand the risks involved - this 

is on the risk register - but I would also like to say that as the Deputy Commissioner has pointed out, it is not 

that nothing has happened to improve the service.  That is really important, that we do coverage, we do have 

custodial nurses there and the FMEs in place.  Yes, things could be improved.   

 

We also have liaison and diversion being put into custody suites, which is where mental health nurses are there 

to ensure that those people coming into custody, of which there are many, who have issues around mental 

health are picked up, do have their needs looked at and are referred to the appropriate place.  

Co-commissioning is something I hope we can do as quickly as possible but I would just like to give you some 

reassurance that it is not that nothing is happening in between, either. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  OK.  Thank you. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  We have obviously shown interest in the outcome of the options that the 

management board will be signing off, presumably after August 2016.  Perhaps we can revisit this at around 

that time. 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  We will come back to this. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  Perhaps with some haste around it, which was the point made by 

Caroline. 

Page 83



 

 

 

We will move on to the next subject, which is the MPS’s use of drones.  The last time you were here, Craig, you 

commented that the MPS is reviewing its pursuit options.  We know tragically there have been some incidents 

around officers in pursuit in London.  You have been looking at potentially the use of drones, specifically 

around pursuit and possibly around drive-by theft.     

 

Sian Berry AM:  What you told us last time was very brief.  There has been a public statement by the MPS 

since to say that the MPS is looking into using unmanned aerial vehicles, or drones, to tackle suspects using 

two-wheeled and four-wheeled vehicles.  It also says it is being discussed at a national level by the National 

Police Chiefs Council (NPCC) and the Centre for Applied Science and Technology (CAST), which is a division of 

the Home Office. 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Yes. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  I want to ask you what work has been done at a national and at MPS level so far to explore 

the use of drones as a police pursuit tactic for London. 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Should I cover beyond police 

pursuit tactics? 

 

Sian Berry AM:  I have further questions on that.  If your work is more general, then tell us. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  Give us the general, then. 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Let us talk about where we 

are and what you can currently do with a drone.  We live and work in some of the most restricted airspace in 

the country and so there are limits on what you can do in and above London with both air support units and 

the use of unmanned vehicles or drones.  They offer a number of potential advantages to us.  Both nationally 

and locally, we are looking at a range of things.   

 

We look at the ability of someone dealing with an incident to provide you what we would call situational 

awareness, ie the ability to see what it going on.  For those of you who have ever been into a special 

operations room when something is going on, you will have seen the advantage of technology like Heli-Tele, 

which is from the police helicopter.  As a commander, you can actually see the scenario in front of you.  It is a 

huge advantage.   

 

What a drone potentially can offer you is the ability to see that at a much more localised level.  We have talked 

here before about some of things around, let us say, counter-terrorism, sieges and those sorts of things.  The 

ability to have some situational awareness is absolutely vital.  They are also very useful in things like crime 

scenes, just simple things like being able to get a perspective of a crime scene and photographing, and you 

could use them in forensics and those sorts of things.   

 

Then in pursuits, pursuits is probably the most difficult area of the lot because where drones tend to work well 

at the moment is where you have some control over the space.  Clearly, if you were using them in a wide public 

space like in a pursuit it is more challenging, but theoretically it is possible.   

 

We cannot just start using them.  They are referred to people like CAST.  That is an acronym we probably have 

not used very much here before.  That is the way that any new piece of police equipment gets accredited and 

gets a stamp that can be officially used.  They will look at a variety of things from how robust they are all the 

Page 84



 

 

way through to the very real concerns around safety and those sorts of things.  Nothing gets rolled out until 

you say, “No, we can officially use this.  It is an approved tactic and we can do it”.   

 

It often happens with new technology in policing that 43 police forces all say, “This is a great idea.  Let’s start 

it yesterday”.  What we are trying to do through the NPCC is pull this together so we look at it in a variety of 

structured ways.  That is why we do the testing and evaluation.  There is then a separate arm of that work that 

you may come onto, which is the challenges drones face. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  OK.  I will follow that up then.  Excellent. 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  I have to leave something. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  In terms of the pursuit - you alluded to this - it occurs to me that a pursuit with a drone may 

not in fact be any safer than pursuit with a police vehicle if it is to do with the person pursued driving 

dangerously.  Have you considered that? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  You may be aware that at 

the moment, one of our tactical options with a pursuit is the helicopter.  The helicopter sits at a height at 

which hopefully the person fleeing the police cannot see it, and it gives you the awareness to forward-deploy 

units ahead.  It is feasible that a drone could fulfil a similar type of thing.  In the nicest way, if you imagine a 

picture of someone fleeing and a drone right up behind them, that is not how you would do any sort of 

pursuit.  What the potential for imagery from above gives you is that situational awareness, particularly in a 

pursuit, to forward-deploy other tactics to stop the vehicle.  There are some examples across the country 

where people do look up, see the police helicopter and abandon the pursuit. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  OK.  Thank you for that.  One question is about the Civil Aviation Authority (CAA) rules.  You 

indicated before that there were issues with airspace.  At the moment, the guidance they have for drones fitted 

with cameras is that they must not be flown within 50 metres of people, buildings or structures over congested 

areas or large gatherings.  I imagine that this would restrict your policing activities quite a lot.  Are you seeking 

to change that guidance? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Those are the public 

guidelines for all flight over London.  Even for our helicopters, we get some different permissions for use of 

helicopters over central London.  We would have to negotiate all of that with the CAA.  That is why you cannot 

just do this as a, “I will throw a drone up now and control it on my iPhone”, sort of thing.  You cannot do that.  

That is the law and that is the rule at the moment and so why the work is done nationally. 

 

I suspect part of the work they do will be down to even simple things like how many engines the drone has, its 

backup, its resilience, and whether it can be flown out of line-of-sight.  You will know those rules at the 

moment say you cannot fly a drone out of line of sight.  All of that has to be looked at as part of this work.  

We have done it with a number of things over the years.  You bring people together nationally to develop the 

guidelines, look at what is acceptable, look at what is possible and then look at the regulatory framework that 

is around it.  The regulatory framework will be different for central London, I suspect, than flying it over 

someone fleeing on the North Yorkshire moors or situational awareness in other parts of the country.  It will be 

something that is quite bespoke for us. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  When you get new guidelines for yourselves from the CAA, those will be published? 

 

Page 85



 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  I would think so, almost 

certainly. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  The current guidelines you have for helicopters, they are published as well? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  I assume they are.  I will find 

out for you. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Do you know when they will be published?  Do you have a timescale for that? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  No, I do not have a timescale 

for this.  The technology at the moment is really in the days of everyone can see the appetite but it is how far 

you go with it. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Obviously, this raises issues which we touched upon before about concerns people might 

have.  The Information Commissioner’s Office has put out some guidelines about drones in general and said 

that they “can be highly privacy intrusive because of the height they can operate at and the unique vantage 

point they afford”.  In contrast with helicopters, which can mainly look down, a drone can fly at a lower height 

and look across.  What they are getting at there is the potential for looking into people’s windows and things 

like that.  Campaigners for civil liberties are concerned that things are done correctly. 

 

What I wanted to check is whether you are going to be consulting with people about the privacy aspects and 

the data protection aspects?  I do not want to get into the detail of all of those today.  Will there be a 

consultation?  Will you be engaging with the public about the potential use of drones for surveillance and in 

crimes? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Our national league, yes, 

because we will do it once and we will do it nationally.  We would not do it as “Here is London”, “Now let’s go 

and negotiate as Devon and Cornwall”, “Let’s negotiate as Dyfed-Powys”, absolutely. 

 

I would just urge about the technology to not be quite so clear on that distinction of a drone getting better 

visibility than a helicopter.  You will be aware we have done a lot of work with helicopters and the intrusion 

they have.  The level of optics and the ability to see things from a helicopter are extraordinary. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  That is reassuring.  Thank you very much. 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  It is important.  Helicopters 

across London - be it the media, be it us - are not just looking out with visual eyesight or binoculars.  Modern 

cameras are incredibly effective in terms of those sorts of things.  I would be misleading you if I said, 

“Helicopters just to do this and drones all operate at a lower level”.  The technology - and that is one of the 

challenges going forward - can be interchangeable. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Yes, I appreciate that, but with a drone you can come down between buildings a lot further. 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  You can, providing you can 

get the rules to do that. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Yes, at the moment you would not be allowed to do that.  Moving on, I wanted to ask about 

potential other uses of drones other than surveillance and, again, this is a huge topic.  I will probably have 

Page 86



 

 

follow-up questions, but are you considering using drones for, for example, monitoring crowds during peaceful 

and non-peaceful gatherings? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  We absolutely could, yes. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  For crowd control? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  We could, yes, as I said, in 

exactly the same way as we do that now with a helicopter.  Anything that gives someone situational awareness 

and an ability to make informed decisions about what is going on is something we would look at and consider. 

 

Please do not assume that is a negative.  In many ways it is a positive because you can get an individual call in 

a large crowd and something comes over a radio channel that says, “There’s a problem here”.  If you have 

some situational awareness that gives you, “No, that is a tiny little problem.  We do not need to overreact to 

that.  In the scheme of this 250,000 people marching down Whitehall, this is nothing.  Move on”, they 

absolutely have their advantages.  If we are serious about being responsible for safety, I do not see why you 

would not think about how we might use that in the future. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  OK, thank you.  I will have more questions about that in the future.  I have one further 

question, then.  Presumably, the drones are equipped with cameras.  There is the potential to equip a drone 

with other things, potentially - just off the top of my head, really - tear gas, sonic weapons and other things 

for crowd control -- 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  We were doing so well. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  -- and also potentially by criminals as well with offensive weapons.  Are you looking at that 

side of things?  Is CAST looking at that side of things? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  There is a real risk around 

drones.  In the public area, we have talked most openly about the challenge drones is in relation to aviation 

and the challenge it faces to aviation.  We have been doing work both around drones and around lasers and 

their threat to civil aviation and so absolutely there is a reality.  I admire your imagination with that list.  To 

reassure you, we are not looking at anything on that sort of scale. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  It is a legitimate question. 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  It is absolutely a legitimate 

question. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  The drones you are looking at, basically, would be equipped with cameras and nothing else? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  That is the way we would 

look at it.  It is to give us a situational awareness of an incident that we cannot gain from street level. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  This is very topical because you have autonomous vehicles already on the ground, which are 

the bomb disposal robots.  We had the case in Dallas last week where a bomb disposal robot was used by the 

police and its explosive charge was used in an offensive way.  I wanted to just quickly ask: do we have that 

capability in London?  One concern that was raised in the United States of America  was the security of the link 

Page 87



 

 

between the operator and that autonomous vehicle in the potential for that vehicle to be deployed by criminals 

if they could hack into it. 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  We certainly have bomb 

disposal vehicles.  Sadly, the experience in the UK has been built up over many years from the situations in 

Ireland all the way through.  I am not aware - because it is military-grade technology - of any problems around 

hacking into the signal or using it in a different way.  I am certainly taking that away, but I have never heard 

that risk articulated in that way before. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  Yes, I would appreciate knowing when that was last reviewed, the age of some of our robots 

and some issues like that. 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Yes. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  OK, thank you. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  That use in Dallas certainly saved lives in the end, without extending the 

debate. 

 

Sian Berry AM:  It does raise a question. 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  I would not comment on 

something that I have only seen in the public domain.  I have no idea what other tactics were used and so it 

would be unfair for me to comment on our American colleagues. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  I would not expect you to.   

 

Kemi Badenoch AM:  Deputy Commissioner, you have covered in your answers some of the questions I was 

going to ask.  Specifically, I have two more around training and required legislation.  The CAA has a 

qualification for manning unmanned aerial vehicles.  In 2015, we were told that eight police officers had 

started the training and were expected to complete by December 2015.  Do you have an update on this? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  I do not have an update on 

where the training went.  If you were told that, I expect that that has happened.  I will find out for you. 

 

Kemi Badenoch AM:  One of the reasons why I am asking is that from your answers it sounds like you are not 

sure if the use of drones will become operational sometime soon.  In that case, you are training pilots assuming 

that you are anticipating that this will go ahead at some point in the near future. 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  We have to test the tactics.  

To even do the CAST tests, someone has to fly it and so that is why we train people.  To do the testing and to 

evaluate them, you have to train people to use them. 

 

Kemi Badenoch AM:  Is there any reason - anything just off the top of your head or any really significant 

challenge - why you think that would stop drones coming into operational use soon? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  I do not think so, but there is 

the issue about what they can come into use for.  The scenarios where you have a fixed, controlled space are 

far easier to imagine.  Take a siege, take a crime scene: you can see why you would use it in that sort of space 

Page 88



 

 

in that sort of scenario.  The more uncontrolled space is a far more challenging one and I expect would require 

far more work. 

 

Kemi Badenoch AM:  OK, thank you.  Then on legislation, previously Chief Inspector Nick Aldworth 

[Specialist Operations Command, MPS] has suggested that the Government needs to develop legislation 

around the criminal use of drones.  Is this still the view of the MPS and, if so, what work have you done to 

encourage the Government to introduce legislation? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  There is some legislation, the 

Civil Aviation Act legislation.  On the issue of drones - and I would include laser because they are the two 

threats - we look at most particularly in relation to aircraft.  I am comfortable there is some legislation, but 

there is some simple stuff that we have encouraged legislators to look at.  For example, at the moment per se a 

laser is not a prohibited article.  I could be stopped on the approaches to Heathrow, I could have a laser on me 

and it is not per se a prohibited article.  Should that be?  I am not saying it should, but we just need to make 

sure when we put officers and staff into these situations they have the appropriate powers. 

 

From the earlier question, you will know that the legislation is very clear on the use of drones.  I think you will 

be aware of some of the prosecutions we have had in London over the use of drones over public space.  The 

legislative framework is there and I suspect as it becomes more and more available, we will need to go further. 

 

Kemi Badenoch AM:  There is nothing that you think is urgent or imminent that we need to be addressing at 

the moment? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  There is nothing at the 

moment that, absolutely, we must move tomorrow on.  As this emerges and the technology becomes far more 

available and ubiquitous, then it is something we are going to need to come back to and look again at. 

 

Kemi Badenoch AM:  OK, thank you. 

 

Peter Whittle AM:  In your discussions about using drones, is there any opposition to them in the [Police] 

Force amongst discussions going on at the moment? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  No, I do not think so.  I 

would be misleading you if I said, “We have 32,000 officers.  Everyone is sitting talking about it”.  It is 

recognising that there is a potential piece of technology that will provide us yet another capability that we do 

not currently have all of the time and looking at the opportunities to do it.  I have not had anyone say to me, 

“Gosh, no, we must never do this.  Please do not go anywhere near it”. 

 

To reassure you, the same concerns about things like privacy, how you use them, how you control them, how 

reliable they are, whether you could fly them over crowded space all the time are the sorts of things we would 

look at.  There is absolutely no way colleagues would want to put something anywhere near the state where it 

was going operational that was remotely a danger or threat to the public. 

 

Peter Whittle AM:  Yes, but the road to hell is paved with good intentions, is it not, with something that 

seems great on paper?  I would put to you surely that at the very time that the police are trying to reconnect 

on a human level and we are talking all the time about neighbourhood policing and quite rightly, too, the idea 

that some anonymous thing can come over you at whatever height is an absolutely appalling one.  I am 

surprised that no one is actually on principle resisting it in the police. 

 

Page 89



 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  This is about those scenarios.  

Let us take last weekend hundreds of thousands of officers deployed across London on marches.  There will 

have been a helicopter there supporting it.  Could a drone replace that?  It is those sorts of scenarios.  I am not 

talking about the uncontrolled space all of the time. 

 

Peter Whittle AM:  Neither am I. 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  I get you asking, “Is this a 

slippery slope along the way?”  I absolutely do not think it is.  The reality is that this technology is out there, it 

exists and it is used. 

 

Peter Whittle AM:  Yes, I know it is out there and it exists like the nuclear bomb is out there and it exists.  It 

is not the point, in a way.  It seems to me that if you are trying to de-anonymise, if you like, the police and 

bring back more of a sense of being part of the community, it would be nice to know that there was some 

discussion within the force like, “Wait a minute.  What are the psychological results of these things in the 

end?”  The possibility of them being abused is countless. 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  With the Mayor’s Ethics 

Panel, the whole issue about things like the creation of a surveillance society and all of that are absolutely 

issues we discuss.  It came to one of the earlier questions that was, “Please, surely you can monitor all social 

media”.  No, we cannot.  If you want to give us the powers, I am sure someone will tell us we probably could 

but we do not do that. 

 

The reality for us is that we are very aware of getting that balance right.  When you talk about use of drones 

on an average day, the sort of instance we are talking about is less than 1% where it might be applicable as 

part of the tactic.  It might be applicable if you had a siege, a holdup or a crime scene where you needed an 

aerial photograph and that sort of work.  It is not going to be used every time or every day as the local area 

officer patrolling with a drone.  That is not the way this technology could work. 

 

Peter Whittle AM:  Could I then just suggest possibly if there seems to be such support in the police that at 

least you have very wide public consultations on this?  People have very strong views.  Thank you. 

 

Kemi Badenoch AM:  I do not share those particular concerns about drone usage.  I am interested in finding 

out if there are areas where it can save lives, especially police lives in terms of going into dangerous situations.  

We have seen even in Dallas, in Paris, in the Bataclan and other areas that the police are targeted.  Is there a 

potential to save and protect police lives by using drones? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  For situational awareness in 

a siege, it would be invaluable.  We hope we never get there but if we had a Bataclan-type scenario and had an 

ability to get some situational awareness that was only available by a UAV, I would be failing if I said that it is 

not an option we should try. 

 

Kemi Badenoch AM:  Thank you. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  That is a really good point.  You will gather that this is a fascinating 

subject. 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  It is. 

 

Page 90



 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  Opinions even amongst this Committee are split, which is always healthy. 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Chairman, if it is any 

consolation, I know after I mentioned it last time from the amount of social media and media responses I had 

that we generated something.  Going to your colleague’s point, it is part of starting the debate. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  Yes, that is right. 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  If we do not do that, 

technology will move faster than legislation and public discussion.  This is part of doing that. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  Thank you for that and it is an excellent subject that again we will no 

doubt revisit.  I would like to thank you both for attending today and for your contributions. 

 

It is an opportune time as we have Helen Bailey [Chief Operating Officer, MOPAC] here - yes, pay attention, 

Helen - and it is our last opportunity for this Committee to formally thank you, Helen, and personally to thank 

you for the support that you have given to this Committee and to me.  We all wish you well for your future 

career and hope that we can as a group and also personally keep in touch.  Again, thank you very much on 

behalf of the Committee. 

 

Helen Bailey (Chief Operating Officer, Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime):  Thank you, Chairman, 

and thank you to all of the Committee.  I appreciate that.  Thank you very much. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  Fantastic.  Thank you. 

 

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank



                                                                      

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Summary List of Actions  
 

Report to: Police and Crime Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 8 September 2016 
 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  

 

1.1 This report sets out for noting actions arising from previous meetings of the Committee. 

 

 

2. Recommendation 
 

2.1 That the Committee notes the ongoing and completed actions arising from previous 

meetings of the Committee, as listed in the report. 

 

 

Meeting of 19 July 2016 

 

Minute 
item 

Subject and action required Status Action by 
 

4. Question and Answer Session with the 

Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime and 

the Metropolitan Police Service (MPS) 

 

During the course of the discussion, the Deputy 

Mayor for Policing and Crime undertook to: 

 Provide the number of hate crimes in 

London reported to the British Transport 

Police and City of London Police since the 

European Union (EU) referendum; and 

 Notify the Committee of the outcome of 

MOPAC’s meetings regarding the closure of 

HMP Holloway. 

 

 

 

 

 

In progress 

 

 

 

 

Mayor’s Office for 

Policing and Crime 

(MOPAC) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Continued… 

 

Page 93

Agenda Item 4



 During the course of the discussion, the Deputy 

Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service 

(MPS) undertook to: 

 Provide a breakdown of the types of hate 

crime offences committed since the EU 

referendum, including: 

o By hate crime type; 

o A further breakdown of the broad racist 

and religious hate crime type if possible; 

and  

o By the number of offences taking place 

online or offline;  

 Provide data on what was known about 

alleged offenders of hate crime, for 

example age; 

 Confirm whether any profiling on 

perpetrators or alleged offenders had been 

undertaken by the MPS; 

 Provide a breakdown of from where the 

500 supervisory posts within the MPS were 

being lost; 

 Confirm how much the MPS received of the 

£34 million in national funding for firearms 

officers; 

 Provide a summary of the types of claims 

against the MPS and whether they had 

increased, and confirm the MPS budget for 

claims; 

In progress 

 

MPS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 Provide the current workforce target for 

custody nurses and confirm whether that 

had changed since 2013; 

 Inform the Committee as to whether the 

Civil Aviation Authority’s guidelines to the 

MPS for helicopter flights over London 

were published; 

 Inform the Committee when a risk 

assessment was last undertaken for the 

MPS’s bomb disposal vehicles and the age 

of the vehicles; and 

 Provide an update on the number of police 

officers who had been trained in using 

unmanned aerial vehicles (drones). 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Continued… 

 

Page 94



5. Police and Crime Committee Work 

Programme 

 

The Committee delegated authority to the 

Chairman, in consultation with party Group Lead 

Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM to 

agree arrangements for a site visit in September 

2016 to the Metropolitan Police Service’s 

Specialist Training Centre at Gravesend to 

observe public order training. 

 

In relation to urgent matters only, the 

Committee agreed a general delegation of 

authority in respect of the Committee’s powers 

and functions (apart from those that cannot 

under the Police Reform and Social 

Responsibility Act 2011 be delegated) to the 

Chairman of the Committee, in consultation with 

party Group Lead Members and Caroline 

Pidgeon MBE AM, from the close of the 

meeting until the next meeting of the 

Committee, scheduled for 8 September 2016. 

 

 

 

 

 

Completed.  See 

report at Agenda 

Item 5. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Chairman 

 

 

Meeting of 14 July 2016 

 

Minute 
item 

Subject and action required Status Action by 
 

6. Serious Youth Violence 

 

During the course of the discussion, Commander 

Ball (MPS) agreed to provide: 

 Clarification about the number and 

proportion of females committing serious 

youth violence; 

 A summary of the recent and current 

operations to tackle serious youth violence 

and how those operations were being 

evaluated; and 

 The impact of the MPS’s seizure of 

weapons relating to serious youth violence 

and sanction detection rates. 

 

 

 

In progress 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MPS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Continued… 

 

Page 95



 During the course of the discussion, Graham 

Robb (Youth Justice and Education Consultant) 

undertook to provide information about a victim 

of knife crime who was going through the 

restorative justice process. 

During the course of the discussion, John 

Poyton (Chief Executive, Redthread) undertook 

to provide the Committee with an estimate of 

how much it would cost to rollout Redthread’s 

Accident and Emergency violence intervention 

programme to all the hospitals in London that 

had an Accident and Emergency department. 

The Chairman wrote to the guests to seek their 
views in respect of the following: 

 How effective they considered that 

restorative justice was for more serious 

types of crime and how well that method 

was used in London; 

 The factors in childhood which might lead 

some young people to become perpetrators 

of serious youth violence and the reasons 

why other young people who may have 

experienced similar upbringings would not 

become involved in violence; and 

 The impact of alcohol on serious youth 

violence. 

 

In progress 

 

 

 

 

 

In progress 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Completed and in 

progress for 

receiving views. 

Graham Robb 

 

 

 

 

 

Redthread 

 The Committee delegated authority to the 

Chairman, in consultation with party Group Lead 

Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM to 

agree any output arising from the Committee’s 

discussion on serious youth violence. 

 

In progress Scrutiny Manager 

7. Police and Crime Committee Work 

Programme 

 

The Committee delegated authority to the 

Chairman, in consultation with the party Group 

Lead Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, 

to agree the scope for the Committee’s meeting 

on 8 September 2016 on violence against 

women and girls. 

 

 

 

 

Completed.  See 

reports at 

Agenda Items 5 

and 7. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 96



Meeting of 29 June 2016 

 

Minute 
item 

Subject and action required Status Action by 
 

7. Question and Answer Session with the 

Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime and 

the Metropolitan Police Service 

 

During the course of the discussion the Deputy 

Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service 

(MPS) undertook to: 

 Provide the retention period for CCTV on 

public transport in London; 

 Confirm the number of Detectives who had 

been moved from Borough Command Units 

to central operations; 

 Provide the number of recovered stolen 

mopeds in Camden and Islington during 

2016; 

 Provide the number of successful 

convictions for stolen mopeds in Camden 

and Islington during 2016;  

 Inform the Committee of whether any work 

had been undertaken between the MPS 

and the Driver and Vehicle Licensing 

Agency in terms of tracking people who 

register for moped licenses and then 

commit offences;  

 Inform the Committee about the process by 

which guidelines produced by the College 

of Policing Guidelines obtained a statutory 

basis; 

 Inform the Committee about the process by 

which frontline officers were updated and 

informed about the new College of Policing 

statutory guidance;  

 

 

 

 

 

In progress 

 

 

 

 

MPS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Continued… 

Page 97



 
 Confirm the dedicated resource for 

Operation Viper including the number of 

police officers involved and where those 

officers came from;  

 Provide the number of Section 60 Stop and 

Searches undertaken as a result of 

Operation Viper; and 

 Provide any MPS analysis that was available 

on the likely impact on crime detection and 

prosecution in the West End as a result of 

Westminster City Council’s decision to stop 

monitoring its CCTV cameras from 

1 September 2016. 

  

 During the course of the discussion, the Deputy 

Mayor for Policing and Crime undertook to 

inform the Committee of the support 

arrangements for Lord Toby Harris to assist him 

in undertaking his review to ensure London is as 

prepared as possible to respond to a major 

terrorist incident. 

Completed.  See 

letter attached at 

Appendix 1. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 The Committee delegated authority to the 

Chairman, in consultation with the party Group 

Lead Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, 

to write to Westminster City Council expressing 

the Committee’s concern at the City Council’s 

decision on 6 June 2016 to stop monitoring its 

CCTV cameras from September 2016. 

Completed.  See 

report at Agenda 

Item 5. 

 

 

 

 

Page 98



 

Meeting of 17 March 2016 

 

Minute 
item 

Subject and action required Status Action by 
 

5. 
Question and Answer Session – Review of 

the Police and Crime Plan 2013-16 

 

During the course of the discussion the 

Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service 

(MPS) undertook to provide: 

 Any analysis the MPS has on the reasons 

for the year-on-year increase in criminal 

damage; 

 Information about how comparable forces 

are using, or whether they continue to use 

“taken into consideration” in terms of 

sanction detections; 

 Details of where information on the 

number of foreign national offenders is 

published; 

 A summary of progress made by the MPS 

on the action points listed within the 

MOPAC Hate Crime Reduction Strategy; 

 An update on the investigation into the 

fire at the Somali Bravanese Welfare 

Association, Muswell Hill; and 

 Figures which indicate what the biggest 

impact on abstraction numbers are, for 

example providing local aid for specific 

MPS operations, or for London-wide 

Public Order operations. 

 

 

 

In progress 

 

 

 

MPS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 99



 

Meeting of 3 March 2016 

 

Minute 
item 

Subject and action required Status Action by 
 

5. 
 

Victims and Vulnerability 
 

During the discussion Detective Chief 

Superintendent Keith Niven QPM, MPS, 

undertook to provide Information on the 

number of frontline police officers who had 

been trained in understanding and recognising 

the signs of child sexual exploitation and the 

numbers of frontline officers who still needed to 

receive training. 
 

 

 

In progress 

 

 

MPS 

 

 

 

 

 During the course of the discussion, Samantha 

Cunningham, Head of Services - Integrated 

Offender Management, Programmes and 

Neighbourhoods, MOPAC, undertook to 

provide: 

 Information on whether the MPS’s 

Missing and Absent Diamond Group had 

been meeting; and 

 Details of the memorandum of 

understanding for London around police 

involvement in the health environment 

once it had been agreed.  
 

In progress MOPAC 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 During the course of the discussion, the 

representatives from the MPS undertook to 

provide: 

 An update on the MPS’s modelling for the 

framework for the transfer of 

commissioning and budgetary 

responsibility for custody healthcare 

services, including liaison and diversion 

and mental health services; and  

 Information about how long the Rapid 

Assessment Interface and Discharge 

(RAID) pilot would continue. 

 
 

In progress 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MPS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Continued …. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 100



 

Complaints about the Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime and the Deputy Mayor for Policing 

and Crime (DMPC) 

 

Subject and action required Status Action by 

 

Deadline, 

if 

applicable  

Complaints about the Mayor's 

Office for Policing and Crime and 

the Deputy Mayor for Policing and  

Crime (DMPC) 

   

The Committee agreed, inter alia, to 

delegate to the Monitoring Officer all of 

the powers and functions conferred on 

it by the Elected Local Policing Bodies 

(Complaints and Misconduct) 

Regulations, with the exception of the 

functions set out at Part 4 of the 

Regulations which may not be 

delegated; and guidance on the 

handling of complaints which requires 

the Monitoring Officer to report, on a 

regular basis, the summary details (such 

as can be reported in public), on the 

exercise of any and all of these 

functions to the Committee for 

monitoring purposes. 

 

No disclosures to report for 

the period  

8 July 2016 to 26 August 

2016.  

 

Monitoring 

Officer 

n/a 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Transparency Procedure    

The Committee agreed Members 

disclose to the Executive Director of 

Secretariat or his nominated 

representative (within 28 days of the 

contact) details of any significant 

contact with the MPS and/or MOPAC 

which they consider to be relevant to 

the work of the Committee; and such 

disclosures be reported to the next 

meeting of the Committee. 

 

No disclosures to report for 

the period  

8 July 2016 to 26 August 

2016.  

 

Executive 

Director of 

Secretariat 

n/a 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 101



List of appendices to this report:   

 

Appendix 1 – Letter from Sophie Linden, Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime, to the Chairman dated 

27 July 2016 regarding resources for Lord Toby Harris to support his review of London’s preparedness to 

respond to a major terrorist incident. 

 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer: Joanna Brown and Teresa Young, Senior Committee Officers  

Telephone: 020 7983 6559 

E-mail: joanna.brown@london.gov.uk; and teresa.young@london.gov.uk 

  

Page 102

mailto:teresa.young@london.gov.uk


Appendix 1

Page 103



This page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                                                                                                    

 

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 
 

 

Subject: Action Taken Under Delegated 
Authority  

 

Report to: Police and Crime Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat  
 

Date: 8 September 2016 
 

This report will be considered in public 
 
 
 

1. Summary  
 

1.1 This report outlines recent action taken by the Chairman of the Police and Crime Committee in 

accordance with the delegated authority granted to him by the Police and Crime Committee at its 

meetings on 29 June 2016, 14 July 2016 and 19 July 2016. 

 

 

2. Recommendation 
 
2.1 That the Committee notes the recent action taken by the Chairman of the Police and 

Crime Committee, Steve O’Connell AM, under delegated authority, in consultation with 

the party Group Lead Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, namely to: 

 

(a) Write to Westminster City Council expressing the Committee’s concern at the City 

Council’s decision to stop monitoring its CCTV cameras from September 2016, as 

set out in the letter attached at Appendix 1 to this report and to also note the 

letter to the Commissioner of Policing of the Metropolis, attached at Appendix 3 to 

this report; 

 

(b) Agree the scope for the Committee’s discussion on Violence Against Women and 

Girls at this meeting; and 

 

(c) Agree the arrangements for the Committee’s visit to the Metropolitan Police 

Services’ Specialist Training Centre at Gravesend to observe public order training 

on 16 September 2016. 
 

2.2 That the Committee notes the responses from Westminster City Council, and the 

Metropolitan Police Service to the Chairman’s letters regarding CCTV, attached at 

Appendices 2 and 4 respectively to this report. 

 
 

 

Page 105

Agenda Item 5



        

 

3. Background  
 

 CCTV 

3.1 During the Question and Answer Session with the Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime and the 

Metropolitan Police Service (MPS) at its meeting on 29 June 2016, the Committee discussed the 

issue of the Westminster City Council’s decision to decommission its CCTV cameras if a partner could 

not be found to monitor them.  The Committee was concerned that the decision could potentially 

lead to an adverse impact on the safety of Londoners and an increase in crime in the Westminster 

area. The Committee heard from the Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime and the Deputy 

Commissioner of the MPS that CCTV is an important tool in keeping Londoners safe and tackling 

crime. 

 

3.2 The Committee therefore agreed to delegate authority to the Chairman, in consultation with the 

party Group Lead Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, to write to Westminster City Council 

expressing the Committee’s concern at the City Council’s decision on 6 June 2016 to stop 

monitoring its CCTV cameras from 1 September 2016.   

 

3.3 Following that meeting, as part of the actions arising from the question and answer session, the 

Chairman also wrote to Sir Bernard Hogan-Howe QPM, Commissioner of Policing of the Metropolis 

about the matter. 

 

 Violence Against Women and Girls 

3.4 At its meeting on 14 July 2016, the Committee delegated authority to the Chairman in consultation 

with the party Group Lead Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, to agree the scope for the 

Committee’s discussion on Violence Against Women and Girls.  A report at Agenda Item 7 sets out 

more information about the question and answer session. 

 

 Site Visit 

3.5 At its meeting on 19 July 2016, the Committee delegated authority to the Chairman, in consultation 

with the party Group Lead Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, to agree arrangements for a site 

visit in September 2016 to the MPS’s Specialist Training Centre at Gravesend to observe public order 

training. 
 

 

4. Issues for Consideration 
 

 CCTV 

4.1 Following the meeting on 29 June 2016, the Chairman consulted party Group Lead Members and 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, about the letters to Westminster City Council and the Commissioner of 

Police of the Metropolis, which were sent on 19 July 2016 (attached at Appendices 1 and 3 

respectively to this report).   

 

4.2 Responses from the Leader of Westminster City Council and from the MPS are attached at 

Appendices 2 and 4 to this report. 

Page 106



        

 

 Violence Against Women and Girls 

4.3 A report at Agenda Item 7 gives more detail on the question and answer session on Violence 

Against Women. 

 

 Site Visit 

4.4 A site visit has now been arranged for 16 September 2016 at 9.30am to 1.30pm.  Members of the 

Police and Crime Committee will visit the MPS’s training site in Gravesend to observe how the MPS 

trains its officers in public order policing.   The visit will involve a presentation and discussion 

between officers and Assembly Members, as well as a live demonstration of the MPS’s tactics.   

 
 
5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in the report. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 

 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:  

 

Appendix 1 – Letter from the Chairman to Councillor Philippa Roe, Leader of Westminster City Council, 

dated 19 July 2016. 

 

Appendix 2 – Letter from Councillor Philippa Roe, Leader of Westminster City Council, dated 2 August 2016. 

 

Appendix 3 – Letter to Sir Bernard Hogan-Howe QPM, Commissioner of Policing of the Metropolis, dated 

19 July 2016. 

 

Appendix 4 – Letter from the Metropolitan Police Service, dated August 2016. 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  

List of Background Papers:  

Member Delegated Authority Forms 707, 714 and 721 

 

Contact Officer: Joanna Brown and Teresa Young, Senior Committee Officers 

Telephone: 020 7983 6559 

E-mail: joanna.brown@london.gov.uk; and teresa.young@london.gov.uk 

 

 

Page 107

mailto:joanna.brown@london.gov.uk
mailto:teresa.young@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1

Page 109



Page 110



Appendix 2

Page 111



Page 112



Appendix 3

Page 113



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 4

Page 115



This page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 
 

 

Subject: Response to Crime on Public 
Transport 

 
Report to: Police and Crime Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 8 September 2016 
 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 

 

1. Summary  

 

1.1 The Committee is asked to note the response from the Mayor, which is also on behalf of 

Transport for London (TfL), to its report, Crime on Public Transport. 

 

 

2. Recommendation 
 

2.1 That the Committee notes the response from the Mayor and Transport for London to 

its report, Crime on Public Transport, as attached at Appendix 1 to this report. 

 

 

3. Background   
 

3.1 The Committee’s report, Crime on Public Transport was published in March 2016.  The report 

is available from the following area of the GLA’s website: here1  

 

3.2 The recommendations from the report were as follows: 

 

Recommendation 1 

Robust monitoring of the increase in reports of sexual offences is essential to understand the 

nature and true extent of unwanted sexual behaviour on London’s public transport network.  

The level of under-reporting should come down if the increase is due to confidence to report 

rather that an actual increase in crime.  TfL must establish a clear baseline to ensure 

transparency in progress made. 

 

                                                 
1 https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/crime-public-transport  

  
 

Page 117

Agenda Item 6

https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/crime-public-transport
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/crime-public-transport


        

Recommendation 2 

The new Mayor should review the outcomes from Project Guardian.  The new Mayor should 

also explore how to further increase public awareness and confidence to report sexual offences 

on public transport, maximising on the communication techniques that are available. 

 

Recommendation 3 

There are lessons to be learned from Project Guardian that could be applied to other crimes 

across the network.  The new Mayor should bring Transport for London, the Metropolitan 

Police Service, British Transport Police and City of London Police together to develop a new 

strategy for enabling travellers to report all crimes and anti-social behaviour more easily on 

public transport in London. 

 

Recommendation 4 

Increased enforcement powers should be given to TfL and the police to ensure stronger 

sanctions for touting, including seizure of vehicles.  The new Mayor needs to lobby the 

Ministry of Justice on this. 

 

Recommendation 5 

The new Mayor must ensure strong partnership structures to constantly monitor, review and 

learn from the Night Tube, and to enable a swift response, to any emerging police and crime 

concerns, including fear of crime.  TfL should publish a crime assessment report in three, six 

and 12 months following the commencement of the Night Tube. 

 

  

4. Issues for Consideration 
 

4.1 The response from the Mayor, which is also on behalf of TfL, is attached at Appendix 1 for 

the Committee to note.  

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in the report. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 

 

 

List of appendices to this report: 

 

Appendix 1: Response from the Mayor and TfL dated 26 July 2016 to Crime on Public Transport. 

Page 118



        

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

  

Contact Officer: Joanna Brown and Teresa Young, Senior Committee Officers 

Telephone: 020 7983 6559 

E-mail: joanna.brown@london.gov.uk and teresa.young@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 119

mailto:joanna.brown@london.gov.uk
mailto:teresa.young@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 

Page 121



Page 122



Page 123



Page 124



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Violence against Women and Girls 
 

Report to: Police and Crime Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 
 

Date: 8 September 2016 

 
This report will be considered in public 

 

 
 
1. Summary  

 

1.1 This report provides background information to the Police and Crime Committee for its meeting with 

invited guests to discuss violence against women and girls (VAWG).   

 

 

2. Recommendation 

 

2.1 That the Committee notes the report as background to putting questions to invited 

guests on violence against women and girls, and notes the discussion.  

 

 
3. Background  

 

3.1 This meeting will be used to consider violence against women and girls in London. It will explore the 

nature and extent of violence against women and girls in London, the ways in which partners are 

working together to prevent it, support for victims, and what the new Mayor, in his capacity as 

occupant of the Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime (MOPAC), can do to help tackle and prevent 

it. 

 

3.2 Violence against women and girls is an umbrella term for a range of crimes. It includes: domestic 

violence; rape; sexual offences; stalking; human trafficking for sexual exploitation and prostitution. It 

also includes harmful practices, such as forced marriage, so called ‘honour’ crimes and female genital 

mutilation (FGM). 
 

3.3 In London, reports of violence against women and girls are rising. In the year to June 2016, there 

were over 150,000 domestic abuse incidents, with over 5,800 more notifiable offences compared to 

June 2015; over 16,000 sexual offences; and more than 5,000 rapes. Rape increased by almost 

11 per cent; other sexual offences by 8 per cent and notifiable domestic abuse by 8.5 per cent in the 

year to June 2016 when compared to the year to June 2015.1 

 

                                                 
1
 MOPAC domestic and sexual violence dashboard  

Page 125

Agenda Item 7

https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/mayors-office-policing-and-crime-mopac/data-and-research/crime%20/domestic-and-sexual


        

3.4 The previous Mayor launched a revised Pan-London Strategy on Violence against Women and Girls2 

in November 2013. The Strategy runs through to 2017. The new Mayor has made a commitment to 

continue the current strategy and make work in this area “stronger and better”.3 The strategy has 

five key objectives: 

 London taking a global lead to prevent and eliminate VAWG; 

 Improving access to support; 

 Addressing health, social and economic consequences of violence; 

 Protecting women and girls at risk; and 

 Getting tougher with perpetrators. 

 

 

4. Issues for Consideration 

 

4.1 The meeting will be used to consider the nature and extent of violence against women and girls in 

London.  This includes: 

 Sexual offences and rape; 

 Domestic violence; and 

 Harmful practices. 

 

4.2 Invited guests include: 

 Sarah Green, Co-Director, End Violence Against Women Coalition (EVAW) and co-Chair of 

MOPAC’s VAWG Voluntary and Community Sector (VCS) Expert Reference Group; 

 Marai Larasi MBE, Executive Director, Imkaan; 

 Yvonne Traynor, Chief Executive, Rape Crisis South London; and 

 Ruth Aitken, Refuge. 

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

5.2 Officers confirm that the scope for this thematic session falls within the Committee’s terms of 

reference.  

 

 
6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 

 

 

                                                 
2 https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/gla_migrate_files_destination/Pan-
London%20Strategy%20on%20Violence%20against%20Women%20and%20Girls%202013_17_1.pdf 
3
 Sadiq Khan, Letter to EVAW and Imkaan, 22 April 2016  

Page 126

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/gla_migrate_files_destination/Pan-London%20Strategy%20on%20Violence%20against%20Women%20and%20Girls%202013_17_1.pdf
http://www.endviolenceagainstwomen.org.uk/data/files/Sadiq_Khan_response_to_EVAW_Imkaan_April_2016.pdf


        

 

 

List of appendices to this report:  None 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer: Janette Roker, Scrutiny Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 6562 

E-mail: janette.roker@london.gov.uk  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

Page 127

mailto:janette.roker@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                                    

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Police and Crime Committee Work 
Programme  

 

Report to: Police and Crime Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 8 September 2016 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  

 

1.1 This report sets out a proposed work programme for the Police and Crime Committee. 

 

 

2. Recommendations 
 

2.1  That the Committee agrees its updated work programme as set out in paragraphs 4.2 to 

4.4 of this report.  

 
 

3. Background  
 
3.1 The Committee’s work programme is intended to enable the Committee to effectively fulfil its roles 

of holding the Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime (MOPAC) to account and investigating issues 

of importance to policing and crime reduction in London.  The Committee’s work involves a range of 

activities, including formal meetings with MOPAC, the Metropolitan Police Service (the MPS) and 

other stakeholders, site visits, written consultations and round table meetings. 

 

3.2 The Committee will usually meet twice a month.  One of the monthly meetings is usually to hold a 

question and answer (Q&A) session with the Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime.  The 

Commissioner of the MPS has been invited to these meetings.  The Committee will primarily use 

Q&A meetings to investigate topical issues and review MPS performance, including consideration of 

MOPAC’s approach to holding the MPS to account.  

 

3.3 The Committee’s other monthly meeting is used to consider a particular topic or aspect of policing 

and crime in greater detail.  These investigations will be conducted either by the full Committee or 

working groups.  Working groups will have delegated authority to prepare reports on the 

Committee’s behalf in consultation with group leads.  Full reports will be approved and published by 

the full Committee.  

 

 

 

Page 129

Agenda Item 8



        

 

4. Issues for Consideration  
  

4.1 The work programme has been designed to proactively examine issues of interest but also allows for 

flexibility to respond to topical issues and for the Committee to react to MOPAC’s work programme. 

Topics will be added to the timetable for Q&A meetings as they arise.  

 

4.2 The Committee agreed its initial priorities for tis work programme at its meeting on 29 June 2016.  

Since that meeting, the work programme has been updated in order that the Committee has an 

opportunity to devote two thematic meetings to an examination of the Mayor’s draft Police and 

Crime Plan.  The proposed updated work programme is set out below: 

 

August No meetings 

September Thursday 8 September 2016 

Thematic meeting – violence 

against women and girls 

Thursday 22 September 2016 

Q&A meeting 

October Thursday 6 October 2016 

Thematic meeting – counter 

terrorism and preventing 

extremism 

Thursday 20 October 2016 

Q&A meeting 

November Thursday 3 November 2016 

Thematic meeting – 

examination of the Mayor’s 

draft Police and Crime Plan 

Thursday 17 November 2016 

Q&A meeting 

December Thursday 1 December 2016  

Thematic meeting – 

examination of the Mayor’s 

draft Police and Crime Plan 

Thursday 15 December 2016 

Q&A meeting 

 

4.3 In the autumn, the Committee aims to examine the findings of the Mayor’s review of the capital’s 

ability to cope with the threat of major terrorism incidents.  The review, being conducted by Lord 

Harris of Haringey, is expected to hear from the MPS and other emergency services, TfL, local 

government, and the Port of London Authority as well as others. The review is expected to be 

completed towards the end of summer. The Committee will also follow up on its investigation into 

preventing extremism, which made recommendations to MOPAC about the contribution it can make 

to issues around joined up working, transparency and online radicalisation.   

 

4.4 Site visits are an important part of the Committee’s work to assist Members in gaining a deeper 

understanding of policing issues.  The Committee will undertake a site visit on 16 September 2016 to 

the MPS’s Specialist Training Centre at Gravesend to observe training on public order policing. 

Following that, Members will raise any questions with the MPS and MOPAC.   

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

Page 130



        

 

6. Financial Implications 

 

6.1 There are no financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:  None 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  

List of Background Papers:  None 

 

Contact Officer: Becky Short, Scrutiny Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 4760 

E-mail: becky.short@london.gov.uk  

 

 

  

 

Page 131

mailto:becky.short@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interests
	3 Minutes
	Minutes - Appendix - transcript 14-07-16
	Minutes - 19 July 2016
	Minutes - Appendix 1 - Transcript 19-07-16

	4 Summary List of Actions
	Appendix 1 - Letter from Sophie Linden re support for Lord Toby Harris

	5 Action Taken Under Delegated Authority
	Appendix 1 - CCTV letter to WCC
	Appendix 2 - Response from Leader of Westminster Council re CCTV provision
	Appendix 3 -  CCTV letter to MPS
	Appendix 4 - Response from MPS re CCTV at borough level

	6 Response to the Committee's Report, Crime on Public Transport
	Appendix 1 - Letter from Mayor re PCC scrutiny of crime on public transport

	7 Violence Against Women and Girls
	8 Police and Crime Committee Work Programme



